AGENDA
TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
REGULAR TOWN COUNCIL MEETING
Tuesday, February 9, 2020, at 5:30 P.m.
Morehead City Municipal Building
202 South 8th Street
1. REGULAR MEETING CALL TO ORDER, INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:
2. RECOGNITION/PRESENTATIONS:
2.A. Presentation Of Resolution 2021-R-05 Honoring Deputy Chief William C. "Chris" Judy
Upon His Retirement
Documents:
2021-R-05 APPRECIATION TO CHRI JUDY.PDF
2.B. Presentation Of The Annual Audit And Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR)
For The Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020
Documents:
FYE 063020 TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL
FINANCIAL REPORT.PDF
3. ADOPTION OF CONSENT AGENDA:

Items are presented under a consent agenda to expedite the efficiency of
the meeting. Such items are those that are routine or have been
reviewed previously and do not require further discussion. Council may, if
they think necessary, remove any item(s) from the consent agenda to
discuss separately.
3.A. Approve The Minutes Of The January 5, 2021 Town Council Workshop Meeting As
Presented
Documents:
DRAFT 01.05.2021 WORKSHOP MEETING.PDF
3.B. Approve The Minutes Of The January 12, 2021 Regular Town Council Meeting As
Presented
Documents:
DRAFT 01.12.2021.PDF

3.B. Approve The Minutes Of The January 12, 2021 Regular Town Council Meeting As
Presented
Documents:
DRAFT 01.12.2021.PDF
3.C. Accept The Finance Director Report And Tax Collector's Report
Documents:
FINANCE DIRECTORS FEBRUARY REPORT.PDF
TAX COLLECTORS FEBRUARY REPORT.PDF
3.D. Accept Notice Of Tax Overpayments In The Amount Of $4,392.34 For The Month Of
January 2021.
Documents:
NOTICE OF JANUARY TAX OVERPAYMENTS.PDF
3.E. Approve The Requests For Refunds Of Overpayment Of Ad Valorem Taxes In The
Amount Of $30.27 For January 2021.
Documents:
JANUARY AD VALOREM TAX REFUNDS.PDF
3.F. Adopt Budget Ordinance Amendment 2021-03 And Governmental Capital Project
Ordinance Amendment 2021-04 As Presented
Documents:
BUDGET AMENDMENT ORDINANCE 2021-03.PDF
GOVERNMENTAL CAPITAL PROJECT BUDGET ORDINANCE 2021-04.PDF
3.G. Accept The Mid-Year Financial Review As Presented At The February 2, 2021
Workshop Meeting.
Documents:
SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 070120 TO 123120 AO 013121
(ANNUAL CAPITAL).PDF
3.H. Adopt Resolution 2021-R-05 Honoring Deputy Fire Chief Chris Judy Upon His
Retirement February 1, 2021
Documents:
RETIREMENT PRESENTATION NARRATIVE.PDF
2021-R-05 APPRECIATION TO CHRI JUDY.PDF
4. OLD BUSINESS
4.A. Consider Adoption Of Ordinance 2021-O-08 Ordering The Demolition Of 1308 Arendell
Street
Documents:
ORDINANCE 2021-O-08 NARRATIVE.PDF
2021-O-08 DEMOLITION ORDER FOR 1308 ARENDELL STREET.PDF
4.B. Consider Adoption Of Ordinance 2021-O-09 Ordering The Demolition Of 1104 Avery

Documents:
ORDINANCE 2021-O-08 NARRATIVE.PDF
2021-O-08 DEMOLITION ORDER FOR 1308 ARENDELL STREET.PDF
4.B. Consider Adoption Of Ordinance 2021-O-09 Ordering The Demolition Of 1104 Avery
Street
Documents:
ORDINANCE 2021-O-09 NARRATIVE.PDF
2021-O-09 DEMOLITION ORDER FOR1104 AVERY STREET.PDF
4.C. Consider Adoption Of Ordinance 2021-O-10 Ordering The Demolition Of 2207 Fisher
Street
Documents:
ORDINANCE 2021-O-10 NARRATIVE.PDF
2021-O-10 DEMOLITION ORDER FOR 2207 FISHER STREET.PDF
5. NEW BUSINESS:
5.A. Consider Approval Of Request To Waive Tax Penalties
Documents:
TAX PENALTY WAIVER REQUEST NARRATIVE.PDF
TAX PENALTY WAIVER ORDER.PDF
CITIZEN REQUEST WAIVER LATE LISTING PENALTIES TAX YEARS 2015
TO 2020 (BOARDWALK).PDF
G.S. 105-312.PDF
5.B. Consider Letter Of Support For Grant Application To DOT For New Crosswalks And
Pedestrian Crossing Project At 35th And Arendell/Bridges Streets In Partnership With
Carteret Community College And Carteret Health Care
Documents:
CROSSWALK GRANT SUPPORT NARRATIVE.PDF
CROSSWALK GRANT SUPPORT LETTER.PDF
US70 XWALK AT 35TH CONCEPT PLAN.PDF
US70 XWALK AT 35TH ESTIMATE.PDF
5.C. Adopt Resolution 2021-R-06 Authorizing Riverfront Sports And Entertainment To
Conduct Two (2) Firework Displays Between The Dates Of May 27, 2021 And August 1,
2021
City Attorney Derek Taylor has reviewed and perfected the resolution language to best
protect the City. As requested, insurance sufficiency assurances are attached.
Documents:
RIVERFRONT REQUEST NARRATIVE.PDF
2021-R-06 RIVERFRONT ENTERTAINMENT FIREWORKS.PDF
RIVERFRONT INSURANCE COVERAGE.PDF
MOREHEAD CITY MARLINS SITE MAP.PDF
MOREHEAD MARLINS FIREWORKS REQUEST.PDF
5.D. Consider Adoption Of Ordinance 2021-O-07 Amending Section 4 Animals Of The Code
Of Ordinances To Provide For The Implementation And Enforcement Of Trap,
Spay/Neuter, Return Programs (TRN)
Documents:

5.D. Consider Adoption Of Ordinance 2021-O-07 Amending Section 4 Animals Of The Code
Of Ordinances To Provide For The Implementation And Enforcement Of Trap,
Spay/Neuter, Return Programs (TRN)
Documents:
ORDINANCE 2021-O-07 NARRATIVE.PDF
2021-O-07 AMENDING SECTION 4 ANIMALS OF THE CODE TO PROVIDE
FOR TNR PROGRAMS.PDF
ANIMAL CONTROL PROPOSED BUDGET.PDF
FERAL CAT HANDOUT.PDF
6. CITY MANAGER'S REPORT:
Documents:
AJK REQUEST TO EXTEND EXAMINATION DEADLINE - AMENDMENT 3.PDF
DUE DILIGENCE AMENDMENT 3 FOR 706 ARENDELL STREET.PDF
TOWN PROJECT LIST - FEBRUARY 2021.PDF
7. CITIZENS REQUESTS/COMMENTS: [3 Minute Time Limit]
8. COUNCIL REQUESTS/COMMENTS:
9. APPROVE THE JANUARY 5 AND JANUARY 12, 2021 CLOSED SESSION MINUTES AS
PRESENTED
10. ADJOURNMENT:

COUNCIL
George W. Ballou, Mayor Pro Tem
David Horton
Keri V. McCann
William F. Taylor
Diane C. Warrender

Gerald A. Jones, Jr., Mayor

Resolution 2021-R-05
In Appreciation To

Deputy Chief William C. “Chris” Judy
Upon His Retirement from the Town of Morehead City
WHEREAS, the Town of Morehead City desires to recognize and honor employees of the Town for
dedicated and distinguished contributions; and

WHEREAS, Deputy Chief Chris Judy retired from the Town of Morehead City Fire-EMS Department
on February 1, 2021 with more than thirty years of faithful service to the Town and thirty-two years of
public service in the State of North Carolina; and

WHEREAS, Chris Judy began his career with the Town of Morehead City on August 8, 1990 as an
Equipment Operator, was promoted to Lieutenant on September 28, 2006, to Captain on September
20, 2012, and to Deputy Chief on December 5, 2019; and

WHEREAS, Chris Judy was instrumental in leading the department through an Insurance Service
Office (ISO) inspection resulting in the successful lowering of the City’s rating to Class 3, oversaw the
building of two tankers for the department, and provided direction and comfort to first responders
during the COVID-19 pandemic; and

WHEREAS, Chris Judy provided great leadership during the Hurricane Florence response and during
the merger with Wildwood Fire Department; and

WHEREAS, Chris Judy’s selfless dedication to his profession earned the respect of co-workers and
colleagues, and made the Town of Morehead City a safer place to work, live and play.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Council of the Town of Morehead City, that
appreciation be shown to Deputy Chief Chris Judy and his family in honor of his loyal service and
dedication to the citizens of Morehead City, and urge all to extend congratulations to him upon his
retirement.

DATED AND SPREAD UPON THE RECORD, this the 9th day of February 2021.
________________________________
Gerald A. Jones, Jr., Mayor

Attest:
__________________________
Cathy Campbell, City Clerk

Town of Morehead City
NORTH CAROLINA

Comprehensive Annual Financial
Report
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020

Prepared by the Finance Department
Jewel A. Lasater
Finance Director
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INTRODUCTORY SECTION

• Letter of Transmittal
• List of Principal Officials
• Organizational Chart
• GFOA Certificate of Achievement for
Excellence in Financial Reporting

January 27, 2021

To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council and Citizens of Morehead
City, North Carolina
We are pleased to present the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the Town of Morehead City
(City) for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2020. State law requires that all general-purpose local
governments publish a complete set of financial statements presented in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and audited in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards by a firm of licensed certified public accountants. This report complies with these requirements.
The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report consists of management’s representations concerning the
finances of the City. Responsibility for both the reliability of the data and the completeness and fairness of
the presentations, including all disclosures, rests with the City. To provide a reasonable basis for making
these representations, management of the City has established a comprehensive internal control
framework that is designed both to protect the government’s assets from loss, theft, or misuse and to
compile sufficient reliable information for the preparation of the City's financial statements in conformity with
GAAP. Because the cost of internal controls should not outweigh their benefits, the City’s comprehensive
framework of internal controls has been designed to provide reasonable rather than absolute assurance
that the financial statements will be free from material misstatement. We believe this financial report is
complete and reliable in all material respects.
RSM US LLP, a firm of independent licensed certified public accountants has audited the City’s financial
statements. The goal of the independent audit was to provide reasonable assurance that the financial
statements of the City for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2020 are free of material misstatement. The
independent auditor concluded, based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an
unqualified (“clean”) opinion on the City’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. The
independent auditor’s report is presented as the first component of the financial section of this report.
In addition to the independent audit of the financial statements, the City may be required to have a “Single
Audit” in conformity with the provisions of the Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996 and the U. S. Office
of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit
Organizations and certain state agencies. If applicable, Information related to this single audit, including
the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards, findings and recommendations, and auditors’
reports on the internal control structure and compliance, are included in the Compliance Section of this
report.
This Comprehensive Annual Financial Report is presented in four sections which include the introductory,
financial, statistical, and compliance sections. The introductory section includes this transmittal letter, the
government’s organizational chart, and a list of principal officials. The financial section includes the
auditors’ report on the financial statements and schedules, Management’s Discussion and Analysis, the
basic financial statements and related notes, the combining and individual fund financial statements and
schedules, and additional financial data. The statistical section contains selected financial and
demographic information. The compliance section presents reports and schedules required by the federal
and State grantor agencies. MD&A included in the financial section fulfills a GAAP requirement that
management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic financial
statements. This letter of transmittal is designed to complement MD&A and should be read in conjunction
with it.
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Description of Morehead City
Morehead City is located on the coast of North Carolina approximately 150 miles Southeast of Raleigh.
With a population of approximately 9,517 it is the largest incorporated city in Carteret County. Founded in
1858, this picturesque community is located on the Intercoastal Waterway and is separated from the
Atlantic Ocean by a sound and a protective barrier island.
The City combines the best of the relaxed, friendly atmosphere of a small Southern city with many
amenities generally found only in larger communities that make life here both pleasurable and convenient.
Residential, shopping, medical, and industrial areas surround the downtown business district, which is
home to many restaurants and a renovated, working waterfront. Located in the city limits is the deepwater Port of Morehead City, one of two state ports in North Carolina. Also, located in the City is the
county’s 135-inpatient bed hospital, a branch of the state community college system, and the Crystal
Coast Civic Center. The City is 45 minutes away from the closest commercial airport and 15 minutes from
the county airport, which services private planes.
Morehead City operates under the Council-Manager form of government. The City Council is comprised
of the mayor and five council members who are responsible for the legislative affairs of the City. They are
elected at large and serve for two-year and four-year terms, respectively. The Mayor and Council make
appointments to various boards and appoint the City Manager, City Attorney, and Tax Collector. As chief
executive officer, the City Manager is responsible for enforcement of all laws and ordinances, the efficient
delivery of all City services, and the preparation and management of the budget.
The annual budget serves as the foundation for the City’s financial planning and control. The City’s formal
annual budget process begins in January. The City Manager, Department Directors, and City Council work
over the next several months reviewing and refining Council goals and objectives for the upcoming year.
Based on the outcome of this process, the annual budget is prepared and delivered to the City Council in
May. The Council is required to hold a public hearing on the proposed budget and to adopt a final budget
by no later than June 30, the close of the City’s fiscal year. The General Fund’s legal budgetary control is
at the functional level. It is at the fund level in all other funds. The City Manager is authorized to transfer
funds within these limits without report to Council. Transfers between functions in the General Fund,
between funds, and non-emergency appropriation of Contingency in the annually adopted budget requires
Council approval. The City Manager may authorize appropriation of contingency in emergency situations.
Any contingency appropriations must be reported to Council at the next scheduled monthly Council meeting.
The City provides a full range of governmental services, including police and Fire & EMS protection, street
construction and maintenance, planning and zoning and building inspections, cemetery, parks and
recreation, and a library. In addition to general governmental activities, the City provides water and
sanitary sewer and a comprehensive solid waste program.
The estimated 2020 population for the City increased by 0.1% to 9,517 compared to the 2019 estimate of
9,481. The City encompasses approximately seven square miles and employs 179 full-time equivalent
staff. Economic indicators including building permits, number of utility customers, and sales tax revenue
point to a stable growing local economy.
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Economic Conditions and Outlook
The information in the financial statements may be best understood when considered in the context of the
environment in which the City operates. Morehead City is a port city located in a rural coastal county. The
major industries are tourism and fishing. The main attractions are the area’s beaches and water related
activities. The county also enjoys several historical sites that serve as destinations for individuals and
groups. The county’s economy, while seasonal, is stabilized by close proximity to two Marine Corp bases
and air stations at Cherry Point and Camp Lejeune, which provide substantial employment for the county.
Both Carteret County and Morehead City play host to a vibrant marine science community. The NC State
University Marine Sciences and Technology Center, UNC-Chapel Hill Institute of Marine Sciences, and
the NC Division of Marine Fisheries are located in Morehead City. The Duke University Marine Laboratory
and the NOAA National Marine Fisheries Service are located just outside of the city limits of the City.
Carteret County had a 5.2% annual average unemployment rate in fiscal year ending June 30, 2020
compared to 5.6% statewide and 6.0% nationally (not seasonally adjusted).
All indications are that the City and the county will experience stable continued growth, however the
impacts of the global pandemic to date are not fully recognized and future outbreaks may have a
compounded effect . Unemployment rates across the United States, in North Carolina and locally
increased in 2020 representing the impacts from the global pandemic. However, unemployment rates
across all three areas continues to decline in the month’s subsequent to the fiscal year-end. The area has
a mild climate and is attractive to retirees and second homeowners. The value of new construction
permitted in the City limits for 2019-2020 fiscal year was $85.7 million. This growth expands our tax base
and property taxes, one of our largest revenue sources.
The City closely monitors its resources and has emphasized program efficiencies and other cost
containment efforts, allowing strong financial positions to be maintained. We believe that the economic
environment in this area along with the diligent management of the City’s costs and services will provide
ongoing financial stability and fiscal capacity.
Major Initiatives
An ongoing goal of the Council has been to develop programs and pursue projects that upgrade facilities
and enhance the quality of life for citizens and visitors through the cooperative efforts of governmental
units, the business community, nonprofit organizations, and individual citizens. 2019-2020 major initiatives
undertaken in the governmental funds to meet this goal included the construction of a new City Hall that
reflects the historical Charles Wallace Building. The City finalized rehabilitation of Shevans Park and
included a splash pad to increase the park’s activities available to its’ citizens. Kathryn Davis Park
bathrooms, landscaping and parking projects were also completed. The City continued implementation
Phase II of III an Enterprise Resource Solution software. The software will regain efficiencies and give
back man hours directly to the community, reduce waste, allow for real time budget monitoring and
through Phase III will establish a customer portal with up to date account information. The city completed
several significant paving, resurfacing & drainage projects and began multiple other projects during 2020.
The City continues support for nonprofit and other organizations that sponsor major public events which
showcase the area as well as provide economic benefit to the community. The City provided in kind
support for several groups including the North Carolina Seafood Festival (NCSF) and the Big Rock Blue
Marlin Tournament. The NCSF sponsors the second largest festival in North Carolina to promote and
educate the public about NC seafood; the Big Rock Blue Marlin Tournament is considered the ‘Super
Bowl’ of fishing and attracts fishermen from all over the world. All these events and other smaller ones
promote Morehead City and Carteret County as a tourist destination, provide stimulus for the local
economy, as well as enhance the quality of life for citizens.
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Other capital improvements in the governmental funds included the purchased various types of public
safety vehicles including but not limited to two Ambulance Remounts for Fire & EMS and two new Dodge
Durangos for Police. The City purchased a Street Sweeper to clean the streets. Other improvements
included electrical enhancements to the Waterfront area and street beautification projects across our
community. The City completed various dredging projects in conjunction with local community groups. The
City also purchased various equipment including watch guard camera upgrades and equipment to enhance
remote work & education.
In the Water & Sewer Fund rehabilitation was completed for Lift Station #17 during 2019-2020 and
renovations to Lift Station#16 was initiated. The City began and completed most of the implementation of
a new Automatic Meter Reading infrastructure to replace the aging system with enhanced capabilities.
A new backhoe and Jet Vac truck were purchased. Multiple Water & Sewer improvement projects were
completed throughout the eastern end of City. Major equipment replacements were done at the
Wastewater Treatment Plant to its headworks as part of a multiyear improvement project. Rehabilitation to
Lift Station #20 began to support increased building in the surrounding area.
For the Future
The City Council adopted the fiscal year 2020-2021 budget in June 2020. Property taxes provide
approximately 42% of the revenues for the General Fund. A County revaluation was performed for the
2020 Tax Year that falls in Fiscal Year Ending 06/30/2021. The revaluation increased the projected Ad
Valorem revenue projections before considering possible collection decreases due to the global pandemic
and its impacts. Revenue from sales tax, permits and fees, and sales and services were all projected to
either decrease or remain stable. This is to take a conservative approach in balancing the 2020-2021
budget for possible impacts on the economy due to the COVID 19 pandemic. However, due to the
geographical nature of our City revenue from sales tax has increased during most of the spring and
summer months of 2020. In response to the possible economic impact on our customers there are no rate
increases to become effective at midyear for water and sewer charges. These increases will be reinstated
in the future and are necessary to pay operating costs associated with these services and to provide
adequate funds to repay Water and Sewer Fund debt and infrastructure improvements. In addition, there
are no rate increases to solid waste charges.
On the spending side, funds were budgeted to complete multiple repaving & resurfacing projects. Purchase
of ten patrol vehicles for Police were also budgeted. The Fire & EMS department budgeted for new Station
#2 bay doors and SCBA unit replacements. Construction of the new City Hall building is expected to be
near completing in 2020-2021. Plans and discussions are being developed for Fire Station #3 on the west
end of City that was heavily damaged during Hurricane Florence. The City continues to work with
consultants in developing a plan to deal with the increasing issue of storm water. Exterior & interior
renovations are budgeted for the Recreation Center and Train Depot building. The Water & Sewer fund
budgeted for clarifier renovations. Funds were budgeted for research and testing to meet new NPDES
rules as it relates to wastewater.
Independent Audit
The North Carolina General Statutes requires the City to provide for an annual audit of the accounts and
financial transactions of the City by a firm of independent certified public accountants. The City Council
designated RSM US LLP, Certified Public Accountants, to meet these requirements and their report follows
and is an integral part of this report.
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Award and Acknowledgments
The Governmental Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to Morehead City for its comprehensive
annual financial report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. This was the thirtieth consecutive year that
the government has achieved this prestigious award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement,
a government must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized comprehensive annual financial
report. This report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal
requirements.
A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a one-year period only. We believe that our current
comprehensive annual financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s
requirements and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate.

The preparation of this report is the result of the desire of the Mayor and City Council to develop the
highest standards of financial reporting. Their foresight in encouraging these standards is recognized. I
wish to thank all government departments for their assistance in providing the data necessary to prepare
this report. I would also like to express my deepest gratitude to the Finance Department staff for their
efficient and dedicated services and to RSM US LLP for their support in the preparation of this report.
Respectfully submitted,

Jewel A. Lasater, Finance Director
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2019-2020 Morehead City Mayor & Council
Honorable G.A. “Jerry” Jones Jr. Jr.
Mayor
Diane C. Warrender

William F. Taylor
Keri V. McCann
Mayor Pro Tem

George W. Ballou

David A. Horton

2019-2020 Morehead City Administrative, Financial & Director Staff
Ryan Eggleston
City Manager
Cathy Campbell
City Clerk

Jewel A Lasater
Finance Director

Daniel K. Williams
Public Services Director

Jamie E. Fulk
Chief
Fire & EMS Department

Bernette Morris
Chief
Police Department

James Swann
Acting
Library Director

Jerry Riggs
Parks and Recreation Director

Susan Nixon
Human Resources Director

Sandi Watkins
Planning & Inspection
Director

Alize Proisy
Communications
Director

Shirl F. Meadows
Tax Collector
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City-Wide Organization Chart
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Honorable Mayor and
and Members of the Town Council
Town of Morehead City, North Carolina

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, and each major fund of Town of Morehead City, North Carolina (the City), as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2020 and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions.
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Opinions
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, and each major
fund of the Town of Morehead City, North Carolina as of June 30, 2020, and the respective changes in
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof and the respective budgetary comparison for
the General Fund for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.
Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s
Discussion and Analysis, the Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System’s Schedules of the
Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability and Contributions, the Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad
Workers’ Pension Fund’s Schedule of the Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability, and the Law
Enforcement Officers’ Special Separation Allowance schedules of the Changes in Total Pension Liability
and Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll, and the Schedules of Changes in the
Total OPEB liability on pages 68 through 73 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Other Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The combining and individual fund statements, budgetary
schedules, other financial information and schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards, as
required by Title 2 US Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance), and the introductory and
statistical sections are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the
basic financial statements.
The combining and individual fund statements, budgetary schedules, other financial information, and the
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards are the responsibility of management and were
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements. Such information, except for that portion pertaining to the year ended June 30, 2019,
marked “unaudited,” has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion,
except for that portion marked “unaudited,” which we express no opinion, the combining and individual
fund statements, budgetary schedules, other financial information, and the Schedule of Expenditures of
Federal State Awards are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements
as a whole.
The introductory and statistical sections of the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report have not been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and,
accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated January 27,
2021 on our consideration of the Town of Morehead City’s internal control over financial reporting and on
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements
and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal
control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an
opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in
considering Town of Morehead City’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Morehead City, North Carolina
January 27, 2021
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(This Page Was Intentionally Left Blank)

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020
This section of the Town of Morehead City’s (City) annual financial report presents a narrative overview
and analysis of the City’s financial performance for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. Please read it in
conjunction with the transmittal letter at the front of this report and the City’s financial statements, which
follow this section.
Financial Highlights
•

•

•
•
•

•

The overall financial position of the City improved in 2020 as evidenced by an increase in total net
position of $3.8 million. This increase was mainly from governmental ($4.2 million) activities. The
increase for the governmental activities was due to increased property tax revenue, FEMA PA
funds received for expenditures in prior years and decreased expenditures. The small decrease
($0.40 million) for business-type activities was primarily the result of increased expenses in the
business-type departments and increase of transfers out.
The assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources at the close of the fiscal year by $90.8 million (net position). Of this amount, $7.4
million (unrestricted net position) can be used to meet the City’s ongoing obligations to its citizens
and creditors.
As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending
fund balances of $14.9 million, an increase of $3.2 million in comparison with the prior year.
Approximately 74.9% or $11.2 million is nonspendable, restricted, committed, or assigned.
At the end of the current fiscal year unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was $3.7
million or approximately 28.7% of General Fund expenditures and transfers out for the fiscal year
and is available for spending at the government’s discretion.
Governmental net capital assets increased $4.3 million primarily due to additions to infrastructure
for street improvements as well as construction in progress of a new City Hall. Business-type net
capital assets decreased $2.5 million primarily as a result of additions to intangibles for
easements and additions to construction in progress for a new AMR system.
The City’s total debt increased by $1.6 million during the current fiscal year. Debt in the
governmental activities increased $2.8 million due mostly to the addition of a loan for the new City
Hall. Debt in the business-type activities decreased $1.2 million due to principal repayments.

Overview of the Financial Statements
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial
statements which consist of three components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial
statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. In addition to the basic financial statements, this
report contains other supplemental information that will enhance the reader’s understanding of the
financial condition of the Town of Morehead City.
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The first two statements are government-wide financial statements that provide both long-term and shortterm information about the City’s overall financial status. The remaining statements are fund financial
statements that focus on individual parts of the City government, reporting the City’s operations in more
detail than the government-wide statements.
•

The governmental funds statements tell how general government services, like public safety,
were financed in the short term as well as what remains for future spending. A budgetary
comparison statement has been provided for the General Fund to demonstrate budgetary
compliance.

•

Proprietary funds statements offer short- and long-term financial information about the activities
the City operates like businesses, such as the water and sewer system.

The financial statements also include notes that explain some of the information in the financial
statements and provide more detailed data and are followed by the required supplemental financial data.
In addition to these elements, a section is included with combining statements that provide details about
the governmental funds, which are totaled and presented in a single column in the basic financial
statements. This section also includes detailed budgetary information required by North Carolina General
Statutes.
The remainder of this overview section explains the structure and contents of the government-wide and
fund financial statements.
Government-wide Statements
The government-wide statements are designed to provide the reader with a broad overview of the City’s
finances, similar in format to a financial statement of a private-sector business. The government-wide
statements provide short- and long-term information about the City’s financial status as a whole.
The two government-wide statements report the City’s net position and how it has changed. Net position
is the difference between the City’s total assets and deferred outflows of resources and total liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources. Measuring net position is one way to gauge the City’s financial condition.
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The government-wide financial statements are divided into two categories:
•

Governmental activities - Most of the City’s basic services are included here, such as public
safety, community planning and development, streets and culture and recreation. Property taxes,
other taxes, and grants and contributions finance most of these activities.

•

Business-type activities - The City charges fees to customers to cover the costs of certain
services provided. The City’s water and sewer system and solid waste system are included here.

The government-wide financial statements are on pages 23 – 25 of this report.
Fund Financial Statements
The fund financial statements provide more detailed information about the City’s most significant
activities. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that
have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The Town of Morehead City, like all other
governmental entities in North Carolina, uses fund accounting to ensure and reflect compliance with
finance-related legal requirements, such as the General Statues or the City’s budget ordinance. The City
has the following three kinds of funds:
•

Governmental funds – Governmental funds are used to account for those functions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. Most of the City’s basic
services are included in governmental funds, which focus on (1) the flow in and out of cash and
other financial assets that can be readily converted to cash and (2) the balances left at year-end
that are available for spending in the next year. These funds are reported using the modified
accrual accounting basis and a current financial resources measurement focus. Consequently,
the governmental funds statements provide a detailed short-term view that helps determine the
financial resources available in the near future to finance the City’s programs. The relationship
between governmental activities (reported in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of
Activities) and governmental funds is described in a reconciliation that follows the governmental
fund financial statements.
The Town of Morehead City adopts an annual budget for its General Fund as required by the
General Statutes. The budget is a legally adopted document that incorporates input from citizens
of the City, the management of the City, and the decisions of the City Council about which
services to provide and how to pay for them. It also authorizes the City to obtain funds from
identified sources to finance these current period activities. The budgetary statement provided for
the General Fund to demonstrate how well the City complied with the budget ordinance and
whether or not the City succeeded in providing the services as planned when the budget was
adopted. The budgetary comparison statement uses the budgetary basis of accounting and is
presented using the same format, language, and classifications as the legal budget document.
The statement shows four columns: 1) the original budget as adopted by the City Council; 2) the
final budget as amended by the City Council; 3) the actual resources, charges to appropriations,
and ending balances in the General Fund; and 4) the difference or variance between the final
budget and the actual resources and charges. Because the City’s budgetary basis of accounting
does not differ from the modified accrual basis used in the fund’s statements, reconciliation is not
necessary at the end of the statement.

•

Proprietary funds – The Town of Morehead City utilizes one type of proprietary fund, an
enterprise fund. Enterprise Funds are used to report the same functions presented as businesstype activities in the government-wide financial statements. The City uses enterprise funds to
account for its water and sewer operation and for it solid waste operation. The funds are the
same as those functions shown in the business-type activities in the Statement of Net Position
and the Statement of Activities.

The fund financial statements are on pages 26 – 34 of this report.
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Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the
government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the basic financial statements begin on page
35 of this report.
Other Information
In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report includes certain required
supplementary information concerning the Town of Morehead City’s progress in funding its obligation to
provide pension and other postemployment benefits to its employees. Required supplementary information
can be found beginning on page 68 of this report.
Interdependence with Other Entities
The City depends on financial resources flowing from, or associated with, both the federal government and
the State of North Carolina. Because of this dependency, the City is subject to changes in specific flows of
intergovernmental revenues based on modifications to federal and State laws and federal and State
appropriations. It is also subject to changes in investment earnings and asset values associated with U.S.
Treasury Securities because of actions by foreign governments and other holders of publicly held U.S.
Treasury Securities.
Financial Analysis of the City as a Whole
Net Position: For the City, assets and deferred outflows exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows by $90.1
million at the close of the most recent fiscal year. A summary of the City’s net position at June 30, 2020 and
2019 is presented below:
Town of Morehead City’s Net Position
Governmental
Business-Type
Activities
Activities
2020
2019
2020
2019
Current and other assets
Other non current assets
Capital assets
Total assets
Deferred outflows of resources
Total assets and
deferred outflows of
resources
Long-term liabilities outstanding
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Deferred inflows of resources
Total liabilities and
deferred inflows of
resources
Net position:
Net investment in
capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total net position

Totals
2020

2019

$ 17,370,786
46,051,849
63,422,635

$ 13,110,272
41,766,096
54,876,368

$ 9,893,959
57,970
54,388,848
64,340,777

$ 14,165,417
57,970
51,696,155
65,919,542

$ 27,264,745
57,970
100,440,697
127,763,412

$ 27,275,689
57,970
93,462,251
120,795,910

2,707,794

2,410,025

478,791

404,729

3,186,585

2,814,754

66,130,429

57,286,393

64,819,568

66,324,271

130,949,997

123,610,664

18,675,203
2,905,844
21,581,047

14,762,524
2,078,527
16,841,051

15,468,177
2,783,568
18,251,745

16,463,862
2,864,951
19,328,813

34,143,380
5,689,412
39,832,792

31,226,386
4,943,478
36,169,864

278,823

389,575

46,112

65,217

324,935

454,792

21,859,870

17,230,626

18,297,857

19,394,030

40,157,727

36,624,656

34,501,559
33,012,289
10,045,571
5,358,178
(276,571)
1,685,300
$ 44,270,559 $ 40,055,767

38,892,348
7,629,363
$ 46,521,711

34,987,905
11,942,336
$ 46,930,241

73,393,907
10,045,571
7,352,792
$ 90,792,270

68,000,194
5,358,178
13,627,636
$ 86,986,008
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As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as one useful indicator of a government’s financial
condition. The City’s net position increased by $3.8 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.
However, the largest portion (80.8%) reflects the City’s investment in capital assets (e.g. land, buildings,
machinery, and equipment), less any related debt still outstanding that was issued to acquire those items.
The City uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not
available for future spending. Although the City’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of the
outstanding related debt, the resources needed to repay that debt must be provided by other sources,
since the capital assets cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. A portion of the City’s net position
(11.1%) represents resources that are subject to restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining
balance of $7.4 million (8.1%) is unrestricted.
Governmental Activities
Net position of the governmental activities increased $4.2 million, or 10.52%, to $44.3 million. $44.5
million of net position either are restricted as to the purposes for which they can be used or are invested
in capital assets (e.g. land, buildings, machinery, and equipment buildings, roads, etc.). $0.3 million
deficit is unrestricted. Unrestricted net position deficits are created from long-term liabilities that
resources are appropriated each year as the payments come due rather than accumulating the net assets
in advance.
Several particular aspects of the City’s financial operations positively influenced the total unrestricted
governmental net position:
•
•

Continued diligence in the collection of property taxes by maintaining a high tax collection
percentage of 98.67%. The statewide average in fiscal year 2019 was 99.21%. The small
decrease in the tax collection rate is assumed to be related to the global pandemic.
Increased sales tax revenues of approximately $180,000 and increased Ad valorem tax revenue
of approximately $1.2 million due to economic growth in the City and an increase in the property
tax rate.

Business-type Activities
The net position of the business-type activities decreased by $0.04 million, or 0.87%, to $46.5 million.
This net position will be used to finance the operations and expansion of the water, sewer, and solid
waste operations.

16

Changes in Net Position: The following table presents the City’s changes in net position for the fiscal
years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:
Town of Morehead City's Changes in Net Position
Governmental
Business-type
Activities
Activities
2020
2019
2020
2019
Revenue:
Program revenue:
Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions
General revenue:
Property taxes
Other taxes
Grants and contributions not
restricted to specific programs
Other
Total revenue

$ 11,089,258
2,658,411
2,090,684

$ 10,735,956
1,096,852
232,899

8,290,873
3,380,606

7,139,424
3,222,436

$ 2,492,430
1,089,827
-

8,290,873
3,380,606

7,139,424
3,222,436

1,422,392
569,111
18,424,011

1,444,489
609,023
15,997,629

500,733
11,578,057

539,228
9,022,678

1,422,392
1,069,844
30,002,068

1,444,489
1,148,251
25,020,307

3,518,140
10,208,297
968,323
861,693
1,554,753
174,304
350,909
17,636,419

3,286,806
10,257,915
688,813
900,708
184,756
298,219
15,617,217

7,524,679
1,034,708
8,559,387

6,445,950
1,913,039
8,358,989

3,518,140
10,208,297
968,323
861,693
1,554,753
174,304
350,909
7,524,679
1,034,708
26,195,806

3,286,806
10,257,915
688,813
900,708
184,756
298,219
6,445,950
1,913,039
23,976,206

787,592

380,412

3,018,670

663,689

3,806,262

1,044,101

3,427,200
4,214,792

698,600
1,079,012

(3,427,200)
(408,530)

(698,600)
(34,911)

3,806,262

1,044,101

Net position, July 1
Restatement

40,055,767
-

38,976,755
-

46,930,241
-

46,965,152
-

86,986,008
-

85,941,907
-

Net position, July 1 as restated

40,055,767

38,976,755

46,930,241

46,965,152

86,986,008

85,941,907

$ 44,270,559

$ 40,055,767

$ 46,521,711

$ 46,930,241

$ 90,792,270

$ 86,986,008

Increase in net position before
transfers
Transfers
Increase (decrease) in net position

Net position, June 30
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-

$ 8,243,526
7,025
232,899

2019

$ 2,333,952
1,588,157
838,920

Expenses:
General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Disaster planning & recover
Culture and recreation
Library
Interest on long-term debt
Water and sewer
Solid waste
Total expenses

$ 8,755,306
1,070,254
1,251,764

Totals
2020

-

Total government-wide revenue of $30.0 million was primarily derived from charges for services (37.0%),
property taxes (27.6%) and other taxes (11.3%). The total expenses of all programs were $24.3 million.
The expenses cover a range of services with the two largest being public safety (fire/EMS, police and
building inspections) for 40.3% and water and sewer for 29.7%.
Governmental Activities
Governmental activities increased the City’s net position by $4.2 million and accounted for 110.7% of the
total growth in the net position of the Town of Morehead City. Key elements related to governmental
activities are as follows:
• Property taxes increased approximately $1.2 million over the preceding year due to the City’s
economic growth and a $0.03 increase in the property tax rate.
• Charges for services decreased $0.16 million, due mainly to a decrease in Ambulance services
during the global pandemic. There were less motorists on the roads therefore, less accidents
that result in Ambulance services.
• Other taxes increased approximately $.16 million primarily due to increased sales tax
distributions from the State.
• Expenses increased approximately $2.0 million (12.9%) compared to the prior period.
o General Government increased $0.2 million. Highway and streets increased $0.3 million.
The largest portion of this increase $0.7 million is related to culture and recreation
expenditures
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Business-type Activities
Business-type activities decreased the Town of Morehead City’s net position by $0.40 million and
accounted for a 10.7% decrease that offset the increase of Governmental activities in the government’s
net position. Key elements of these activities are as follows:
•
•
•

Charges for services in the Water and Sewer and Solid Waste Funds increased by approximately
$512,000 or a 6.2% increase over the previous year. The largest portion of this increase is due to
water, sewer and solid waste rates increased midway through the year.
The Water and Sewer Fund expenses increased approximately $1.1 million or 16.7% from the
preceding year. The largest portion of this increase of expenditures is related to water distribution
and sewer collection operating expenditures.
Solid Waste fund expenses decreased approximately $0.88 million or 45.9% from the preceding
year. This is mostly due to FEMA PA program funds received that offset disaster planning &
recovery expenditures.

Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds
The City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements.
Governmental Funds. The focus of the Town of Morehead City’s governmental funds is to provide
information on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of usable resources. Such information is useful
in assessing the Town of Morehead City’s financing requirements.
The general fund is the chief operating fund of the Town of Morehead City. At the end of the current
fiscal year, unassigned fund balance of the General Fund was $3.3 million, while total fund balance was
$8.1 million. As a measure of the General Fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare both unassigned
fund balance and total fund balance to total fund expenditures and transfers out. Unassigned fund
balance represents 18.26% of total General Fund expenditures and transfers out of $18.2 million, while
total fund balance represents 44.5% of that same amount. The City Council of Morehead City has
determined that the General Fund should maintain a minimum of between $2.5 and $2.75 million of
unassigned fund balance in order to meet unforeseen needs and opportunities.
At June 30, 2020, the governmental funds of the Town of Morehead City reported a combined fund
balance of $14.9 million, up from $13.1 million the previous year. The General Fund balance decreased
$1.2 million. This decrease is mainly related to an increase of expenditures of approximately $5.0 million
in the Morehead Municipal Campus Fund and the Government Capital Project Fund. Morehead City
Municipal Campus Capital expenditures increased approximately $1.3 million. Governmental Capital
Project expenditures increased approximately $3.5 million of which $2.0 million was funded by the
general fund. Revenues increased $2.4 million, expenditures increased $2.0 million and net transfers out
increased $2.7 million. The fund balance in the Capital Project Funds increased $4.8 million. The largest
portion of this other financing resources received to date over construction in progress in the Morehead
City Municipal Campus Capital Project Fund. The Morehead City Municipal Campus Capital Project Fund
and the Governmental Capital Project Fund were deemed to be major funds for the year ending June 30,
2020.
General Fund Budgetary Highlights. Beginning this fiscal year Fire & EMS was incorporated into the
general fund. During the fiscal year, the City revised the budget on several occasions. Generally, budget
amendments fall into one of three categories: 1) amendments made to adjust the estimates that are used
to prepare the original budget ordinance once exact information is available; 2) amendments made to
recognize new funding amounts from external sources, such as Federal and State grants; and 3)
increases in appropriations that become necessary to maintain services and acquire capital assets.
Total revenue was under the final budget by approximately $39,300 in the General Fund. The most
significant favorable variances were in state shared taxes included in unrestricted intergovernmental
revenue and FEMA reimbursements in restricted intergovernmental revenue. Expenditures were tightly
controlled, and the City was able to comply with its budgetary requirements in all categories except for the
parks department which exceeded the budget by $2,359.
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Proprietary Funds. Proprietary fund statements provide the same type of information found in the
government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. Unrestricted net position at the end of the year
totaled $6.9 million in the Water and Sewer fund and $0.7 million in the Solid Waste fund. Unrestricted
net position in the Water and Sewer Fund decreased approximately $5.4 million. The largest portion of
this decrease is attributable to several capital expenditures including but not limited to a replaced AMR
system, water & sewer portion of the new City Hall, new equipment, and utility system replacements.
Unrestricted net position in the Solid Waste Fund increased approximately $1.1 million. The largest
portion of this increase is due to FEMA PA funds received for prior year disaster recovery expenditures.
Other factors concerning the finances of these funds were addressed in the discussion of the businesstype activities.
Capital Asset and Debt Administration
Capital Assets. At June 30, 2020, the City had $93.5 million (net of accumulated depreciation) in capital
assets consisting primarily of buildings, improvements other than buildings, water and sewer operating
plant and infrastructure. This amount represents a net increase of $0.5 million, or .6%, over last year and
is result of the addition of capital assets over depreciation. The summary of capital assets at June 30,
2020 and 2019 is presented below:

Land
Intangible assets
Infrastructure
Buildings and
other improvements
Equipment and vehicles
Operating plant
Construction in progress
Total

Town of Morehead City's Capital Assets
(Net of depreciation)
Governmental
Business-type
Activities
Activities
2020
2019
2020
2019
$ 12,802,000 $ 12,802,000 $
937,411 $
937,411
562,831
562,831
1,332,822
405,580
6,659,950
5,422,003
-

Totals
2020
2018
$ 13,739,411 $ 13,739,411
1,895,653
968,411
6,659,950
5,422,003

19,153,468
3,138,423
3,735,177

19,207,345
3,108,171
663,746

5,630,578
1,243,347
43,619,062
1,625,629

5,467,403
809,748
44,076,013
-

24,784,046
4,381,770
43,619,062
5,360,806

24,674,748
3,917,919
44,076,013
663,746

$ 46,051,849

$ 41,766,096

$ 54,388,849

$ 51,696,155

$100,440,698

$ 93,462,251

This year’s major capital asset changes included:
•
•
•
•
•

Increase in Intangible assets - $0.9 million
Increase in infrastructure, buildings, and other improvements - $1.3 million
Increase in equipment and vehicles - $0.3 million
Decrease in operating plant – $0.46million
Increase in construction in progress - $4.6 million

More detailed information about the City’s capital assets is presented in Note 4 of the basic financial
statements.
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Long-term Debt. At June 30, 2020, the City had $36.4 million of debt outstanding. Details by type of
debt are presented in the following table:
Town of Morehead City's Outstanding Debt
Governmental

Business-type

Activities
2020
Direct placement
installment contracts

Totals
2020

2019

-

$ 11,550,291

$ 8,753,807

2019

11,550,291

$ 8,753,807

Direct placement revenue
bond

-

-

4,619,000

4,701,000

4,619,000

4,701,000

84,000

Direct placement notes
payable

-

-

10,877,500

12,007,250

10,877,500

12,007,250

1,129,750

Accrued compensated
absences

621,284

521,981

97,969

71,166

719,253

593,147

598,937

Net pension liability
(LGERS)

3,427,355

2,983,607

575,628

514,172

4,002,983

3,497,779

-

Total pension liability (LEO)

1,223,768

1,087,472

-

-

1,223,768

1,087,472

-

Total OPEB liability

2,786,160

2,089,780

595,102

446,361

3,381,262

2,536,141

-

19,608,858

$ 15,436,647

$ 16,765,199

$ 17,739,949

$ 36,374,057

$ 33,176,596

$ 2,230,677

Total

$

Activities
2020

2019

Current
Portion of
Balance
2020

$

$

-

$

$

417,990

The Town of Morehead City’s total long-term debt increased by $3.2 million (9.6%) during the past fiscal
year.
• Principal payments of $0.3. million and $1.2 million were made on outstanding debt in the
governmental activities and business-type activities, respectively. All scheduled debt service
payments were made timely.
• Addition of $3.1 million installment purchase contract to finance a portion of the new City Hall
building.
North Carolina General Statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt that a unit of government can
issue to 8 percent of the total assessed value of taxable property located within that government’s
boundaries. The legal debt margin for Town of Morehead City is $166,690,188.
More detailed information about the City’s long-term obligations is presented in Note 10 of the basic
financial statements.
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget and Rates
The following economic indicators impact the City’s budget outlook:
•

•

•

During fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 1,558 permits were issued with a value of $85.7 million
compared to 1,693 permits with a value of $60.0 million for fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. The
biggest contributor of this increase is the value of construction rather than the number of permits
issued.
Annual unemployment average for Carteret County was 5.2% compared to 4.7% in the prior year
and 5.6% for the state. These increases are related to the global pandemic. However,
unemployment rates across the county and state continued to decline in the month’s subsequent
to the fiscal year-end.
The global pandemic has impacted some of the City’s services and collection rates. However, due
to the geographical nature of our City revenue from sales tax is stable and increased in the Spring
& Summer months of 2020.
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•

In response to the economic impact of the pandemic on our citizens and customers no rate
increases are to become effective at midyear for water & sewer charges.

Budget Highlights for the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2020
Governmental Activities
The General Fund initial budget for 2020-2021 remained at $15.6 million. The City Council adopted a tax
rate of $.38 per $100 of valuation, which was the same rate as the prior year. Projected increases in
property tax revenue is expected due to a County revaluation of property. The City Council opted to
appropriate $0.9 million of unassigned and assigned fund balance to acquire needed capital items. It was
projected that this would still leave the General Fund with an adequate amount to meet Council’s
minimum fund balance requirement of in the range of $2.5 to $2.75 million.
Business-type Activities
The initial 2020-2021 budget for the Water and Sewer Fund decreased $0.7 million from $8.5 million to
$7.8 million. A 0% rate increase was budgeted to assist customers with the economic impact of the
global pandemic. This was a one-year suspension of rate increases in a series of increases that Council
endorsed to provide a rate structure that will support current and upcoming debt service on major capital
projects undertaken by the City.
The initial 2020-2021 budget for the Solid Waste Fund increased $.01 million from $1.0 million to $1.1
million.
Contacting the City’s Financial Management
This financial report is designed to provide citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and creditors with a
general overview of the City’s finances and to demonstrate the City’s accountability. Questions concerning
this report or requests for additional financial information should be directed to the Town of Morehead City’s
Finance Department, 706 Arendell Street, Morehead City, NC 28557-4234.
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Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2020
Primary Government
Business-Type
Activities

Governmental
Activities
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and investments
Taxes receivable (net)
Customer receivables (net)
Due from governmental agencies
Local option sales tax receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expense
Restricted cash and investments
Total current assets

$

Non-current assets:
Notes receivable
Capital assets:
Land and construction in process
Other capital assets, net of depreciation
Total capital assets
Total assets

13,704,701
157,953
863,301
1,117,472
937,205
5,088
10,576
574,490
17,370,786

$

-

7,574,551
1,808,673
130,078
253,538
127,119
9,893,959

Total

$

21,279,252
157,953
2,671,974
1,247,550
937,205
258,626
10,576
701,609
27,264,745

57,970

57,970

17,100,008
28,951,841
46,051,849
63,422,635

3,895,862
50,492,986
54,388,848
64,340,777

20,995,870
79,444,827
100,440,697
127,763,412

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pension deferrals
OPEB deferrals
Total deferred outflows of resources

2,052,604
655,190
2,707,794

338,849
139,942
478,791

2,391,453
795,132
3,186,585

Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued interest payable
Customer deposits
Current portion of long-term liabilities
Total current liabilities

1,809,946
162,243
933,655
2,905,844

827,823
44,038
614,685
1,297,022
2,783,568

2,637,769
206,281
614,685
2,230,677
5,689,412

3,427,355
1,223,768
2,786,160
11,237,920
18,675,203
21,581,047

575,628
595,102
14,297,447
15,468,177
18,251,745

4,002,983
1,223,768
3,381,262
25,535,367
34,143,380
39,832,792

36,600
143,653
98,570
278,823

25,058
21,054
46,112

36,600
168,711
119,624
324,935

34,501,559

38,892,348

73,393,907

2,881,562
6,771,178
372,585
3,279
16,967
(276,571)
44,270,559 $

7,629,363
46,521,711

2,881,562
6,771,178
372,585
3,279
16,967
7,352,792
90,792,270

Long-term liabilities:
Net pension liability (LGERS)
Total pension liability (LEOSSA)
Total OPEB liability
Due in more than one year
Total long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Prepaid taxes and fees
Pension deferrals
OPEB deferrals
Total deferred inflows of resources
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted:
Stabilization by State Statute
General government
Public safety
Recreation
Library
Unrestricted
Total net position

$

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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$

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Program Revenue

Functions/Programs
Primary government:
Governmental Activities:
General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Disaster planning and recovery
Cultural and recreation
Library
Interest on long-term debt
Total governmental activities
Business-type activities:
Water and sewer
Solid waste
Total business-type activities
Total primary government

Charges for
Services

Expenses

$

$

3,518,140
10,208,297
968,323
861,693
1,554,753
174,304
350,909
17,636,419

7,524,679
1,034,708
8,559,387
26,195,806

$

$

137,053
2,090,607
104,287
2,005
2,333,952

7,634,495
1,120,811
8,755,306
11,089,258

Operating
Grants and
Contributions

$

$

General revenues:
Taxes:
Property taxes, levied for general purpose
Local option sales tax
Other taxes
Unrestricted intergovernmental
Investment earnings, unrestricted
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets
Miscellaneous income, unrestricted
Transfers
Total general revenue
Change in net position
Net position, beginning
Net position, ending
See Notes to Financial Statements.
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76,291
1,458,791
53,075
1,588,157

102,425
967,829
1,070,254
2,658,411

Capital Grants
and
Contributions

$

$

838,920
838,920

1,251,764
1,251,764
2,090,684

Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes in Net Position
Primary Government
Governmental
Activities

$

Business-type
Activities

(2,465,876) $
(6,658,899)
(968,323)
(861,693)
(1,450,466)
(119,224)
(350,909)
(12,875,390)

(12,875,390)

$

8,290,873
3,341,214
39,392
1,422,392
139,690
10,195
419,226
3,427,200
17,090,182
4,214,792
40,055,767
44,270,559

-

Total

$

1,464,005
1,053,932
2,517,937
2,517,937

$

140,847
19,555
340,331
(3,427,200)
(2,926,467)
(408,530)
46,930,241
46,521,711 $

(2,465,876)
(6,658,899)
(968,323)
(861,693)
(1,450,466)
(119,224)
(350,909)
(12,875,390)

1,464,005
1,053,932
2,517,937
(10,357,453)

8,290,873
3,341,214
39,392
1,422,392
280,537
29,750
759,557
14,163,715
3,806,262
86,986,008
90,792,270
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Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Balance Sheet-Governmental Funds
June 30, 2020
Morehead
Municipal

General
Fund
Assets:
Cash and investments
Restricted cash and investments
Receivables (net)
Inventories
Prepaid items
Total assets

$

$

6,105,426
400,629
2,881,562
5,088
10,576
9,403,281

$

342,361
263,461
605,822

$

$

Campus

Governmental

Capital
Project
Fund

Capital
Project
Fund

6,429,919
6,429,919

$

938,302
938,302

$

$

Totals

1,169,356
173,861
194,369
1,537,586

$

265,822
265,822

$

$

13,704,701
574,490
3,075,931
5,088
10,576
17,370,786

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources,
and Fund Balances
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities
Accrued salaries
Total liabilities

$

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Prepaid taxes and fees
Property taxes receivable
Total deferred inflows of resources
Fund Balances:
Non Spendable:
Inventories
Prepaid items
Restricted:
Stabilization by State Statute
General government
Streets
Public safety
Recreation
Library
Committed:
Sidewalk construction
Recreation facilities development
Assigned:
Subsequent year's expenditures
Unassigned
Total fund balances
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and fund balances

$

1,546,485
263,461
1,809,946

514,641
157,953
672,594

-

-

514,641
157,953
672,594

5,088
10,576

-

-

5,088
10,576

2,881,562
7,797
372,585
3,279
16,967

5,491,617
-

1,271,764
-

2,881,562
6,771,178
372,585
3,279
16,967

139,560
39,049

-

-

139,560
39,049

915,277
3,733,125
8,124,865

5,491,617

1,271,764

915,277
3,733,125
14,888,246

9,403,281

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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$

6,429,919

$

1,537,586

$

17,370,786

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to Net
Position of Governmental Activities in the Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2020

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are
different because:
Total fund balances for governmental funds

$

Capital assets used in governmental activities are financial resources and,
therefore are not reported in the funds.

46,051,849

Deferred inflows of resources recorded in the funds for taxes and special
assessments receivable expenditures and therefore are considered unavailable:

635,994

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions are not reported in the funds

2,052,604

Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB are not reported in the funds

655,190

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore
are not reported in the funds.
Net pension liability (LGERS)
Total pension liability (LEOSSA)
Net OPEB liability

(12,171,575)
(3,427,355)
(1,223,768)
(2,786,160)
(162,243)

Accrued interest payable on long-term liabilities not recorded in the fund statements
Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB are not reported in the funds

(98,570)

Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions are not reported in the funds

(143,653)
$

Net position of governmental activities
See Notes to Financial Statements.
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14,888,246

44,270,559

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Statement of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020

Morehead
Municipal
Campus
Capital
Project
Fund

General
Fund
Revenue
Ad valorem taxes
Other taxes and licenses
Contributed capital
Unrestricted intergovernmental
Restricted intergovernmental
Permits and fees
Sales and services
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Total revenue

$

Expenditures
Current:
General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Library
Recreation
Parks
Disaster planning and recovery
Debt service:
Principal
Interest
Total expenditures
Revenue over
(under) expenditures
Other financing sources (uses)
Issuance of debt
Sales of capital assets
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing
sources (uses)
Net changes in fund balances
Fund balances:
Fund balances, beginning
Fund balances, ending

7,777,233
39,392
4,763,606
1,159,759
428,398
2,333,952
100,407
419,226
17,021,973

$

$

200,000
638,920
2,713
841,633

Totals
$

7,777,233
39,392
200,000
4,763,606
1,798,679
428,398
2,333,952
139,690
419,226
17,900,176

2,013,198
9,488,949
763,553
155,382
574,959
544,756
861,693

2,577,296
-

3,603,797
-

8,194,291
9,488,949
763,553
155,382
574,959
544,756
861,693

303,516
400,426
15,106,432

2,577,296

3,603,797

303,516
400,426
21,287,525

1,915,541

(2,540,726)

(2,762,164)

(3,387,349)

8,101
9,500
(3,132,913)

3,100,000
4,516,000
-

2,094
2,044,113
(9,500)

3,100,000
10,195
6,569,613
(3,142,413)

(3,115,312)

7,616,000

2,036,707

6,537,395

(1,199,771)

5,075,274

9,324,636
$

36,570
36,570

Governmental
Capital
Project
Fund

8,124,865

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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(725,457)

416,343
$

5,491,617

3,150,046

1,997,221
$

1,271,764

11,738,200
$

14,888,246

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in
Fund Balances of the Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:
Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds

$

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the Statement of
Activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and
reported as depreciation expense:
Increase in purchased capital assets, net of decrease in construction in progress
Depreciation expense

3,150,046

5,945,033
(1,482,063)

Cost of capital asset disposed of during the year, not recognized on modified
accrual basis

(177,217)

Net Changes in:
Contributions to the pension plan in the current fiscal year
are not included on the Statement of Activities

(243,649)

Pension and OPEB deferred outlows
included on the Statement of Activities
OPEB benefit payments and administrative costs made in the current fiscal year are
not included on the Statement of Activities

541,418

Pension and OPEB plan deferred inflows of resources

90,278

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not
reported as revenues in the funds:
Increase in deferred property taxes

513,640

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to governmental funds,
while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current financial
resources of governmental funds. Neither transaction has any effect on net assets.
Additions to long-term liabilities
Retirement of long-term liabilities
Accrued interest

(4,273,914)
1,378,127
49,517

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds:
Net pension expense (LGERS)
Net pension expense (LEOSSA)
Net OPEB expense

Total change in net position of governmental activities
See Notes to Financial Statements.
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(443,748)
(136,296)
(696,380)

$

4,214,792

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
General Fund-Annually Budgeted Major Funds
Statement of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance-Budget and Actual
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020

General Fund
Budget,
Original
Revenue
Ad valorem taxes
Other taxes
Unrestricted intergovernmental
Restricted intergovernmental
Permits and fees
Sales and services
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Total revenue

$

Expenditures
Current:
General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Recreation and parks
Library
Disaster planning and recovery
Debt service
Total expenditures
Revenue over (under) expenditures
Other financing sources (uses)
Sale of capital assets
Transfers in
Transfers out
Contingency
Fund balance appropriated
Total other financing sources (uses)
Revenue and other financing uses
over expenditures and other
financing uses

Budget,
Final

7,644,075
30,000
4,375,000
490,254
310,000
2,171,314
97,000
19,000
15,136,643

$

Actual

7,644,075
30,000
4,375,000
2,018,283
310,000
2,181,314
97,000
405,615
17,061,287

$

7,777,233
39,392
4,763,606
1,154,307
428,398
2,333,952
100,407
424,678
17,021,973

$

133,158
9,392
388,606
(863,976)
118,398
152,638
3,407
19,063
(39,314)

1,474,096
9,974,709
1,088,944
1,222,746
210,753
528,045
14,499,293

2,729,256
9,598,646
935,810
1,173,754
211,988
1,282,300
703,965
16,635,719

2,013,198
9,488,949
763,553
1,119,715
155,382
861,693
703,942
15,106,432

716,058
109,697
172,257
54,039
56,606
420,607
23
1,529,287

637,350

425,568

1,915,541

1,489,973

8,101
9,500
(3,132,913)
(3,115,312)

4,201
96,380
(2,790,325)
(2,689,744)

2,000
9,500
(929,910)
(203,000)
484,060
(637,350)

$

Variance
with Final
Budget

-

3,900
9,500
(3,132,913)
(96,380)
2,790,325
(425,568)

$

-

(1,199,771)

Fund balance, beginning

9,324,636

Fund balance, ending

$

Note: As of June 30, 2019, the Fire/EMS District Fund closed into the General Fund.
See Notes to Financial Statements.
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8,124,865

$

(1,199,771)

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2020
Water and
Sewer Fund
Assets
Current assets
Cash and investments
Restricted cash and investments
Receivables
Inventories
Total current assets

$

Noncurrent assets
Notes receivable
Capital assets, net
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Contributions to pension plan
OPEB deferrals
Total deferred outflows of resources
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Current maturities of long-term debt
Customer deposits
Accrued salaries
Accrued compensated absences-current portion
Accrued interest payable
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Accrued compensated absences-long-term portion
Installment notes
Net pension liability
Total OPEB liability
Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Pension deferrals
OPEB deferrals
Total deferred inflows of resources
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted
Total net position

$

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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7,244,381
127,119
1,472,334
253,538
9,097,372

Solid Waste
Fund

$

330,170
466,417
796,587

Totals

$

7,574,551
127,119
1,938,751
253,538
9,893,959

57,970
54,235,694
54,293,664
63,391,036

153,154
153,154
949,741

57,970
54,388,848
54,446,818
64,340,777

330,894
135,172
466,066

7,955
4,770
12,725

338,849
139,942
478,791

714,174
1,213,750
614,685
43,851
80,237
44,038
2,710,735

68,989
809
3,035
72,833

783,163
1,213,750
614,685
44,660
83,272
44,038
2,783,568

14,161
14,282,750
562,417
574,815
15,434,143
18,144,878

536
13,211
20,287
34,034
106,867

14,697
14,282,750
575,628
595,102
15,468,177
18,251,745

24,492
20,336
44,828

566
718
1,284

25,058
21,054
46,112

38,739,194
6,928,202
45,667,396

153,154
701,161
854,315

38,892,348
7,629,363
46,521,711

$

$

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Proprietary Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020

Water and
Sewer Fund
Operating revenue
Charges for sales and services
Miscellaneous
Total operating revenue

$

Operating expenses
Cost of sales and services
Depreciation
Total operating expenses

7,634,495
339,769
7,974,264

Solid Waste
Fund
$

1,120,811
562
1,121,373

Totals
$

8,755,306
340,331
9,095,637

5,392,255
1,777,886
7,170,141

999,365
35,343
1,034,708

6,391,620
1,813,229
8,204,849

804,123

86,665

890,788

Nonoperating revenue (expense)
Interest revenue
Restricted intergovernmental
Sale of surplus property
Disaster planning and recovery
Interest expense and fiscal charges
Total nonoperating revenue (expense)

133,401
19,555
102,425
(354,538)
(99,157)

7,446
7,183
960,646
975,275

140,847
7,183
19,555
1,063,071
(354,538)
876,118

Income before contributions and transfers

704,966

Operating income

Contributed capital
Contributed assets
Transfers out:
Morehead Municipal Campus Capital Projects Fund
Total contributed capital and transfers out

1,061,940

373,000
878,764

-

(3,427,200)
(2,175,436)

Change in net position

$

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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45,667,396

(3,427,200)
(2,175,436)

1,061,940

47,137,866

Net position, ending June 30

373,000
878,764

-

(1,470,470)

Net position (deficit), beginning of year, July 1

1,766,906

(408,530)

(207,625)
$

854,315

46,930,241
$

46,521,711

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020

Enterprise Funds

Page 1 of 2
Water and
Sewer Fund
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Cash received from customers
Cash paid to suppliers for
goods and services
Cash paid to employees
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities

$

$

(3,182,562)
(1,782,346)

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities:
Disaster planning and recovery
Transfers out
Restricted intergovernmental
Net cash provided by (used in)
noncapital financing activities
Cash Flows from Capital and Related
Financing Activities:
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Contributions-capital project funds
Sale of surplus property
Principal paid on long-term debt
Interest paid on long-term debt
Net cash used in capital and
related financing activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Interest on investments

(Continued)
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$

9,174,897
(4,587,089)
(1,826,990)

(609,812)

2,760,818

7,641
(3,427,200)
-

925,353
7,183

932,994
(3,427,200)
7,183

(3,419,559)

932,536

(2,487,023)

(3,636,233)
373,000
19,555
(1,211,750)
(351,313)

-

(3,636,233)
373,000
19,555
(1,211,750)
(351,313)

(4,806,741)

-

(4,806,741)

7,446

7,371,500

140,847

330,170

12,093,769
$

839,359

3,370,630

(4,722,269)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning

Total

(1,404,527)
(44,644)

133,401

Net increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, ending

8,335,538

Solid Waste
Fund

(4,392,099)

$

330,170

12,093,769
$

7,701,670

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
Proprietary Funds

Page 2 of 2
Water and
Sewer Fund
Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net
Cash Provided By Operating Activities
Operating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to
net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Change in assets, deferred outflows of
resources, and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in receivables
(Increase) in Inventory
(Increase) in deferred outflows of resources
Increase in net pension liability
Increase in OPEB liability
(Decrease) in deferred inflows of resources
Increase (Decrease) in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Increase in customer deposits
Increase in accrued salaries
Increase in accrued compensated absences
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities

$

804,123

Enterprise Funds
Solid Waste
Fund

$

1,777,886

$

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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86,665

Total

$

35,343

890,788

1,813,229

346,863
(55,412)
(71,012)
60,139
143,671
(10,238)

(282,014)
(3,050)
6,387
(408)

64,849
(55,412)
(74,062)
66,526
143,671
(10,646)

323,916
14,411
9,569
26,714

(452,824)
89

(128,908)
14,411
9,569
26,803

3,370,630

$

(609,812) $

2,760,818
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NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These notes are intended to communicate information necessary for a fair presentation of
financial position and results of operations that are not readily apparent from, or cannot be
included in, the financial statements themselves. The notes supplement the financial
statements, are an integral part thereof, and are intended to be read in conjunction with the
financial statements.
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Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Notes to Financial Statements
Note 1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Town of Morehead City, North Carolina (the City) was incorporated in 1858 and operates under the
Council-Manager form of government. Services include police, fire and EMS, highways and streets,
cultural and recreation, planning and inspections, water and sewer, solid waste disposal, and general and
administrative services.
The accounting policies of the City conform to generally accepted accounting principles as applicable to
governments. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting
body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The following is a
summary of the more significant accounting policies:
A. Reporting Entity
The Town of Morehead City is a municipal corporation that is governed by an elected mayor and a fivemember council. Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP)
require that the reporting entity include (1) the primary government, (2) organizations for which the
primary government is financially accountable and (3) other organizations for which the nature and
significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that exclusion would cause the
reporting entity’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. The criteria provided in GASB
Codification Section 2100 have been considered and the City has no component units or entities for
which it is considered to be financially accountable, and is not itself a component unit of any other
government.
B. Basis of Presentation
Government-wide Statements: The statement of net position and the statement of activities display
information about the primary government net position. These statements include the financial activities of
the overall government. Eliminations have been made to minimize the double counting of internal
activities except that interfund services provided and used are not eliminated in the process of
consolidation. These statements distinguish between the governmental and business-type activities of the
City. Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and
other non-exchange transactions. Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees
charged to external parties.
The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for
the different business-type activities of the City and for each function of the City’s governmental activities
except that interfund services provided and used are not eliminated in the process of consolidation. Direct
expenses are those that are specifically associated with a program or function and, therefore, are clearly
identifiable to a particular function. Indirect expense allocations that have been made in the funds have
been reversed for the statement of activities. Program revenues include (a) fees and charges paid by the
recipients of goods or services offered by the programs and (b) grants and contributions that are
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program. Revenues that are
not classified as program revenues, including all taxes, are presented as general revenues.
Fund Financial Statements: The fund financial statements provide information about the City’s funds.
Separate statements for each fund category – governmental and proprietary – are presented. The
emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental and enterprise funds, each displayed in a
separate column. All remaining governmental and enterprise funds are aggregated and reported as nonmajor funds.
Proprietary fund operating revenues, such as charges for services, result from exchange transactions
associated with the principal activity of the fund. Exchange transactions are those in which each party
receives and gives up essentially equal values. Non-operating revenues, such as subsidies result from
non-exchange transactions. Other non-operating revenues are ancillary activities such as investment
earnings.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

The City reports the following major governmental fund:
General Fund - The General Fund is the general operating fund of the City. The General Fund accounts
for all financial resources except those that are required to be accounted for in another fund. The primary
revenue sources are ad valorem taxes, State grants, and various other taxes and licenses. The primary
expenditures are for public safety, street maintenance and construction, parks and recreation, and
general government services.
Capital Project Funds - Capital Project Funds are used to account for financial resources to be used for
the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities. The City has two major capital project funds:
Morehead Municipal Campus Capital Project Fund and the Government Capital Projects Fund.
The City reports the following major enterprise funds:
Water and Sewer Enterprise Fund - The Water and Sewer Enterprise Fund accounts for the water and
sewer activities of the City. The primary revenue consists of user charges for services. The primary
expenses are for pumping and distribution of water to and collection and treatment of sewage from the
City’s customers. There is one Capital Project Fund and one Capital Reserve Funds which are
consolidated with the Water and Sewer Enterprise Fund (the operating fund) for financial reporting
purposes.
Solid Waste Enterprise Fund - The Solid Waste Enterprise Fund accounts for the solid waste disposal
activities of the City. The primary revenue consists of user charges for services. The primary expenses
are for collection and disposal of solid waste for the City’s customers. This fund is not a major fund this
year but is being reported as such for consistency purposes.
C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting
In accordance with North Carolina General Statutes, all non-proprietary type funds of the City are
maintained during the year using the modified accrual basis of accounting.
Government-wide and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements. The government-wide and proprietary fund
financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual
basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time
liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take place. Non-exchange transactions,
in which the City gives (or receives) value without directly receiving (or giving) equal value in exchange,
include property taxes, grants, and donations. On an accrual basis, revenue from property taxes is
recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied. Revenue from grants and donations is
recognized in the fiscal year in which all the eligibility requirements have been satisfied. Amounts
reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, or
privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions,
including special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather
than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the
City enterprise funds are charges to customers for sales and services. The City also recognizes as
operating revenue the portion of tap fees intended to recover the cost of connecting new customers to the
water and sewer system. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services,
administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this
definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.
Governmental Fund Financial Statements. Governmental funds are reported using the current financial
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method,
revenues are recognized when measurable and available. Expenditures are recorded when the related
fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term debt, claims and
judgments, OPEB and pension, and compensated absences, which are recognized as expenditures to
the extent they have matured. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in
governmental funds. Proceeds of general long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are
reported as other financing sources.
The City considers all revenues available if they are collected within 60 days after year-end, except for
property taxes. Ad valorem taxes receivable are not accrued as revenue because the amount is not
susceptible to accrual. At June 30, taxes receivable for property other than motor vehicles are materially
past due and are not considered to be an available resource to finance the operations of the current year.
Also, as of September 1, 2013, State law altered the procedures for the assessment and collection of
property taxes on registered motor vehicles in North Carolina. Effective with this change in the law, the
State of North Carolina is responsible for billing and collecting the property taxes on registered motor
vehicles on behalf of all municipalities and special tax districts. Property taxes are due when vehicles are
registered. The billed taxes are applicable to the fiscal year in which they are received. Uncollected taxes
that were billed in periods prior to September 1, 2013 and for limited registration plates are shown as a
receivable in these financial statements and are offset by deferred inflows of resources.
Sales taxes and certain intergovernmental revenue, such as the beer and wine tax, collected and held by
the State at year-end on behalf of the City are recognized as revenue. Sales taxes are considered a
shared revenue for the Town of Morehead City because the tax is levied by Carteret County and then
remitted to and distributed by the State. Most intergovernmental revenues and sales and services are not
susceptible to accrual because generally they are not measurable until received in cash. All taxes,
including those dedicated for specific purposes are reported as general revenues rather than program
revenues. Under the terms of grant agreements, the City funds certain programs by a combination of
specific cost-reimbursement grants, categorical block grants, and general revenues. Thus, when program
expenses are incurred, there is both restricted and unrestricted net position available to finance the
program. It is the City’s policy to first apply cost-reimbursement grant resources to such programs,
followed by categorical block grants, and then general revenues.
D. Budgetary Data
The City’s budgets are adopted as required by the North Carolina General Statutes. An annual budget is
adopted for the General Fund and selected Enterprise Funds. All annual appropriations lapse at the fiscal
year-end. Project funds utilize project ordinances. All budgets are prepared using the modified accrual
basis of accounting. Expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations at the functional level for all
annually budgeted funds and at the project level for the multi-year funds. Budget amounts are as
originally adopted, or as amended by the City as of June 30, 2020. During the year, several amendments
to the original budget became necessary. The budget ordinance must be adopted by July 1 of the fiscal
year or the governing board must adopt an interim budget that covers that time until the annual ordinance
can be adopted.
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The following types of budgets have been adopted by the following funds:
Annual Ordinance Funds
General Fund
Water and Sewer Fund
Solid Waste Fund

Project Ordinance Funds
Morehead Municipal Campus Capital Project Fund
*Water and Sewer System Development Capital Reserve Fund
Government Capital Projects Fund
**Solid Waste Capital Project Fund
*Water and Sewer New Capital Project Fund

*Funds considered a part of the City’s Water and Sewer Fund.
** Fund considered a part of the City’s Solid Waste Fund.
A budget calendar is included in the North Carolina General Statutes which prescribes the last day on
which certain steps of the budget procedure are to be performed. The following schedule lists the tasks to
be performed and the date by which each is required to be completed:
April 30

Each department head will transmit to the budget officer the budget requests
and revenue estimates for their department for the budget year.

June 1

The budget and the budget message shall be submitted to the governing board.
The public hearing on the budget should be scheduled at this time.

July 1

The budget ordinance shall be adopted by the governing board.

E. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources, and Fund Equity
Deposits and Investments
All deposits of the City are made in board-designated official depositories and are secured as required by
State law [G.S. 159-31]. The City may designate, as an official depository, any bank or savings
association whose principal office is located in North Carolina. Also, the City may establish time deposit
accounts such as NOW and SuperNOW accounts, money market accounts, and certificates of deposit.
State law [G.S. 159-30(c)] authorizes the City to invest in obligations of the United States or obligations
fully guaranteed both as to principal and interest by the United States, obligations of the State of North
Carolina, bonds and notes of any North Carolina local government or public authority, obligations of
certain non-guaranteed federal agencies, certain high quality issues of commercial paper and bankers’
acceptances, and the North Carolina Capital Management Trust (NCCMT). The City’s investments are
reported at fair value. The NCCMT Government Portfolio, a SEC-registered (2a-7) money market mutual
fund, is measured at fair value. The NCCMT Term Portfolio is a bond fund, has no rating and is measured
at fair value. As of June 30, 2020, the Term portfolio has a duration of .15 years. Because the NCCMT
Government and Term Portfolios have a weighted average maturity of less than 90 days, they are
presented as cash equivalents.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The City pools money from several funds to facilitate disbursement and investment and to maximize
investment income and considers all cash and investments to be cash and cash equivalents. The City
considers all highly liquid investments (including restricted assets) with a maturity of three months or less
when purchased to be cash and cash equivalents.
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Restricted Assets
The USDA requires debt reserve accounts to be set up. The City maintains these accounts as separate
bank accounts or certificates of deposit. Powell Bill funds are also classified as restricted cash because
they can be expended only for the purposes outlined in G.S. 136-41.1 through 136-41.4.
Town of Morehead City Restricted Cash
Governmental Activities:
General Fund
USDA debt reserves
Restricted donations
Inspection fees
Drug enforcement assets

$

Governmental Capital Projects Fund
Water rescue equipment
Powell Bill

352,334
34,905
10,372
3,018
400,629
173,775
86
173,861

Total governmental activities

574,490

Business-Type Activities:
Water and Sewer Fund
USDA debt reserves

127,119

Total restricted cash

$

701,609

Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable
In accordance with State law [G.S. 105-347 and G.S. 159-13(a)], the City levies ad valorem taxes on
property other than motor vehicles on July 1st, the beginning of the fiscal year. The taxes are due on
September 1st (lien date); however, interest does not accrue until the following January 6th. These taxes
are based on the assessed values as of January 1, 2019. As allowed by State law, the City has
established a schedule of discounts that apply to taxes that are paid prior to the due date. In the City’s
General Fund, ad valorem tax revenues are reported net of such discounts.
Allowances for Doubtful Accounts
All receivables that historically experience uncollectible accounts are shown net of an allowance for
doubtful accounts. This amount is estimated by analyzing the percentage of receivables that were written
off in prior years.
Inventories and Prepaid Items
The inventories of the City are valued at cost (first-in, first-out), which approximates market value or net
realizable value. The City’s General Fund inventory consists of expendable supplies that are recorded as
expenditures as used rather than when purchased.
The inventories of the City’s enterprise funds consist of materials and supplies held for subsequent use.
The cost of these inventories is expensed when consumed rather than when purchased.
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Inventories and Prepaid Items (Continued)
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as
prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements and expensed as the items are
used.
Capital Assets
Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than a
certain cost and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Minimum capitalization costs are as
follows: equipment, vehicles, building and other improvements, $5,000; infrastructure, $100,000; and
intangibles with an estimated useful life in excess of one year, $25,000. All purchased capital assets are
valued at cost where historical records are available and at an estimated historical cost where no
historical records exist. Improvements are capitalized and depreciated using the straight-line method over
the remaining useful lives of the related fixed assets, as applicable. Donated capital assets received prior
to June 15, 2015 are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of donation. Donated capital assets
received after June 15, 2015 are recorded at acquisition value. All other purchased or constructed capital
assets are reported at cost or estimated historical cost. The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that
do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend assets’ lives are not capitalized.
Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:
Estimated
Useful Lives

Asset Class
Buildings and system
Infrastructure
Equipment and vehicles
Operating plant

10 – 50 years
20 – 50 years
3 – 20 years
20 – 50 years

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources
In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, Deferred Outflows of
Resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be
recognized as an expense or expenditure until then. The City has two items that meets this criterion,
pension and OPEB deferrals for the 2020 fiscal year. In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial
position/balance sheet will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This
separate financial statement element, Deferred Inflows of Resources, represents an acquisition of net
position/fund balance that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as revenue until then.
The City has several items that meet the criterion for this category - prepaid taxes and fees, property
taxes receivable, and pension and OPEB deferrals.
Long-Term Obligations
In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements,
long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental
activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position. Bond premiums and
discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-line method that
approximates the effective interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond
premiums or discount. Bond issuance costs, except for prepaid insurance costs, are expensed in the
reporting period in which they are incurred. Prepaid insurance costs are expensed using the straight-line
method over the life of the debt.
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Long-Term Obligations
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as
well as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as
other financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources
while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not
withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures.
Compensated Absences
The vacation policy of the City provides for the accumulation of up to thirty days earned vacation leave
with such leave being fully vested when earned. For the City’s government-wide and proprietary funds, an
expense and a liability for compensated absences and the salary-related payments are recorded as the
leave is earned. For the governmental funds financial statements, the City records the liquidation of the
liability in the fund in which the underlying salary is paid, primarily the General Fund. The City has
assumed a last-in, first-out method of using accumulated compensated time. The portion of that time that
is estimated to be used in the next fiscal year has been designated as a current liability in the
government-wide financial statements.
The City’s sick leave policy provides for an unlimited accumulation of earned sick leave. Sick leave does
not vest, but any unused sick leave accumulated at the time of retirement may be used in the
determination of length of service for retirement benefit purposes. Since the City does not have any
obligation for the accumulated sick leave until it’s actually taken, no accrual for sick leave has been made.
Net Position/Fund Balances
Net Position
Net position in government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are classified as net
investment in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted. Restricted net position represents constraints on
resources that are either externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of
other governments or imposed by law through State statute.
Fund Balances
In the governmental fund financial statements, fund balance is composed of five classifications designed
to disclose the hierarchy of constraints placed on how fund balance can be spent.
The governmental fund types classify fund balances as follows:
Nonspendable Fund Balance - This classification includes amounts that cannot be spent because they
are either (a) not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.
Inventories and prepaids - portion of fund balance that is not an available resource because it
represents the year-end balance of ending inventories and prepaid items, which are not
spendable resources.
Restricted Fund Balance - This classification includes amounts that are restricted to specific purposes
externally imposed by creditors or imposed by law.
Restricted for Stabilization by State Statute - portion of fund balance that is restricted by State
Statute [G.S. 159-8(a)]. This primarily represents outstanding receivables and cannot be
budgeted in the next year.
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Fund Balances (Continued)
Restricted for Streets - Powell Bill portion of fund balance that is restricted by revenue source
for street construction and maintenance expenditures. This amount represents the balance of
the total unexpended Powell Bill Funds.
Restricted for Public Safety - portion of fund balance that is restricted by revenue source for
various public safety activities, drug law enforcement, and the USDA required loan reserve
balance.
Restricted for Recreation - portion of fund balance restricted by revenue source for various
recreation projects and the USDA required loan reserve balance.
Restricted for General Government - portion of fund balance restricted by revenue source for
various general government projects.
Restricted for Library - portion of fund balance restricted by revenue source for library.
Committed Fund Balance – portion of fund balance that can only be used for specific purposes imposed
by majority vote by quorum of Town Council (highest level of decision-making authority). The Council can,
by adoption of an ordinance prior to the end of the fiscal year, commit fund balance. Once adopted, the
limitation imposed by the ordinance remains in place until a similar action is taken (the adoption of
another ordinance) to remove or revise the limitation.
Committed for Sidewalk Construction - portion of fund balance that can only be used for
sidewalk construction.
Committed for Recreation Facilities Development - portion of fund balance that can only be
used for acquiring, maintaining, or improving subdivision recreational land or facilities.
Assigned Fund Balance - portion of fund balance that Town of Morehead City intends to use for specific
purposes.
Subsequent year’s expenditures – portion of fund balance that is appropriated in the next year’s
budget that is not already classified in restricted or committed. The governing body approves
the appropriation; however, the budget ordinance authorizes the manager to modify the
appropriations by resource or appropriation in certain circumstances.
Unassigned fund balance - the portion of fund balance that has not been restricted, committed, or
assigned to specific purposes or other funds.
The City has a revenue spending policy that provides guidance for programs with multiple revenue
sources. The Finance Officer will use resources in the following hierarchy: bond proceeds, federal funds,
State funds, local non-town funds, town funds. For purposes of fund balance classification expenditures
are to be spent from restricted fund balance first, followed in-order by committed fund balance, assigned
fund balance and lastly unassigned fund balance. The Finance Officer has the authority to deviate from
this policy if it is in the best interest of the City.
The City has also adopted a minimum fund balance policy for the General Fund which instructs
management to conduct the business of the City in such a manner that available unassigned fund
balance is in the range of $2,500,000 to $2,750,000.
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Fund Balances (Continued)
Any portion of the general fund balance in excess of $2,750,000 may be appropriated for one-time
expenditures and may not be used for any purpose that would obligate the City in a future budget.
Defined Benefit Cost-Sharing Plans
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the
Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System (LGERS) and additions to/deductions from LGERS’
fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by LGERS. For this
purpose, plan member contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. The
Town of Morehead City’s employer contributions are recognized when due and the Town of Morehead
City has a legal requirement to provide the contributions. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due
and payable in accordance with the terms of LGERS. Investments are reported at fair value.
For purposes of measuring the net pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the
Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund (FRSWPF) and additions to/deductions from
FRSWPF’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by
FRSWPF. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair
value.
Note 2.

Deposits and Investments

1. Deposits
All the deposits of the City are either insured or collateralized by using one of two methods. Under the
Dedicated Method, all deposits that exceed the federal depository insurance coverage level are
collateralized with securities held by the City’s agent in the City’s name. Under the Pooling Method, which
is a collateral pool, all uninsured deposits are collateralized with securities held by the State Treasurer’s
agent in the name of the State Treasurer. Since the State Treasurer is acting in a fiduciary capacity for
the City, these deposits are considered to be held by the City’s agent in the City’s name.
The amount of the pledged collateral is based on an approved averaging method for non-interest bearing
deposits and the actual current balance for interest bearing deposits. Depositories using the Pooling
Method report to the State Treasurer the adequacy of their pooled collateral covering uninsured deposits.
The State Treasurer does not confirm this information with the City, or the escrow agent. Because of the
inability to measure the exact amounts of collateral pledged for the City under the Pooling Method, the
potential exists for under-collateralization. This risk may increase in periods of high cash flows. However,
the State Treasurer of North Carolina enforces strict standards of financial stability for each depository
that collateralizes public deposits under the Pooling Method. The City has no formal policy regarding
custodial credit risk for deposits, but relies on the State Treasurer to enforce standards of minimum
capitalization for all pooling method financial institutions and to monitor them for compliance. The City
complies with the provisions of G.S. 159-31 when designating official depositories and verifying that
deposits are properly secured.
At June 30, 2020, the City’s deposits had a carrying amount of $7,754,821 and bank balance of
$7,868,579. Of the bank balance, $250,000 was covered by federal depository insurance, and
$7,618,579 was covered by collateral held under the Pooling Method. At June 30, 2020, the City’s petty
cash fund totaled $6,750.
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2. Investments
At June 30, 2020, the City’s investment balances were as follows:

Investments by Type
NC Capital Management Trust –
Government Portfolio*
NC Capital Management Trust –
Term Portfolio**
Total

Valuation
Measurement
Method
Fair Value
Level 1
Fair Value
Level 1

Book Value at
6/30/2020
538,768

Maturity
-

13,680,522

-

$ 14,219,290

* The NC Capital Management Trust Government Portfolio is an SEC registered (2a-7) money market investment
pool with a weighted average maturity of less than 90 days, and are presented as an investment with a maturity of
less than 6 months.

**As of June 30, 2020, The NC Capital Management Trust Term Portfolio has a duration of .11 years. Because the
NCCMT Term Portfolio has a weighted average maturity of less than 90 days, and are presented as an investment
with a maturity of less than 6 months.
All investments are measured using the market approach: using prices and other relevant information
generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or a group of assets.
Level of fair value hierarchy: Level 1 debt securities are valued using directly observable, quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets.
Interest Rate Risk. The City has no formal investment policy regarding interest rate risk.
Credit risk. The City has no formal policy regarding credit risk, but has internal management procedures
that limits the City’s investments to the provisions of G.S. 159-30 and restricts the purchase of securities
to the highest possible ratings whenever particular types of securities are rated. The City’s investment in
the NC Capital Management Trust Government Portfolio carried a credit rating of AAAm by Standard &
Poor’s as of June 30, 2020. The City’s investment in the NC Capital Management Trust Term Portfolio is
unrated. The Term Portfolio is authorized to invest in obligations of the U.S. government and agencies,
and in high grade money market instruments as permitted under North Carolina General Statutes 159-30
as amended.
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Receivables at June 30, 2020, consist of the following:
Major
Water &
Sewer Fund

Major
General
Receivables
Local option sales tax

$

Property tax
Allowance for
uncollectibles

Accounts receivable:
Services
Allowance for
uncollectibles

Due from governmental
agencies
Net total receivables

Note 4.

$

937,205

$

-

Major
Solid
Waste Fund
$

Governmental
Capital Project
Fund

-

$

Total

-

$

937,205

185,226

-

-

-

185,226

(27,273)
157,953

-

-

-

(27,273)
157,953

668,932

1,377,549

431,124

194,369

2,671,974

668,932

1,377,549

431,124

194,369

2,671,974

1,117,472
2,881,562

$

94,785
1,472,334

$

35,293
466,417

$

194,369

$

1,247,550
5,014,682

Capital Assets

Primary Government
Capital asset activity for the City for the year ended June 30, 2020, was as follows:
Beginning
Balances
Governmental activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
Intangible assets
Construction in progress
Total capital assets not being depreciated
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and other improvements
Infrastructure
Equipment and vehicles
Total capital assets being depreciated
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and other improvements
Infrastructure
Equipment and vehicles
Total accumulated depreciation

$

Total capital assets being depreciated, net
Governmental activity capital assets, net

12,802,000
562,831
663,746
14,028,577

Increases

$

3,151,416
3,151,416

Ending
Balances

Decreases

$

$
(79,985)
(79,985)

26,740,959
6,879,317
7,399,200
41,019,476

847,567
1,383,123
642,912
2,873,602

(107,121)
(350,349)
(457,470)

27,481,405
8,262,440
7,691,763
43,435,608

(7,533,614)
(1,457,314)
(4,291,029)
(13,281,957)

(794,323)
(145,176)
(542,564)
(1,482,063)

280,253
280,253

(8,327,937)
(1,602,490)
(4,553,340)
(14,483,767)

27,737,519
$

12,802,000
562,831
3,735,177
17,100,008

41,766,096
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Beginning
Balances

Business-type activities:
Water and Sewer Fund:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
$
Intangible assets
Construction in progress
Total capital assets not being depreciated
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and other improvements
Equipment and vehicles
Operating plant
Total capital assets being depreciated
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and other improvements
Equipment and vehicles
Operating plant
Total accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets being depreciated, net
Water and Sewer Fund capital assets, net
Solid Waste Fund:
Capital assets being depreciated:
Equipment and vehicles
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Equipment and vehicles
Total capital assets being depreciated, net
Solid Waste Fund capital assets, net
Business-type activity capital assets, net
$

937,411
405,580
1,342,991

Increases

$

Ending
Balances

Decreases

927,242
1,625,629
2,552,871

$

-

$

937,411
1,332,822
1,625,629
3,895,862

6,414,871
2,517,986
66,697,075
75,629,932

310,317
654,957
995,333
1,960,607

(124,786)
(124,786)

6,725,188
3,048,157
67,692,408
77,465,753

(947,468)
(1,896,736)
(22,621,062)
(25,465,266)
50,164,666
51,507,657

(147,142)
(178,460)
(1,452,284)
(1,777,886)

117,231
117,231

(1,094,610)
(1,957,965)
(24,073,346)
(27,125,921)
50,339,832
54,235,694

415,345
(226,847)
188,498
188,498
51,696,155

(35,343)

-

415,345

-

$

(262,190)
153,155
153,155
54,388,849

Depreciation expense was charged to the functions/programs of the primary government as follows:
Governmental activities:
General government
Public safety
Highway and streets
Cultural and recreation
Library

$

$
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Construction Commitments
The City has active construction projects as of June 30, 2020.

Project

Remaining
Commitment

Spent to Date

New City Hall Construction
LS #20 Rehabilitation
Bridges Street 14th-20th Paving Improvements
AMR Infrastructure
Phase III Munis Revenue, AR, EAM and WO Implementation

$

$

1,367,402
285,585
134,798
1,499,685
212,341
3,499,811

$

$

5,107,140
424,610
114,591
50,000
320,540
6,016,881

a. Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System
Plan Description. The City is a participating employer in the statewide LGERS, a cost-sharing multipleemployer defined benefit pension plan administered by the State of North Carolina. LGERS membership
is comprised of general employees and local law enforcement officers (LEOs) of participating local
government entities. Article 3 of G.S. Chapter 128 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit
provisions to the North Carolina General Assembly. Management of the plan is vested in the LGERS
Board of Trustees, which consists of 13 members - nine appointed by the Governor, one appointed by the
State Senate, one appointed by the State House of Representatives, and the State Treasurer and State
Superintendent, who serve as ex-officio members. The LGERS is included in the Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report (CAFR) for the State of North Carolina. The State’s CAFR includes financial statements
and required supplementary information for LGERS. That report may be obtained by writing to the Office
of the State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, North Carolina 27699-1410, by calling (919)
981-5454, or at www.osc.nc.gov.
Benefits Provided. LGERS provides retirement and survivor benefits. Retirement benefits are determined
as 1.85% of the member’s average final compensation times the member’s years of creditable service. A
member’s average final compensation is calculated as the average of a member’s four highest
consecutive years of compensation. Plan members are eligible to retire with full retirement benefits at age
65 with five years of creditable service, at age 60 with 25 years of creditable service, or at any age with
30 years of creditable service. Plan members are eligible to retire with partial retirement benefits at age
50 with 20 years of creditable service or at age 60 with five years of creditable service (age 55 for
firefighters). Survivor benefits are available to eligible beneficiaries of members who die while in active
service or within 180 days of their last day of service and who have either completed 20 years of
creditable service regardless of age (15 years of creditable service for firefighters and rescue squad
members who are killed in the line of duty) or have completed five years of service and have reached age
60. Eligible beneficiaries may elect to receive a monthly Survivor’s Alternate Benefit for life or a return of
the member’s contributions. The plan does not provide for automatic post-retirement benefit increases.
Increases are contingent upon actuarial gains of the plan.
LGERS plan members who are LEOs are eligible to retire with full retirement benefits at age 55 with five
years of creditable service as an officer, or at any age with 30 years of creditable service. LEO plan
members are eligible to retire with partial retirement benefits at age 50 with 15 years of creditable service
as an officer. Survivor benefits are available to eligible beneficiaries of LEO members who die while in
active service or within 180 days of their last day of service and who also have either completed 20 years
of creditable service regardless of age, or have completed 15 years of service as a LEO and have
reached age 50, or have completed five years of creditable service as a LEO and have reached age 55,
or have completed 15 years of creditable service as a LEO if killed in the line of duty.
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Eligible beneficiaries may elect to receive a monthly Survivor’s Alternate Benefit for life or a return of the
member’s contributions.
Contributions. Contribution provisions are established by General Statute 128-30 and may be amended
only by the North Carolina General Assembly. Town of Morehead City employees are required to
contribute 6% of their compensation. Employer contributions are actuarially determined and set annually
by the LGERS Board of Trustees. The Town of Morehead City’s contractually required contribution rate
for the year ended June 30, 2020, was 8.50% of compensation for law enforcement officers and 7.81%
for general employees and firefighters, actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with
employee contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year.
Contributions to the pension plan from the Town of Morehead City were $859,995 for the year ended
June 30, 2020. Contributions made after the measurement date of the net pension liability but before the
end of the City’s reporting period will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the
subsequent fiscal period rather than the current fiscal period.
Refunds of Contributions. Town employees who have terminated service as a contributing member of
LGERS, may file an application for a refund of their contributions. By state law, refunds to members with
at least five years of service include 4% interest. State law requires a 60 day waiting period after service
termination before the refund may be paid. The acceptance of a refund payment cancels the individual’s
right to employer contributions or any other benefit provided by LGERS.
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows
of Resources Related to Pensions
At June 30, 2020, the City reported a liability of $4,002,983 for its proportionate share of the LGERS net
pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2019. The total pension liability
used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31,
2018. The total pension liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2019
utilizing update procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. The City’s proportion of the net
pension liability was based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of future payroll covered by the
pension plan, relative to the projected future payroll covered by the pension plan of all participating
LGERS employers, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2019, the City’s proportion was 0.14658%, which
was a decrease of 0.00086% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2018.
For the year ended June 30, 2020, the City recognized pension expense of $1,728,752. At June 30,
2020, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
LGERS pensions from the following sources:
Deferred
Outflows of
Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes of assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on
pension plan investments
Changes in proportion and differences between Town
contributions and proportionate share of contributions
Town contributions subsequent to the measurement date
Total
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$

$

685,412
652,420

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources
$

-

97,639

-

859,995
2,295,466

168,711
168,711

$
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$859,995 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from Town
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a decrease of the net pension
liability in the year ended June 30, 2021. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:
Year ending June 30:
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

$

$

659,663
170,402
346,557
90,138
1,266,760

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2018 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:
Inflation

3.00%

Salary increases

3.50% to 8.10%, including inflation and productivity factor

Investment rate of return 7.00%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation

The plan currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, gender, employee group (i.e. general, law
enforcement officer) and health status (i.e. disabled and healthy). The current mortality rates are based
on published tables and based on studies that cover significant portions of the U.S. population. The
healthy mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future mortality improvements.
The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2018 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study prepared as of December 31, 2014.
Future ad hoc COLA amounts are not considered to be substantively automatic and are therefore not
included in the measurement.
The projected long-term investment returns and inflation assumptions are developed through review of
current and historical capital markets data, sell-side investment research, consultant whitepapers, and
historical performance of investment strategies. Fixed income return projections reflect current yields
across the U.S. Treasury yield curve and market expectations of forward yields projected and interpolated
for multiple tenors and over multiple year horizons. Global public equity return projections are established
through analysis of the equity risk premium and the fixed income return projections. Other asset
categories and strategies’ return projections reflect the foregoing and historical data analysis. These
projections are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The
target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class as of
June 30, 2020 are summarized in the following table:
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Long-Term Expected Real
Rate of Return

Target Allocation

Asset Class
Fixed Income
Global Equity
Real Estate
Alternatives
Credit
Inflation Protection
Total

1.4%
5.3%
4.3%
8.9%
6.0%
4.0%

29.0%
42.0%
8.0%
8.0%
7.0%
6.0%
100%

The information above is based on 30 year expectations developed with the consulting actuary for the
2018 asset, liability, and investment policy study for the North Carolina Retirement Systems, including
LGERS. The long-term nominal rates of return underlying the real rates of return are arithmetic
annualized figures. The real rates of return are calculated from nominal rates by multiplicatively
subtracting a long-term inflation assumption of 3.00%. All rates of return and inflation are annualized.
Discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be
made at the current contribution rate and that contributions from employers will be made at statutorily
required rates, actuarially determined. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of the current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
Sensitivity of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The
following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the discount
rate of 7.00 percent, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension asset or net
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower
(6.00 percent) or one percentage point higher (8.00 percent) than the current rate:
1% Decrease
(6.00%)
Town's proportionate share of the net pension
liability (asset)

$

Discount
Rate (7.00%)

9,155,560 $

1% Increase
(8.00%)

4,002,983 $

(279,848)

Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is
available in the separately issued CAFR for the State of North Carolina.
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b. Law Enforcement Officers’ Special Separation Allowance
1. Plan Description.
The Town of Morehead City administers a public employee retirement system (the Separation
Allowance), a single-employer defined benefit pension plan that provides retirement benefits to the City’s
qualified sworn law enforcement officers under the age of 62 who have completed at least 30 years of
creditable service or have attained 55 years of age and have completed five or more years of creditable
service. The Separation Allowance is equal to 0.85 percent of the annual equivalent of the base rate of
compensation most recently applicable to the officer for each year of creditable service. The retirement
benefits are not subject to any increases in salary or retirement allowances that may be authorized by the
General Assembly. Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit
provisions to the North Carolina General Assembly.
All full-time Town law enforcement officers are covered by the Separation Allowance. At December 31,
2018, the Separation Allowance’s membership consisted of:
Retirees receiving benefits
Active plan members
Total

5
38
43

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.
Basis of Accounting. The City has chosen to fund the Separation Allowance on a pay as you go basis.
Pension expenditures are made from the General Fund, which is maintained on the modified accrual
basis of accounting. Benefits are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the
plan.
The Separation Allowance has no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the following criteria which
are outlined in GASB Statement 73.
3. Actuarial Assumptions
The entry age normal actuarial cost method was used in the December 31, 2018 valuation. The total
pension liability in the December 31, 2018 actuarial valuation was determined using the following
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:
Inflation
Salary increases

2.50%
3.50% to 7.35%, including inflation and
productivity factor
3.26%

Discount rate

The discount rate is based on the S&P Municipal Bond 20 Year High Grade Rate Index as of
December 31, 2018.
Mortality rates are based on the following:
Deaths after Retirement (Healthy): RP-2014 Healthy Annuitant base rates projected to the 2015 using
MP-2015, projected forward generationally from 2015 using MP-2015. Rates are adjusted by 104% for
males and 100% for females.
Deaths before Retirement: RP-2014 Employee base rates projected to 2015 using MP-2015, projected
forward generationally from 2015 using MP-2015.
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Deaths after Retirement (Beneficiary): RP-2014 Healthy Annuitant base rates projected to 2015 using
MP-2015, projected forward generationally from 2015 using MP-2015. Rates are adjusted by 123% for
males and females.
Deaths after Retirement (Disabled): RP-2014 Disabled Retiree base rates projected to 2015 using MP2015, projected forward generationally from 2015 using MP-2015. Rates are adjusted by 103% for males
and 99% for females.
4. Contributions.
The City is required by Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 to provide these retirement benefits and has
chosen to fund the amounts necessary to cover the benefits earned on a pay as you go basis through
appropriations made in the General Fund operating budget. There were no contributions made by
employees. The City’s obligation to contribute to this plan is established and may be amended by the
North Carolina General Assembly. Administration costs of the Separation Allowance are financed through
investment earnings. The City paid $69,241 as benefits came due for the reporting period.
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows
of Resources Related to Pensions
At June 30, 2020, the City reported a total pension liability of $1,223,768. The total pension liability was
measured as of December 31, 2019 based on a December 31, 2018 actuarial valuation. The total
pension liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of December 31, 2019 utilizing update
procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. For the year ended June 30, 2020, the City
recognized pension expense of $99,956.
Deferred
Outflows of
Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes of assumptions
Town benefit payments and plan administrative expense made
subsequent to the measurement date
Total

$

$

37,077
23,771
35,139
95,987

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources
$

$

-

$35,139 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from benefit payments
made and administrative expenses incurred subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a
decrease of the total pension liability in the year ending June 30, 2021. Other amounts reported as
deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as
follows:
Years ending June 30:
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

$

$
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Sensitivity of the City’s total pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the
City’s total pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 3.26 percent, as well as what the City’s
total pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower
(2.26 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (4.26 percent) than the current rate:
1% Decrease
Discount
1% Increase
Rate (3.26%)
(2.26%)
(4.26%)
$ 1,329,842 $ 1,223,768 $ 1,126,674

Total pension liability

Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability
Law Enforcement Officers’ Special Separation Allowance
2019
Beginning balance
Service cost
Interest on the total pension liability
Differences between expected and actual experience in the
measurement of the total pension liability
Changes of assumptions or other inputs
Benefit payments
Ending balance of the total pension liability

$

$

1,087,472
54,924
38,246
78,707
37,933
(73,514)
1,223,768

The plan currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, and health status (i.e. disabled and healthy).
The current mortality rates are based on published tables and based on studies that cover significant
portions of the U.S. population. The healthy mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future
mortality improvements.
The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2018 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the period January 1, 2010 through December 31, 2014.
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Total Expense, Liabilities, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources of Related to Pensions
Following is information related to the proportionate share and pension expense for all pension plans:
LGERS
Pension expense
Pension liability
Proportionate share of the net pension liability

$

Deferred outflows of resources:
Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes of assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on plan investments
Changes in proportion and differences between contributions
and proportionate share of contributions
Benefit payments and administrative costs paid
subsequent to the measurement date
Deferred inflows of resources:
Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes of assumptions
Changes in proportion and differences between contributions and
proportionate share of contributions

Total

LEOSSA

1,728,752 $
99,956
4,002,983
1,223,768
0.14658%
n/a

$

1,828,708
5,226,751

685,412
652,420

37,077
23,771

722,489
676,191

97,639

-

97,639

-

-

-

859,995

35,139

895,134

-

-

-

168,711

-

168,711

c. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement
Plan Description. The City contributes to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan (Plan), a defined
contribution pension plan administered by the Department of State Treasurer and a Board of Trustees.
The Plan provides retirement benefits to law enforcement officers employed by the City. Article 5 of G.S.
Chapter 135 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the North Carolina
General Assembly. The Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement Officers is included
in the CAFR for the State of North Carolina. The State’s CAFR includes the pension trust fund financial
statements for the Internal Revenue Code Section 401(k) plan that includes the Supplemental Retirement
Income Plan for Law Enforcement Officers. That report may be obtained by writing to the Office of the
State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, North Carolina 27699-1410, or by calling (919) 9815454.
Funding Policy. Article 12E of G.S. Chapter 143 requires the City to contribute each month an amount
equal to five percent of each officer’s salary, and all amounts contributed are vested immediately. The law
enforcement officers may also make voluntary contributions to the plan.
The City made contributions of $118,049 and law enforcement officers made contributions of $108,394
for the reporting year. No amounts were forfeited.
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d. Firefighter’s and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund
Plan Description: The State of North Carolina contributes, on behalf of the Town of Morehead City, to the
Firefighter’s and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund (FRSWPF), a cost-sharing multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plan with a special funding situation administered by the State of North Carolina.
FRSWPF provides pension benefits for eligible fire and rescue squad workers who have elected to
become members of the fund. Article 86 of G.S. Chapter 58 assigns the authority to establish and amend
benefit provisions to the North Carolina General Assembly. Management of the plan is vested in the
LGERS Board of Trustees, which consists of 13 members – nine appointed by the Governor, one
appointed by the state Senate, one appointed by the state House of Representatives, and the State
Treasurer and State Superintendent, who serve as ex-officio members. The Firefighter’s and Rescue
Squad Workers’ Pension Fund is included in the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the
State of North Carolina. The State’s CAFR includes financial statements and required supplementary
information for the Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund. That report may be obtained
by writing to the Office of the State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, North Carolina 276991410, by calling (919) 981-5454, or at www.osc.nc.gov.
Benefits Provided: FRSWPF provides retirement and survivor benefits. The present retirement benefit is
$170 per month. Plan members are eligible to receive the monthly benefit at age 55 with 20 years of
creditable service as a firefighter or rescue squad worker, and have terminated duties as a firefighter or
rescue squad worker. Eligible beneficiaries of members who die before beginning to receive the benefit
will receive the amount paid by the member and contributions paid on the member’s behalf into the plan.
Eligible beneficiaries of members who die after beginning to receive benefits will be paid the amount the
member contributed minus the benefits collected.
Contributions: Plan members are required to contribute $10 per month to the plan. The State, a nonemployer contributor, funds the plan through appropriations. The City does not contribute to the plan.
Contribution provisions are established by General Statute 58-86 and may be amended only by the North
Carolina General Assembly. For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019, the State contributed $18,302,000
to the plan. The Town of Morehead City’s proportionate share of the State’s contribution is $17,721.
Refunds of Contributions: Plan members who are no longer eligible or choose not to participate in the
plan may file an application for a refund of their contributions. Refunds include the member’s contributions
and contributions paid by others on the member’s behalf. No interest will be paid on the amount of the
refund. The acceptance of a refund payment cancels the individual’s right to employer contributions or
any other benefit provided by FRSWPF.
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows
of Resources Related to Pensions
At June 30, 2020, the City reported no liability for its proportionate share of the net pension liability, as the
State provides 100% pension support to the City through its appropriations to the FRSWPF. The total
portion of the net pension liability that was associated with the City and supported by the State was
$35,132. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2019. The total pension liability used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2018. The
total pension liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2019 utilizing update
procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was
based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the
projected contributions of all participating employers. As the City is not projected to make any future
contributions to the plan, its proportionate share at June 30, 2020 and 2019 was 0%.
For the year ended June 30, 2020, the City recognized pension expense of $18,496 and revenue of
$18,496 for support provided by the State. At June 30, 2020, the City reported no deferred outflows of
resources and no deferred inflows of resources related to pensions.
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Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2018 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:
Inflation
3.00%
Salary increases
Not applicable
Investment rate of return 7.00%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation

For more information regarding actuarial assumptions, including mortality tables, the actuarial experience
study, the consideration of future ad hoc COLA amounts, the development of the projected long-term
investment returns, and the asset allocation policy, refer to the discussion of actuarial assumptions for the
LGERS plan in Section a. of this note.
Discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be
made at the current contribution rate and that contributions from employers will be made at statutorily
required rates, actuarially determined. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of the current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is
available in the separately issued CAFR for the State of North Carolina.
e. Other Postemployment Benefit (OPEB)
Healthcare Benefits
Plan Description. Employees who retire under the provisions of the North Carolina Local Government
Employees’ Retirement System (NCLGERS) and have five or more years of service with the City at the
time of retirement are eligible to participate in the City’s OPEB plan until age 65 or until eligible for
Medicare, whichever occurs first.
Plan Description: The City provides healthcare benefits through the Healthcare Benefits Plan (HCB Plan)
as a single-employer defined benefit plan to cover retirees of the City who meet requirements established
by the City Council.
Benefits Provided: OPEB plan benefits are available to eligible retirees who were hired before July 1,
2016 and who have at least 10 years of continuous service with the City immediately prior to retirement,
and also meet on of the following conditions:
(1)

30 years of service with NCLGERS, regardless of age,

(2)

have attained 55 years of age and have a minimum of 25 years of service with NCLGERS, or

(3)

have attained 62 years of age and have a minimum of 15 years of service with NCLGERS.

Eligible retirees who were hired before July 1, 2016 may remain on the City’s medical plan and pay for
coverage in the same manner as active employees. Currently, active employees have single coverage
provided at no cost.
Employees hired before July 1, 2016 not meeting one of the requirements listed above can continue
coverage in the City’s group health care plan by paying the full premiums for coverage.

56

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Notes to Financial Statements
Note 5.

Pension Plan and Postemployment Obligations (Continued)

Eligible retires hired after July 1, 2016 who service retire from NCLGERS with unreduced benefits after
completing 10 years of continued service with the City, will receive a reimbursement of medical premiums
equal to $5.00 per month for each year of employment with the City with a maximum monthly amount of
$150.00 for an employee working thirty or more years with the City.
The City Council has the authority to establish and amend the benefit terms and financing requirements.
No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement 75.
Health care and prescription drug coverage are provided in the City’s group health care plan until the
retiree becomes eligible for Medicare for those hired prior to July 1, 2016. A medical premium
reimbursement is provided until age 65 for those hired after July 1, 2016.
The retiree hired prior to July 1, 2016 may continue dependent coverage (and pay the full required
contribution for this coverage) if enrolled in dependent coverage at the time of retirement. Dependent
coverage terminates whenever the retiree or dependent becomes eligible for Medicare, or upon the
retiree’s death.
Membership of the HCB Plan consisted of the following at June 30, 2019, the date of the latest actuarial
valuation:
Retirees and dependents receiving benefits
Active plan members
Total

20
179
199

Total OPEB Liability
The City’s total OPEB liability of $3,381,262 was measured as of June 30, 2019 and was determined by
an actuarial valuation as of that date.
Actuarial assumptions and other inputs. The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2019 actuarial valuation
was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included
in the measurement unless otherwise specified:
Inflation
Salary increases, including inflation and productivity factor
Municipal bond index rate:
Measurement date
Healthcare cost trend rates:
Pre-Medicare Medical and Prescription Drug

2.50%
3.50% to 7.75%
3.50%
7.00% for 2019 decreasing to an ultimate
rate of 4.50% by 2026

The discount rate was based on the June average of the Bond Buyer General Obligation 20-year
Municipal Bond Index published weekly by The Bond Buyer.
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Pension Plan and Postemployment Obligations (Continued)

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability
Total OPEB
Liability
Balance at June 30, 2018
Charges for the year:
Service cost at the end of the year*
Interest on TOL and cash flows
Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes of assumptions or other inputs
Net benefit payments and implicit subsidy credit**
Net changes
Balance at June 30, 2019

$

2,536,141

138,711
95,394
719,793
60,568
(169,345)
845,121
$ 3,381,262

*The service cost includes interest for the year.
**The net benefit payments shown above include $45,500 due to the implicit subsidy.

Since the Prior Measurement Date (June 30, 2017), the Discount Rate has changed from 3.89% to 3.50%
due to a change in the Municipal Bond Rate.
Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 mortality tables, with adjustments for LGERS experience and
generational mortality improvements using Scale MP-2015.
The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2019 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial
experience study for the period January 2010 through December 2014.
Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the total
OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using
a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (2.50%) or 1-percentage-point higher (4.50%) than the
current discount rate:
Discount Rate Sensitivity
1%
Current
1%
Decrease
Discount Rate
Increase
(2.5%)
(3.5%)
(4.5%)
Total OPEB liability

$

3,729,081

$

3,381,262

$

3,071,228

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates. The following presents
the total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were
calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point
higher than the current healthcare cost trend rates:
Health Care Cost Trend Rate Sensitivity
1%
1%
Decrease
Current
Increase
Total OPEB liability

$
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2,998,773

$

3,381,262

$

3,838,629

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Notes to Financial Statements
Note 5.

Pension Plan and Postemployment Obligations (Continued)

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to
OPEB
For the year ended June 30, 2020, the City recognized OPEB expense of $249,534. At June 30, 2020,
the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from
the following sources:
Deferred
Outflows of
Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes of assumptions or other inputs
Benefit payments and plan administrative expense made
subsequent to the measurement date
Total

$

$

652,918
142,214
795,132

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources
$

119,624

$

119,624

-

$142,214 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from benefit payments
made and administrative expenses incurred subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a
decrease of the total pension liability in the year ending June 30, 2021. Other amounts reported as
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:
Years ending June 30:
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

$

$

Note 6.

60,929
60,929
60,929
60,929
60,929
228,649
533,294

Other Employment Benefits

The City has elected to provide death benefits to employees through the Death Benefit Plan for members
of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System (Death Benefit Plan), a multiple-employer,
State-administered, cost-sharing plan funded on a one-year term cost basis. The beneficiaries of those
employees who die in active service after one year of contributing membership in the System, or who die
within 180 days after retirement or termination of service and have at least one year of contributing
membership service in the System at the time of death are eligible for death benefits. Lump sum death
benefit payments to beneficiaries are equal to the employee's 12 highest months’ salary in a row during
the 24 months prior to the employee's death, but the benefit may not exceed $50,000 or be less than
$25,000. Because all death benefit payments are made from the Death Benefit Plan and not by the City,
the City does not determine the number of eligible participants.
The City has no liability beyond the payment of monthly contributions. The contributions to the Death
Benefit Plan cannot be separated between the post-employment benefit amount and the other benefit
amount. Contributions are determined as a percentage of monthly payroll based upon rates established
annually by the State. Separate rates are set for employees not engaged in law enforcement and for law
enforcement officers. The City considers these contributions to be immaterial.
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Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources

The City has several deferred outflows and inflows of resources. Deferred outflows and inflows of
resources at June 30, 2020 are comprised of the following:
Deferred
Outflows of
Resources
Government-wide:
Prepaid taxes and fees
Pension deferrals
OPEB deferrals

$

$
General fund:
Prepaid taxes and fees
Property taxes receivable

$
$

Note 8.

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources

2,391,453
795,132
3,186,585
-

$

$
$
$

36,600
168,711
119,624
324,935
514,641
157,953
672,594

Risk Management

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets;
errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The City participates in two insurance
pools administered by the North Carolina League of Municipalities. One pool (IRFFNC) provides
coverage for property damage and general liability (including auto and law enforcement officers). Major
policies and their limits of coverage include: public officials ($5 million) and law enforcement liability ($5
million), vehicle liability ($5 million), public employee scheduled and blanket bonds ($250,000), general
liability ($5 million), municipal equipment ($3,134,857), vehicles ($3,373,633), property ($75,460,491) and
employee health coverage ($1,000,000). The other pool (NCRIMA) provides workers’ compensation
coverage up to statutory limits. The pools are reinsured through commercial companies
for single occurrence losses in excess of $1,000,000 for general liability and $1,000,000 for property
damage, and single occurrence losses of $1,000,000 for workers’ compensation. The City provides
employee health insurance through Blue Cross Blue Shield up to an unlimited lifetime benefit. The City
carries commercial coverage for all other risks of loss. There have been no significant reductions in
insurance coverage from the prior year, and settled claims have not exceeded coverage in any of the past
three fiscal years.
The City carries flood insurance through the National Flood Insurance Plan (NFIP). Because certain
properties owned by the City are in an area of the State that has been mapped and designated an “A”
area (an area close to a river, lake or stream) by the Federal Emergency Management Agency, the City is
eligible to purchase coverage of up to $500,000 per structure through the NFIP. The City also is eligible to
and has purchased commercial flood insurance for another $38,300 of coverage for contents.
In accordance with G. S. 159-29, the City’s employees that have access to $100 or more at any given
time of the City’s funds are performance bonded through a commercial surety bond. The finance officer
and tax collector are each individually bonded for $250,000 each. The remaining employees that have
access to funds are bonded under a blanket bond for $250,000.
Note 9.

Claims, Judgments and Contingent Liabilities

At June 30, 2020, the City was a defendant to various lawsuits. In the opinion of the City’s management
and the City attorney, the ultimate effect of these legal matters will not have a material adverse effect on
the City’s financial position.
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In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements,
long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental
activities, business-type activities or proprietary fund type statement of net position.
Changes in Long-term Liabilities – Governmental Activities
Long-term liability activity for governmental activities for the year ended June 30, 2020, is as follows:

Beginning
Balance
*Accrued compensated absences
Net pension liability (LGERS)
Total pension liability (LEO)
Total OPEB liability
Direct placement installment purchase contracts
Total

$

$

521,981
2,983,607
1,087,472
2,089,780
8,753,807
15,436,647

Additions
$

$

1,173,914
443,748
136,296
696,380
3,100,000
5,550,338

Reductions
$

$

1,074,611
303,516
1,378,127

Current
Portion of
Balance

Ending
Balance

$

621,284
3,427,355
1,223,768
2,786,160
11,550,291
19,608,858

$

$

515,665
417,990
933,655

*For governmental activities, compensated absences, pension obligations and other postemployment
benefits are generally liquidated by the General Fund.
The City has a $4,808,000 direct placement installment purchase contract from USDA to finance the
E911 Police Center. The agreement has a term of 40 years and is collateralized by the property. The note
bears interest at a rate of 4.125% annually. As of June 30, 2020, $250,177 remains in a restricted
account and the remaining obligation due under this agreement totaled $4,259,038.
The City has a $2,075,000 direct placement installment purchase contract from USDA to finance the
construction of the new Fire and EMS station. The agreement has a term of 40 years and is collateralized
by the property. The note bears interest at a rate of 3.75% annually. As of June 30, 2020, $102,157
remains in a restricted account and the remaining obligation due under this agreement totaled
$1,884,533.
The City has a $2,605,000 direct placement installment purchase contract from the State of North
Carolina over a 20-year term to finance the Katherine Davis Park Capital Project. The note bears an
annual interest rate of 3.05%. As of June 30, 2020, the obligation due under this agreement totaled
$2,306,720.
The City has a $3,100,000 installment financing contract from First Bank over a 15-year term to finance
the new Town Hall project. The note bears an annual interest rate of 2.45%. As of June 30, 2020, the
obligation due under this agreement totaled $3,100,000.
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Changes in Long-Term Liabilities – Business-Type Activities
Long-term liability activity for business-type activities for the year ended June 30, 2020, is as follows:

Beginning
Balance
Direct placement revenue bond
Direct placement notes payable
*Accrued compensated absences
Net pension liability (LGERS)
Total OPEB liability
Total

$

$

Additions

4,701,000
12,007,250
71,166
514,172
446,361
17,739,949

$

$

196,149
61,456
148,741
406,346

Reductions
$

$

82,000
1,129,750
169,346
1,381,096

Current
Portion of
Balance

Ending
Balance
$

$

4,619,000
10,877,500
97,969
575,628
595,102
16,765,199

$

$

84,000
1,129,750
83,272
1,297,022

*For business-type activities, compensated absences and other postemployment benefits are generally
liquidated by the Water and Sewer Fund and the Solid Waste Fund.
The City has a $1,700,000 direct placement installment note payable to the State of North Carolina over a
20-year term to finance the acquisition and construction of improvements to the water and sewer system.
The note is payable from water and sewer revenue or sales tax distributions to the City and bears an
annual interest rate of 2.6%. As of June 30, 2020, the remaining obligation due under this agreement
totaled $255,000.
The City has a $1,000,000 direct placement installment note payable to the State of North Carolina over a
20-year term to finance the acquisition and construction of improvements to the sewer system. The note
is payable from sewer revenue or sales tax distributions to the City and bears an annual interest rate of
2.36%. As of June 30, 2020, the remaining obligation due under this agreement totaled $250,000.
The City has a $15,000,000 direct placement installment note payable to the State of North Carolina over
a 20-year term to finance the construction of a new wastewater treatment plant. The note is payable from
sewer revenue or sales tax distributions to the City and bears an annual interest rate of 2.265%. As of
June 30, 2020, the remaining obligation due under this agreement totaled $6,750,000.
The City has a $645,000 direct placement installment note payable to the State of North Carolina over a
20-year term to finance sewer lift station improvements. The note is payable from sewer revenue or sales
tax distributions to the City and is interest free. As of June 30, 2020, the obligation due is $322,500.
The City has a $1,500,000 direct placement installment note payable to the State of North Carolina over a
20-year term to finance water treatment improvements. The note is payable from water revenue or sales
tax distributions to the City and is interest free. As of June 30, 2020, the obligation due is $825,000.
The City issued $4,932,000 in direct placement revenue bonds payable to USDA for improvements to the
water treatment facilities consisting of a water tower, two water treatment plants and well. The bonds are
payable from water and sewer revenue. Bond terms consist of 40 annual payments beginning June 1,
2015 and bear an interest rate of 2.75%. As of June 30, 2020, $127,119 remains in a restricted account
and the remaining obligation due under this agreement totaled $4,619,000.
The City has a $2,750,000 direct placement installment note payable to the State of North Carolina over a
20-year term to finance the West End Force Main Capital Project. The note is payable from water revenue
or sales tax distributions to the City and bears an annual interest rate of 1.66%. As of June 30, 2020, the
obligation due under this agreement totaled $2,475,000.
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The following table summarizes the annual requirements to amortize all long-term debt outstanding
(excluding accrued compensated absences, unfunded pension contributions, and other postemployment
pension obligations):
Principal
Governmental activities:
2020-2021
2021-2022
2022-2023
2023-2024
2024-2025
2026-2030
2031-3035
2036-2040
2041-2045
2046-2050
2050-2055

$

417,990
425,455
433,188
441,200
449,502
2,382,908
2,640,385
1,370,778
1,259,682
1,534,085
195,118
$ 11,550,291

Interest
$

$

Principal
Business-type activities, Water and Sewer Fund:
2020-2021
2021-2022
2022-2023
2023-2024
2024-2025
2026-2030
2031-3035
2036-2040
2041-2045
2046-2050
2050-2055

63

Interest

1,213,750
1,215,750
1,217,750
1,135,750
1,137,750
4,730,750
1,343,500
1,077,500
761,000
872,000
791,000
$ 15,496,500

$

$

333,525
308,555
283,530
258,450
235,497
842,607
542,025
402,847
292,600
181,995
55,247
3,736,878

$ 27,046,791

$

9,663,951

$

Total governmental activities and
business-type activities, Water and Sewer Fund

393,715
381,116
368,249
355,104
341,669
1,495,943
1,110,124
741,670
500,952
226,549
11,982
5,927,073
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Long-Term Obligations (Continued)

Interest paid on the above obligations for the year ended June 30, 2020 totaled $682,355. State statutes
provide for a legal debt limit of 8 percent of the City’s assessed value of taxable property. The City’s legal
debt margin as of June 30, 2020 amounts to $164,581,799.
The City is in compliance with the covenants contained in the USDA bond order as set forth in Article
5.01. The significant bond covenants require: a) that the net revenues (excluding depreciation) for each
fiscal year shall not be less than 110% of the amount of the debt service requirement for each fiscal year
and shall not be less than 100% of the subordinated indebtedness debt service requirement for each
fiscal year and b) The City shall establish a debt service reserve account to provide for at least one
average annual loan installment.
The net revenues coverage calculation for the year ended June 30, 2020, is as follows:
Operating revenues.
Operating expenses
Operating income
Non-operating income
Non-operating expense*
Net revenues available for debt service

$

110% of FY 19/20 maximum debt service requirement
Debt service coverage ratio
100% of FY 19/20 subordinated indebtedness debt
service requirement
Debt service coverage ratio

$

211,022
2105.80%

$

1,129,750
393.33%

$

7,974,264
5,392,255
2,582,009
1,507,145
(354,538)
4,443,692

* Operating expenses do not include depreciation or interest

Note 11.

Jointly Governed Organizations

The City, in conjunction with seven counties and 28 other municipalities, established the Neuse River
Council of Governments d/b/a Eastern Carolina Council (Council). The participating governments
established the Council to coordinate various funding received from federal and State agencies. Each
participating government appoints one member to the Council’s governing board. The City paid
membership fees of $3,311 to the Council during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.
Note 12.

Federal and State Assisted Programs

The City has received proceeds from several federal and State grants. Periodic audits of these grants are
required and certain costs may be questioned as not being appropriate expenditures under the grant
agreements. Such audits could result in the refund of grant moneys to the grantor agencies. Management
believes that any required refunds will be immaterial. No provision has been made in the accompanying
financial statements for the refund of grant moneys.
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Interfund Transfers

Interfund transfers for the year ended June 30, 2020 are as follows:

General Fund
Water and Sewer Fund
Water and Sewer CPF
Water and Sewer System Development Capital
Reserve Fund
Governmental CPF
Morehead Municipal Campus CPF
Total

Note 14.

$ 3,132,913
6,105,990
-

Purpose

To

From
$

9,500
2,879,750

Portion of operations and construction
Portion of operations
Portion of construction

200,960

-

Portion of construction

9,500
$ 9,449,363

2,044,114
4,515,999
9,449,363

Portion of construction
Portion of construction

$

Recently Implemented GASB Statements

The City implemented the following GASB Statements during the year ended June 30, 2020:
In May 2020, GASB issued Statement No. 95, Postponement of the Effective Dates of Certain
Authoritative Guidance. The objective of this Statement is to provide temporary relief to governments and
other stakeholders in light of the COVID-19 pandemic. That objective is accomplished by postponing the
effective dates of certain provisions in Statements and Implementation Guides that first became effective
or are scheduled to become effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2018. This statement is
effective immediately (May 2020), and did not have a material impact on the City’s financial position,
overall cash flow or balances or results of operations.
In June 2020, GASB issued Statement No. 97, Certain Component Unit Criteria, and Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans – An
amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 84, and a Supersession of GASB Statement No. 32.
The primary objectives of this Statement are to (1) increase consistency and comparability related to the
reporting of fiduciary component units in circumstances in which a potential component unit does not
have a governing board and the primary government performs the duties that a governing board typically
would perform; (2) mitigate costs associated with the reporting of certain defined contribution pension
plans, defined contribution OPEB plans, and employee benefit plans other than pension plans or OPEB
plans (other employee benefit plans) as fiduciary component units in fiduciary fund financial statements;
and (3) enhance the relevance, consistency, and comparability of the accounting and financial reporting
for Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 457 deferred compensation plans (Section 457 plans) that meet
the definition of a pension plan and for benefits provided through those plans. The requirements in this
Statement as it applies to defined contribution pension plans, defined contribution OPEB plans, and other
employee benefit plans are effective immediately (June 2020), and did not have a material impact on the
City’s financial position, overall cash flow or balances or results of operations. All other requirements of
this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2021.
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The City has not currently determined what, if any, effect of implementation of the following statements
may have on the financial statements of the City.
In May 2019, GASB issued Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations. The primary objectives of this
Statement are to provide a single method of reporting conduit debt obligations by issuers and eliminate
diversity in practice associated with (1) commitments extended by issuers, (2) arrangements associated
with conduit debt obligations and (3) related note disclosures. This Statement is effective for reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2021.
In August 2018, GASB issued Statement No. 90, Majority Equity Interests – An Amendment of GASB
Statements No. 14 and No. 61. The primary objectives of this Statement are to improve the consistency
and comparability of reporting a government’s majority equity interest in a legally separate organization
and to improve the relevance of financial statement information for certain component units. This
Statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019.
In January 2017, GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities. This Statement established criteria
for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local governments. The focus of the criteria is generally
on (1) whether a government is controlling the assets of the fiduciary activity and (2) the beneficiaries with
whom a fiduciary relationship exists. The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2019.
In June 2017, GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases. The objective of this statement is to better meet
the information needs of financial statement users by improving accounting and financial reporting for
leases. This Statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2021.
In June 2018, GASB issued Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a
Construction Period. The objectives of this statement are (1) to enhance the relevance and comparability
of information about capital assets and the cost of borrowing for a reporting period and (2) to simplify
accounting for interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period. This statement requires that
interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period be recognized as an expense in the period
in which the cost is incurred for financial statements prepared using the economic resources
measurement focus. The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning
after December 15, 2020.
In January 2020, GASB issued Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020. The objectives of this Statement are to
enhance comparability in accounting and financial reporting and to improve the consistency of
authoritative literature by addressing practice issues that have been identified during implementation and
application of certain GASB statements. This statement is effective for reporting periods beginning after
June 15, 2021.
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In March 2020, GASB issued Statement No. 93, Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates. The objective
of this Statement is to address those and other accounting and financial reporting implications that result
from the replacement of an interbank offered rate (IBOR). As a result of global reference rate reform,
LIBOR is expected to cease to exist in its current form at the end of 2021, prompting governments to
amend or replace financial instruments for the purpose of replacing LIBOR with other reference rates.
The requirements of this Statement, except for paragraphs 11b, 13, and 14 are effective for reporting
periods beginning after June 15, 2020, and did not have a material impact on the City’s financial position,
overall cash flow or balances or results of operations. The requirement in paragraph 11b is effective for
reporting periods ending after December 31, 2021. The requirements in paragraphs 13 and 14 are
effective for fiscal years periods beginning after June 15, 2021.
In March 2020, GASB issued Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and
Availability Payment Arrangements. The primary objective of this Statement is to improve financial
reporting by addressing issues related to the public-private and public-public partnership arrangements
(PPPs). This Statement is effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2022.
In May 2020, GASB issued Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology
Arrangements. This Statement provides guidance on the accounting and financial reporting for
subscription-based information technology arrangements (SBITAs) for government end users
(governments). This Statement (1) defines a SBITA; (2) establishes that a SBITA results in a right-to-use
subscription asset—an intangible asset—and a corresponding subscription liability; (3) provides the
capitalization criteria for outlays other than subscription payments, including implementation costs of a
SBITA; and (4) requires note disclosures regarding a SBITA. To the extent relevant, the standards for
SBITAs are based on the standards established in Statement No. 87, Leases, as amended. This
Statement is effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2022.
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL DATA - UNAUDITED

This section contains additional information required by generally accepted accounting
principles.
•

Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability (Asset) for Local Government
Employees’ Retirement System

•

Schedule of Contributions to Local Government Employees’ Retirement System

•

Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability for Firefighters’ and Rescue
Squad Workers’ Pension Plan

•

Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability – Law Enforcement Officers’ Special
Separation Allowance

•

Schedule of Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll – Law Enforcement
Officers’ Special Separation Allowance

•

Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios
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Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Schedule of Town's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability (Asset)
Required Supplementary Information - Unaudited
Last Seven Fiscal Years*
Local Government Employees' Retirement System

Town's proportion of the net pension liability (asset) %
Town's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset)
Town's covered payroll
Town's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) as a
percentage of its covered payroll
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability**

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

2014

0.147%
$ 4,002,983
$ 9,389,348

0.147%
$ 3,497,779
$ 8,630,104

0.147%
$ 2,246,975
$ 8,027,679

0.143%
$ 3,044,490
$ 7,357,194

0.134%
$ 599,634
$ 6,662,614

0.124%
$ (733,408)
$ 5,883,587

0.112%
$ 1,352,441
$ 5,551,592

42.63%
90.86%

40.53%
91.63%

27.99%
94.18%

41.38%
91.47%

9.00%
98.09%

( 12.47%)
102.64%

24.36%
94.35%

*The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal years ended June 30.
This schedule will present 10 years' worth of information when available.
** This will be the same percentage for all participant employers in the LGERS plan.
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Last Seven Fiscal Years*
Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System
2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

2014

Contractually required contribution

$

859,995

$

687,282

$

619,467

$

599,257

$

495,967

$

476,266

$

418,846

Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution
Contribution deficiency (excess)

$

859,995
-

$

687,282
-

$

619,467
-

$

599,257
-

$

495,967
-

$

476,266
-

$

418,846
-

Town's covered payroll

$ 9,389,348

Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll

$ 8,630,104

9.16%

7.96%

*This schedule will present 10 years' worth of information as of the fiscal years ended June 30, when available.

69

$ 8,027,679
7.72%

$ 8,100,246
7.40%

$ 7,357,194
6.74%

$ 6,662,614
7.15%

$ 5,883,587
7.12%

Town of Morehead, North Carolina
Schedule of Town's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability
Required Supplementary Information - Unaudited
Last Six Fiscal Years*
Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension
2020
Town's proportionate share of the net pension liability (%)
Town's proportionate share of the net pension liability ($)

2019

0.0000%
$

State's proportionate share of the net pension liability
associated with Town of Morehead

-

2018

0.0000%
$

-

35,132

2017

0.0000%
$

48,582

-

2016

0.0000%
$

38,860

-

2015

0.0000%
$

-

27,171

0.0000%
$

21,916

-

18,821

Total

$

35,132

$

48,582

$

38,860

$

27,171

$

21,916

$

18,821

Town's covered payroll

$

2,667,018

$

2,453,301

$

2,272,111

$

2,165,982

$

1,743,285

$

1,247,293

Town's proportionate share of the net pension liability as
a percentage of its covered payroll
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total
pension liability**

1.32%

1.98%

1.71%

1.25%

1.26%

1.51%

89.69%

89.35%

84.94%

91.40%

93.42%

93.42%

*The amounts presented are for the prior fiscal years ended June 30. This schedule will present 10 years' worth of information when available.
** This will be the same percentage for all participant employers in the LGERS plan.
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Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability
Law Enforcement Officers' Special Separation Allowance
Required Supplementary Information - Unaudited
Last Four Fiscal Years*
2020

2019

2018

2017

Beginning balance
Service cost
Interest on the total pension liability
Differences between expected and actual experience in the measurement
of the total pension liability
Changes of assumptions or other inputs
Benefit payments

$ 1,087,472
54,924
38,246

$ 1,081,661
57,394
32,935

$ 1,138,005
47,476
42,052

$ 1,166,289
88,620
-

Ending balance of the total pension liability

$ 1,223,768

78,707
37,933
(73,514)

The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal years
ending December 31.
*This schedule will present 10 years' worth of information when available.
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37,918
(43,612)
(78,824)
$ 1,087,472

(110,307)
61,609
(97,174)
$ 1,081,661

(21,351)
(95,553)
$ 1,138,005

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Schedule of Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll
Law Enforcement Officers' Special Separation Allowance
Required Supplementary Information - Unaudited
Last Four Fiscal Years*

Total pension liability
Covered payroll
Total pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll

2020

2019

2018

2017

$ 1,223,768
2,267,534
53.97%

$ 1,087,472
2,099,919
51.79%

$ 1,081,661
1,963,851
55.08%

$ 1,138,005
2,052,052
55.46%

Notes to the schedules:
The Town of Morehead City has no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria
in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement 73 to pay related benefits.
* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior year
ended December 31. This schedule will present 10 years' worth of information when available.
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Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios
Required Supplementary Information - Unaudited
Last Three Fiscal Years*

2020

Total OPEB Liability

2018

2019

Service cost
Interest
Differences between expected and actual experience
Change of assumptions
Benefit payments
Net change in total OPEB Liability
Total OPEB liability - beginning

$

Total OPEB liability - ending

$ 3,381,262

$ 2,536,141

$ 2,522,556

Covered payroll
Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll

$ 9,145,270
36.97%

$ 7,462,546
33.98%

$ 7,462,546
33.80%

138,711
95,394
719,793
60,568
(169,345)
845,121
2,536,141

$

143,529
87,379
11,385
(91,345)
(137,363)
13,585
2,522,556

Notes to Schedule
Changes of assumptions: Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect the effects of
changes in the discount rate of each period. The following are the discount rates used in each
Fiscal Year
2019
2018
2017
*This schedule will present 10 years' worth of information when available.
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Rate
3.50%
3.89%
3.01%

$

155,365
75,281
5,250
(152,657)
(122,545)
(39,306)
2,561,862

MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

•
•
•

General Fund
Morehead Municipal Campus Capital Project Fund
Governmental Capital Project Fund

(This Page Was Intentionally Left Blank)

GENERAL FUND

The General Fund is the principal fund of the Town and is used to account for all activities of the Town
not included in other specific funds. The General Fund accounts for the normal recurring activities of
the Town. These activities are funded principally by property and sales taxes on individuals and
businesses, and grants from other governmental units.

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
General Fund
Schedule of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Budget and Actual
Year Ended June 30, 2020
(With Comparative Actual Amounts for Year Ended June 30, 2019)

Final
Budget
Revenue:
Ad valorem taxes:
Current year
Prior years
Interest and penalties
Total ad valorem taxes

Unaudited
2019

2020

(Page 1 of 5)

Actual

$ 7,715,098
37,704
24,431
7,777,233

30,000
30,000

39,392
39,392

Unrestricted intergovernmental:
Local option sales tax
Electric sales tax
Beer and wine tax
Carteret County ABC revenue
Video programming sales tax
Telecommunications tax
Piped natural gas tax
Payment in lieu of taxes
Total unrestricted intergovernmental

2,950,000
850,000
40,000
250,000
112,000
93,000
15,500
64,500
4,375,000

3,341,214
844,576
40,778
260,173
109,508
77,396
14,438
75,523
4,763,606

391,214
(5,424)
778
10,173
(2,492)
(15,604)
(1,062)
11,023
388,606

3,176,645
867,359
40,529
246,154
112,861
95,199
16,784
65,603
4,621,134

Restricted intergovernmental:
Powell Bill
School resource officer
Bullet proof vest grant
Controlled substance tax
Restitution funds
Dredging grant
CAMA
FEMA reimbursements
FEMA grant (SAFER)
US Department of Health and Human Services
Webb Library funding
Housing Authority grant
CAMA S. 10th St. grant
Miscellaneous grants
Total restricted governmental

215,700
2,024
10,000
36,440
4,000
1,490,589
147,905
53,075
35,000
23,550
2,018,283

186,618
3,998
4,063
959
36,140
4,315
689,684
102,972
37,483
53,075
35,000
5,452
1,159,759

(29,082)
1,974
(5,937)
959
(300)
315
(800,905)
(44,933)
37,483
(18,098)
(858,524)

264,020
114,922
2,565
21,115
769
38,628
2,220
186,975
53,075
35,000
12,441
4,897
736,627

(Continued)
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$

135,023
(2,296)
431
133,158

Actual

7,580,075
40,000
24,000
7,644,075

Other taxes:
Motor vehicle lease tax
Total other taxes

$

Variance,
With Final
Budget

9,392
9,392

$

7,061,431
31,005
29,766
7,122,202

45,791
45,791

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
General Fund
Schedule of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Budget and Actual
Year Ended June 30, 2020
(With Comparative Actual Amounts for Year Ended June 30, 2019)

Final
Budget
Permits and fees:
Building permits and inspection fees
Planning/zoning fees and charges
Sidewalk extension fees
Franchise fees
Total permits and fees
Sales and services:
Fire and rescue charges
Court cost and fees
Cemetery fees
Sale of cemetery lots
Library fees and charges
Leases
E 911 cost sharing
Recreation fees and charges
Total sales and services
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous revenue:
Insurance reimbursements/refunds
Police sponsorship
Miscellaneous
Total miscellaneous revenue
Total revenue

Unaudited
2019

2020

(Page 2 of 5)

$

275,000
25,000
10,000
310,000

Variance,
With Final
Budget

Actual

$

398,014
27,454
2,680
250
428,398

$

123,014
2,454
(7,320)
250
118,398

$

281,397
40,098
31,580
125
353,200

1,893,330
3,500
1,000
2,500
2,250
108,614
30,420
139,700
2,181,314

2,062,590
2,537
1,745
9,515
2,005
123,256
28,017
104,287
2,333,952

97,000

100,407

3,407

184,216

338,562
3,925
63,128
405,615

351,027
3,500
64,699
419,226

12,465
(425)
1,571
13,611

90,686
39,419
130,105

17,061,287

17,021,973

(39,314)

15,685,705

(Continued)
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169,260
(963)
745
7,015
(245)
14,642
(2,403)
(35,413)
152,638

Actual

2,132,288
2,252
1,445
9,630
2,711
119,850
49,935
174,319
2,492,430

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
General Fund
Schedule of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Budget and Actual
Year Ended June 30, 2020
(With Comparative Actual Amounts for Year Ended June 30, 2019)
(Page 3 of 5)
Final
Budget
Expenditures
General government:
Mayor - town council
Salaries and benefits
Other
Administration:
Salaries, wages and benefits
Other
Finance:
Salaries, wages and benefits
Other
Central services:
Employee benefits
Professional services
Capital outlay
Other

Community projects
Information technology:
Salaries, wages and benefits
Other
Cemetery, buildings and grounds:
Salaries, wages and benefits
Capital outlay
Other
Garage:
Salaries, wages and benefits
Capital outlay
Other

Total general government

Unaudited
2019

2020

$

34,329
33,421
67,750

Variance,
With Final
Budget

Actual

$

35,167
10,368
45,535

$

(838)
23,053
22,215

Actual

$

29,481
9,159
38,640

323,569
56,808
380,377

317,815
20,548
338,363

5,754
36,260
42,014

189,694
22,074
211,768

256,360
48,885
305,245

260,346
24,448
284,794

(3,986)
24,437
20,451

191,642
34,993
226,635

209,000
180,895
166,983
556,878

208,790
166,067
158,670
533,527

210
14,828
8,313
23,351

70,646
82,249
19,193
167,855
339,943

441,810

175,665

266,145

88,671

92,548
92,698
185,246

93,173
84,266
177,439

293,819
110,250
404,069

272,547
79,392
351,939

21,272
30,858
52,130

292,815
29,841
86,991
409,647

90,275
27,031
117,306

89,433
16,503
105,936

842
10,528
11,370

24,262
4,902
3,983
33,147

2,458,681

2,013,198

445,483

1,348,452

(Continued)
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(625)
8,432
7,807

1
1

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
General Fund
Schedule of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Budget and Actual
Year Ended June 30, 2020
(With Comparative Actual Amounts for Year Ended June 30, 2019)
(Page 4 of 5)
Final
Budget
Public safety:
Police:
Salaries, wages and benefits
Capital outlay
Other

Unaudited
2019

2020

Actual

$ 3,431,335
22,668
455,578
3,909,581

4,444,368
577,624
5,021,992

4,208,178
719,810
4,927,988

610,024
138,401
748,425

583,451
67,929
651,380

26,573
70,472
97,045

491,575
77,209
568,784

9,869,221

9,488,949

380,272

10,100,422

420,175
363,835
784,010

416,776
293,004
709,780

3,399
70,831
74,230

410,732
273,201
683,933

151,800

53,773

98,027

449,123

935,810

763,553

172,257

1,133,056

Recreation:
Salaries, wages and benefits
Capital outlay
Other
Total recreation

446,895
184,462
631,357

403,979
170,980
574,959

42,916
13,482
56,398

428,488
66,190
192,453
687,131

Parks:
Salaries, wages and benefits
Capital outlay
Other
Total parks

262,355
280,042
542,397

244,705
300,051
544,756

17,650
(20,009)
(2,359)

221,229
78,190
263,658
563,077

Inspections:
Salaries, wages and benefits
Other

Total public safety
Highways and streets:
Transportation:
Salaries, wages and benefits
Other

Powell Bill funds
Total highways and streets

(Continued)
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$

110,993
(22,668)
100,898
189,223

Actual

3,542,328
556,476
4,098,804

Fire & EMS
Salaries, wages and benefits
Capital outlay
Other

$

Variance,
With Final
Budget

236,190
(142,186)
94,004

$

3,301,657
101,771
525,430
3,928,858

4,009,953
382,222
1,210,605
5,602,780

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
General Fund
Schedule of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Budget and Actual
Year Ended June 30, 2020
(With Comparative Actual Amounts for Year Ended June 30, 2019)
(Page 5 of 5)
Final
Budget
Library:
Salaries, wages and benefits
Other
Total library

$

Disaster planning and recovery:
Other
Total disaster planning and recovery
Debt service:
Principal retirement
Interest fees
Total debt service
Total expenditures
Revenue over expenditures
Other financing sources (uses):
Fund balance appropriated
Sale of capital assets
Transfers in:
Government CPF
Transfers out:
Katherine Davis Park CPF
Governmental CPF
Morehead City Municipal Campus CPF
Contingency
Total other financing sources (uses)
Revenue and other financing
sources over (under) expenditures
and other financing uses

Unaudited
2019

2020
Variance,
With Final
Budget

Actual

124,276
87,712
211,988

$

80,801
74,581
155,382

$

43,475
13,131
56,606

Actual
$

98,880
61,404
160,284

1,282,300
1,282,300

861,693
861,693

420,607
420,607

786,138
786,138

303,525
400,440
703,965

303,516
400,426
703,942

9
14
23

1,186,191
298,219
1,484,410

16,635,719

15,106,432

1,529,287

16,262,970

425,568

1,915,541

1,489,973

2,790,325
3,900

8,101

9,500

9,500

(2,044,113)
(1,088,800)
(96,380)
(425,568)

-

$

Fund balance, beginning

(2,790,325)
4,201

8,271

-

(2,044,113)
(1,088,800)
(3,115,312)

(1,199,771)

(577,265)

$

-

96,380
(2,689,744)

(350,000)
(1,232,018)
(525,000)
(2,098,747)

(1,199,771)

(2,676,012)
12,000,648

9,324,636

Fund balance, ending

$ 8,124,865
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$

9,324,636

MOREHEAD MUNICIPAL CAMPUS FUND

This fund is used to account for funds accumulated for the acquisition of the Charles Wallace School
Property and additional renovations to the property.

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Morehead City Municipal Campus Capital Project Fund
Schedule of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance Budget and Actual
From Inception and for the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Project
Authorization
Revenue:
Investment earnings
Total revenue

$

Expenditures:
General government
Capital outlay:
General government

-

18,970
18,970

$

Actual
Current
Year

-

$

36,570
36,570

Project
To Date
$

55,540
55,540

274,697

25,559

25,617

8,918,704
8,918,704

981,359
1,256,114

69,910
344,607

2,551,737
2,577,296

3,463,186
3,488,803

8,918,704

1,256,114

344,607

2,577,296

3,488,803

(8,908,341)

(1,237,144)

(344,607)

(2,540,726)

(3,433,263)

3,100,000
3,837,200
1,971,141
8,908,341

410,000
1,243,487
1,653,487

344,607
344,607

3,100,000
3,427,200
1,088,800
7,616,000

3,100,000
3,837,200
1,987,680
8,924,880

5,075,274

$ 5,491,617

Other financing sources:
Issuance of debt
Transfer from Water and Sewer Fund
Transfer from General Fund
Total other financing sources
Revenue and other financing sources
over expenditures

$

*Closed
Projects

274,755

Total expenditures
Revenue under expenditures

10,363
10,363

Prior
Years

$

-

Fund balance, beginning

$ 416,343

$

-

416,343

Fund balance, ending

$ 5,491,617

*Note that certain projects within the fund were closed out during the year ended June 30, 2020
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Governmental Capital Project Fund

This fund is used to account for the financial resources segregated for the acquisition and/or
construction of general capital assets and facilities. Resources may include grants, debt issuance,
transfers from other funds or contributed capital as long as the accounting system can segregate the
revenues and expenditures for each project. .

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Governmental Capital Projects Fund
Schedule of Revenue, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
From Inception and for the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Revenue:
Insurance claims and reimbursements
Donated and contributed capital
Federal and state grants
Sale of capital assets
Interest revenue
Total revenue

$

Expenditures:
Capital outlay
Total expenditures
Revenue over (under) expenditures
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfer to General Fund
Transfer from General Fund
Transfer from Water and Sewer Fund
Transfer from Jib Waterfront Access Capital Projects Fund
Transfer from Katherine Davis Park Capital Projects Fund
Total other financing sources (uses)
Revenue and other financing sources
over (under) expenditures

$

Fund balance, beginning

249,935
220,000
1,840,000
2,309,935

Actual
Current
Year

Prior
Years

Project
Authorization
$

249,935
1,702
251,637

$

200,000
638,920
2,094
2,713
843,727

249,935
200,000
638,920
2,094
4,415
1,095,364

125,149
125,149

3,603,797
3,603,797

3,728,946
3,728,946

(3,910,499)

126,488

(2,760,070)

(2,633,582)

(9,500)
3,276,131
288,600
55,775
299,493
3,910,499

1,232,018
288,600
55,775
294,340
1,870,733

(9,500)
2,044,113
2,034,613

(9,500)
3,276,131
288,600
55,775
294,340
3,905,346

$ 1,997,221

(725,457)

-

$ 1,271,764
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$

6,220,434
6,220,434

1,997,221

Fund balance, ending

Project
To Date

$ 1,271,764
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ENTERPRISE FUNDS

Enterprise Funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner
similar to private business enterprises. The intent of the government’s Board is that the costs of
providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered
primarily through user charges; or the government’s Board has decided that periodic
determination of net income is appropriate for accountability purposes.
The Town maintains two enterprise funds.
Water and Sewer Fund - This fund is used to account for the water and sewer services, and also
maintains related construction projects.
Solid Waste Fund - This fund is used to account for revenues and expenditures related to waste
disposal services.
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Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Water and Sewer Fund
Schedule of Revenue and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP)
Year Ended June 30, 2020
(With Comparative Actual Amounts for Year Ended June 30, 2019)
(Page 1 of 3)
Unaudited
2019

2020

Operating revenue:
Charges for sales and services:
Sewer charges
Water charges
Extension fees
Tap fees
Total charges for sales and services
Miscellaneous
Total operating revenue

Budget

Actual

$ 3,530,000
3,850,000
8,000
27,500
7,415,500
347,260

$ 3,574,977
3,986,848
27,928
44,742
7,634,495
339,769

7,762,760

7,974,264

148,675
394,169
194,200

150,556
322,659
127,786

737,044

601,001

984,055
2,466,339
193,550
-

992,451
2,251,534
135,778
-

(8,396)
214,805
57,772
-

855,270
1,314,843
63,485
55,787

3,643,944

3,379,763

264,181

2,289,385

112,400
114,300

107,041
116,985

5,359
(2,685)

107,075
60,336

226,700

224,026

2,674

167,411

Operating expenditures:
Cost of sales and services Water, wells and pumping stations:
Salaries, wages and employee benefits
Other
Repairs and maintenance
Total cost of sales and services water, wells and pumping stations
Cost of sales and services Water distribution and sewer collection:
Salaries, wages and employee benefits
Other
Repairs and maintenance
Capital outlay
Total cost of sales and services - water
distribution and sewer collection

Variance
With Final
Budget

Cost of sales and services Lift stations and sewer mains:
Other
Repairs and maintenance
Total cost of sales and services lift stations and sewer mains

(Continued)
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$

44,977
136,848
19,928
17,242
218,995
(7,491)
211,504

(1,881)
71,510
66,414
136,043

Actual

$ 3,459,851
3,790,789
34,149
7,284,789
319,306
7,604,095

138,809
353,404
149,371
641,584

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Water and Sewer Fund
Schedule of Revenue and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP)
Year Ended June 30, 2020
(With Comparative Actual Amounts for Year Ended June 30, 2019)
(Page 2 of 3)
Unaudited
2019

2020

Budget
Cost of sales and services Wastewater treatment plant:
Salaries, wages and employee benefits
Other
Repairs and maintenance
Capital outlay
Total cost of sales and services wastewater treatment plant

$

560,070
301,554
155,500
82,115

Actual

$

562,201
251,565
158,248
82,115

Variance
With Final
Budget

$

(2,131)
49,989
(2,748)
-

Actual

$

514,119
330,353
141,316

-

1,099,239

1,054,129

45,110

985,788

240,319
131,735
-

235,981
89,707
-

4,338
42,028
-

205,769
82,053
16,759

372,054

325,688

46,366

304,581

Total operating expenditures

6,078,981

5,584,607

494,374

4,388,749

Operating revenue over operating
expenditures

1,683,779

2,389,657

705,878

3,215,346

94,000
205,365
(358,445)
500
(1,211,750)

123,362
102,425
(354,538)
19,555
(1,211,750)

29,362
(102,940)
3,907
19,055
-

187,647
(487,294)
(408,145)
861
(1,562,188)

(1,270,330)

(1,320,946)

(50,616)

(2,269,119)

1,068,711

655,262

Cost of sales and services Water billing and collection
Salaries, wages and employee benefits
Other
Capital outlay
Total cost of sales and services water billing and collection

Nonoperating revenue (expenditures):
Interest revenue
Disaster planning and recovery
Interest and fiscal charges
Sale of surplus property
Bond and installment agreement principal payments
Total nonoperating revenues
(expenditures)
Revenue (under) over expenditures

413,449
(Continued)
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946,227

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Water and Sewer Fund
Schedule of Revenue and Expenditures – Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP)
Year Ended June 30, 2020
(With Comparative Actual Amounts For The Year Ended June 30, 2019)
(Page 3 of 3)
Unaudited
2019

2020

Budget
Other financing sources (uses):
Capital contributions
Transfers in:
Water and Sewer Capital Reserve Fund
Water Treatment Capital Project Fund
Transfers out:
Water and Sewer Capital Project Funds
Morehead Municipal Campus Capital Projects Fund
Governmental Capital Projects Fund
Contingency
Fund balance appropriated
Reserved for future appropriation
Total other financing sources (uses)
Revenue and other sources over
expenditures and other financing uses

$

Actual
-

$

-

Reconciliation of modified accrual basis to
full accrual basis:
Revenue and other financing sources
over expenditures and other financing uses
Depreciation
Note and installment agreement principal payment
Capitalized expenditures included in capital
outlay and other expenditures
Donated capitalized expenditures included in capital
Donated capitalized assets

-

-

$

-

(2,678,790)
(3,427,200)
(98,163)
5,792,829
(2,125)
(413,449)

$

Variance
With Final
Budget

(5,037,279)

$

(5,037,279)
(1,777,886)
1,211,750

-

$

-

(2,678,790)
(3,427,200)
(6,105,990)

$

Actual

35,584
520,000

98,163
(5,792,829)
2,125
(5,692,541)

$

(5,037,279)

(751,500)
(410,000)
(288,600)
(843,457)

$

$

$
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102,770

102,770
(1,661,430)
1,562,188
1,225,071

3,636,233

Capital outlay from capital project funds
Net transfers to Water and Sewer Capital
Project Funds
Miscellaneous revenues
Development fees
Repairs and maintenance expense from
capital project funds
Contributions - capital project funds
Interest earned from capital project funds
Increase (decrease) in deferred outflows of resources - pensions
(Increase) decrease in net pension liability
(Increase) decrease in deferred inflows of resources - pensions
Increase (decrease) in deferred outflows of resources - OPEB
Decrease (Increase) in deferred inflows of resources - OPEB
(Increase) decrease in OPEB liability
Net income, full accrual basis

51,059

878,764
(3,554,120)

(603,881)

2,678,790
1,280
264,385

195,916

(32,866)
373,000
10,039
(40,688)
(60,139)
(3,488)
111,700
13,726
(143,671)
(1,470,470)

(121,522)
181,840
22,985
132,257
(129,293)
(2,964)
6,211
(10,965)
4,754
903,937

-

$

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Solid Waste Fund
Schedule of Revenue and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP)
Year Ended June 30, 2020
(With Comparative Actual Amounts for Year Ended June 30, 2019)
Unaudited
2019

2020

Budget
Revenue:
Operating revenue:
Charges for sales and services:
Refuse collections - carts
Miscellaneous
Total operating revenue

$

Operating expenditures:
Contracted Services
Salaries, wages and employee benefits
Operating
Total operating expenditures
Operating revenue over (under)
operating expenditures

$

1,120,811
562
1,121,373

$

106,211
562
106,773

Actual

$

958,737
712
959,449

743,010
62,488
305,971

748,693
47,662
200,080

(5,683)
14,826
105,891

672,652
46,532
226,930

1,111,469

996,435

115,034

946,114

(96,869)

124,938

221,807

13,335

91,840
4,000
6,200

65,456
7,446
7,183

(26,384)
3,446
983

7,717
7,025

102,040

80,085

(21,955)

14,742

5,171

205,023

199,852

28,077

Revenue over (under) expenditures
Other financing sources (uses):
Contingency
Total other financing uses
Revenue and other financing sources
over expenditures

Actual

1,014,600
1,014,600

Nonoperating revenue:
Disaster recovery
Interest revenue
Restricted intergovernmental
Total nonoperating revenue

Variance,
With Final
Budget

(5,171)
(5,171)

$

-

Reconciliation of modified accrual basis with full accrual basis:
Revenue and other financing sources over (under)
expenditures
Disaster planning and recovery income from CPFs
Debris removal expenses from capital project fund
Depreciation
Increase in deferred outflows of resources - OPEB
Decrease (increase) in deferred inflows of resources - OPEB
Increase in OPEB liability
(Decrease) increase in deferred outflows of resources - pensions
Increase in net pension liability
(Increase) decrease in deferred inflows of resources - pensions
Net income, full accrual basis

-

$

205,023

$

205,023
895,190
(35,343)
3,942
484
(5,070)
(892)
(1,317)
(76)
1,061,941

$

84

-

5,171
5,171

$

205,023

$

28,077

$

28,077
(930,460)
(35,343)
219
(387)
(82)
3,228
(4,028)
(72)
(938,848)

$

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Water and Sewer System Development Fees Capital Reserve Fund
Statement of Revenue and Expenditures -Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP)
From Inception and for the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Project
Authorization
Revenue:
Development fees
Interest
Total revenue

$

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfer from water and sewer CRF
Transfer to water and sewer capital project fund
Reserved for WWTP rehabilitation
Total other financing sources (uses)
Revenue over expenditures

1,008,460
1,008,460

$

423,117
(200,960)
(1,230,617)
(1,008,460)
$

-
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Current
Year

Prior
Years
110,528
4,315
114,843

$

423,117
423,117
$

537,960

264,385
7,878
272,263

Project
to Date
$

(200,960)
(200,960)
$

71,303

374,913
12,193
387,106

423,117
(200,960)
222,157
$

609,263

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Water and Sewer New Capital Projects Fund
Schedule of Revenue and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP)
From Inception and for the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Project
Authorization
Revenue:
Interest
Miscellaneous
Donated and contributed capital
Total revenue

$

Capital outlay
Repair and maintenance
Total expenditures

4,251,802
36,084
4,287,886

Revenue over (under) expenditures

(3,914,886)

Other financing sources:
Transfers in:
Water and sewer fund
Water and sewer system development fund
Water and sewer capital projects fund
Water and sewer capital reserve fund
Water and sewer rebatable capital reserve fund
Water/sewer extensions improvement capital project fund
West End Force main capital projects fund
Total other financing sources
Revenue and other financing sources
over other financing sources

373,000
373,000

2,678,790
200,960
387,088
523,728
70,579
48,930
4,811
3,914,886

$

86

-

Prior
Years
$

Current
Year

2,092
2,092

2,092

387,088
523,728
70,579
48,930
4,811
1,035,136

$ 1,037,228

$

2,161
1,280
373,000
376,441

Project
to Date
$

4,253
1,280
373,000
378,533

3,554,120
32,866
3,586,986

3,554,120
32,866
3,586,986

(3,210,545)

(3,208,453)

2,678,790
200,960
2,879,750

2,678,790
200,960
387,088
523,728
70,579
48,930
4,811
3,914,886

$ (330,795)

$

706,433

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Solid Waste Capital Projects Fund
Schedule of Revenue and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP)
From Inception and for the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Project
Authorization
Revenue:
FEMA reimbursement
Total revenue

$ 1,000,000
1,000,000

Expenditures:
Debris removal
Total expenditures
Revenue over (under) expenditures

1,000,000
1,000,000
$

-

87

Prior
Years
$

Current
Year
-

$

930,460
930,460
$ (930,460)

895,190
895,190

Project
to Date
$

$

895,190

895,190
895,190

930,460
930,460
$

(35,270)

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Other financial information includes additional detailed analysis of particular aspects of
the Town’s financial position or results of operations.



Schedule of Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable



Analysis of Current Tax Levy

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Schedule of Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable (Unaudited)
June 30, 2020

Year
Ended
June 30
2019-2020
2018-2019
2017-2018
2016-2017
2015-2016
2014-2015
2013-2014
2012-2013
2011-2012
2010-2011
2009-2010
2008-2009

Additions
(Releases)
Net

Uncollected
Balance
June 30, 2019

Collections
and Credits

$

48,548
27,497
15,368
8,443
2,857
5,160
7,209
4,335
588
541
4,400

$

7,915,309
(1,011)
(464)
(578)
(154)
(756)
(55)
(35)
(26)
-

$

7,809,703
18,673
10,058
5,184
2,810
451
244
221
62
144
4,400

$

124,946

$

7,912,230

$

7,851,950

Uncollected
Balance
June 30, 2020
$

185,226

Less: allowance for uncollectible accounts:
General Fund
Ad valorem taxes receivable - net

105,606
28,864
16,975
9,606
5,479
1,650
4,861
6,953
4,247
588
397
-

27,273
$

157,953

$

7,777,206

$

94,632
(19,888)
74,744
7,851,950

Reconciliation to revenues:
Taxes - Ad valorem, General Fund
Reconciling items:
Amounts adjusted for tax discount
Less penalties and interest collected, net
Subtotal
Total collections and credits
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Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Analysis of Current Tax Levy
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020

City Wide
Property
Valuation

Total Levy
Property
Excluding
Registered
Registered
Motor
Motor
Vehicles
Vehicles

Rate

Total Levy

$ 2,057,272,498
2,057,272,498

0.380
-

$ 7,817,635
1,195
7,818,830

$ 7,443,352
1,195
7,444,547

$ 374,283
374,283

Discoveries:
Current year taxes
Prior year taxes
Total

35,296,083
1,028,493
36,324,576

0.380
0.350

134,125
3,575
137,700

134,125
3,575
137,700

-

Abatements
Current year taxes
Other adjustments
Total

9,969,730
9,969,730

0.380
-

37,932
467
38,399

37,932
467
38,399

7,918,131

7,543,848

105,606

105,606

$ 7,812,525

$ 7,438,242

Original levy:
Property taxed at current
year's rate
Late listing penalties
Total

Total property valuation

-

$ 2,083,627,344

Net levy
Uncollected taxes at June 30, 2020
Current year's taxes collected
Current levy collection percentage

98.67%
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98.60%

374,283
$ 374,283
100.00%

(This Page Was Intentionally Left Blank)

STATISTICAL SECTION
(Unaudited)

This part of the Town of Morehead City’s comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information as a
context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures and required
supplementary information says about the government’s overall financial health.
Contents
Financial Trends
These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand
how the government's financial performance and well-being have changed
over time

Page
90

Revenue Capacity
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the
government's most significant local revenue source, property taxes.

100

Debt Capacity
These schedules present information to help the reader assess the
affordability of the government's current levels of outstanding debt and
the government's ability to issue additional debt in the future.

104

Demographic and Economic Information
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help
the reader understand the environment within which the government's
financial activities take place.

110

Operating Information
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader
understand how the information in the government's financial report relates
to the services the government provides and the activities it performs.
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Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Net Position By Component
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Accrual Basis of Accounting)
(Unaudited)

2011
Governmental activities:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total governmental activities
net position
Business-type activities:
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted
Total business-type activities
net position
Primary government:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total primary government
net position

Fiscal Year
2012

2013

$ 28,415,541
2,604,295
2,902,265

$ 28,409,590
3,029,403
3,318,508

$ 29,832,269
2,236,110
3,043,941

$ 33,922,101

$ 34,757,501

$ 35,112,320

$ 27,669,652
6,339,091

$ 28,868,465
5,908,427

$ 28,439,320
7,291,817

$ 34,008,743

$ 34,776,892

$ 35,731,137

$ 56,085,193
2,604,295
9,241,356

$ 57,278,055
3,029,403
9,226,935

$ 58,271,589
2,236,110
10,335,758

$ 67,930,844

$ 69,534,393

$ 70,843,457

90

Fiscal Year
2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

$ 29,797,242
2,328,152
3,226,255

$ 30,996,748
2,251,305
4,023,536

$ 30,553,783
2,512,603
5,093,407

$ 30,588,767
2,734,866
5,277,817

$ 30,839,716
3,232,564
4,904,475

$ 33,012,289
5,358,178
1,685,300

$ 34,501,559
10,045,571
(276,571)

$ 35,351,649

$ 37,271,589

$ 38,159,793

$ 38,601,450

$ 38,976,755

$ 40,055,767

$ 44,270,559

$ 31,102,147
7,933,557

$ 33,535,086
9,644,766

$ 33,488,345
11,099,637

$ 33,869,014
12,475,309

$ 33,989,708
12,975,444

$ 34,987,905
11,942,336

$ 38,892,348
7,629,363

$ 39,035,704

$ 43,179,852

$ 44,587,982

$ 46,344,323

$ 46,965,152

$ 46,930,241

$ 46,521,711

$ 60,899,389
2,328,152
11,159,812

$ 64,531,834
2,251,305
13,668,302

$ 64,042,128
2,512,603
16,193,044

$ 64,457,781
2,734,866
17,753,126

$ 64,829,424
3,232,564
17,879,919

$ 68,000,194
5,358,178
13,627,636

$ 73,393,907
10,045,571
7,352,792

$ 74,387,353

$ 80,451,441

$ 82,747,775

$ 84,945,773

$ 85,941,907

$ 86,986,008

$ 90,792,270
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Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Changes In Net Position
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Accrual Basis of Accounting)
(Unaudited)
Fiscal Year
2012

2011
Expenses:
Governmental activities:
General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Disaster planning and recovery
Cultural and recreation
Library
Interest on long-term debt
Total governmental activities expenses

$

Business-type activities:
Water and sewer
Solid waste
Total business-type activities expenses
Total primary government expenses
Program revenue:
Governmental activities:
Charges for services
General government
Public safety
Cultural and recreation
Library
Operating grants and contributions
General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Economic and physical development
Cultural and recreation
Library
Capital grants and contributions
General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Economic and physical development
Cultural and recreation
Total governmental activities
program revenue
Business-type activities:
Charges for services:
Water and sewer
Solid waste
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions
Total business-type activities
program revenue
Total primary government
program revenue
(Continued)

92

1,439,277
5,924,665
960,596
1,266,613
141,726
208,152
9,941,029

$

1,608,076
5,941,696
932,790
1,066,750
135,880
340,508
10,025,700

2013
$

1,805,015
7,074,479
231,503
763,721
140,368
297,958
10,313,044

4,667,772
895,433
5,563,205
15,504,234

4,933,504
966,224
5,899,728
15,925,428

4,907,070
872,407
5,779,477
16,092,521

144,243
816,709
103,932
7,818

91,956
115,574
103,211
7,947

87,547
621,344
114,772
6,858

180,140
249,100
53,075

47,863
304,801
252,306
53,075

39,525
263,607
53,075

537,023
2,003,391

179,812
498,563
100,000

200,000
339,608
195,251

4,095,431

1,755,108

1,921,587

4,707,662
846,708
5,985
2,374,606

4,758,541
927,927
127,767
522,823

5,160,283
920,217
255,525
77,691

7,934,961

6,337,058

6,413,716

12,030,392

8,092,166

8,335,303

2014
$ 1,787,898
7,315,678
1,019,054
1,159,643
158,508
314,150
11,754,931

2015
$

1,797,065
7,663,099
939,536
1,139,113
170,326
319,016
12,028,155

Fiscal Year
2017

2016
$

1,667,275
8,629,216
999,423
1,425,224
205,802
311,099
13,238,039

$

2,249,699
9,176,852
1,224,621
954,597
162,679
389,976
14,158,424

2019

2018
$

1,530,546
9,269,368
1,073,074
1,388,170
227,680
370,413
13,859,251

$

2020

3,292,821
10,257,915
688,813
900,708
184,756
298,219
15,623,232

$

3,518,140
10,208,297
968,323
861,693
1,554,753
174,304
350,909
17,636,419

5,028,282
899,208
5,927,490
17,682,421

5,382,993
906,383
6,289,376
18,317,531

5,786,961
887,987
6,674,948
19,912,987

5,924,219
904,126
6,828,345
20,986,769

6,665,800
954,371
7,620,171
21,479,422

6,445,950
1,913,039
8,358,989
23,982,221

7,524,679
1,034,708
8,559,387
26,195,806

66,419
1,187,605
138,247
5,070

116,299
2,019,975
160,427
3,760

109,376
2,134,520
149,198
2,370

183,486
2,447,323
204,194
3,054

145,116
1,901,309
175,230
2,684

133,177
2,182,223
174,319
2,711

137,053
2,090,607
104,287
2,005

39,286
537,708
53,075

35,000
167,796
53,075

86,000
106,174
53,075

199,664
120,450
94,340
53,075

60,553
766,054
237,917
53,075

129,989
642,743
264,020
53,075

76,291
1,458,791
53,075

150,000
271,051
-

200,000
1,324,477
274,388
144,953

272,445
206,596

269,286
4,195

260,000
29,522
-

2,448,461

4,500,150

3,119,754

3,579,067

3,631,460

3,582,257

4,761,029

5,486,373
927,360
14,853
2,447,316

6,040,613
945,157
81,053
3,171,344

6,490,182
944,477
6,096
300,785

6,880,212
952,979
6,328
434,544

6,976,210
954,945
6,235
104,876

7,284,789
958,737
7,025
232,899

7,634,495
1,120,811
1,070,254
1,251,764

8,875,902

10,238,167

7,741,540

8,274,063

8,042,266

8,483,450

11,077,324

11,324,363

14,738,317

10,861,294

11,853,130

11,673,726

12,065,707

15,838,353
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-

838,920
-

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Changes In Net Position (Continued)
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(accrual basis of accounting)
(Unaudited)

Net (expense) revenue:
Governmental activities
Business-type activities
Total primary government net expense

2011

Fiscal Year
2012

2013

$ (5,845,598)
2,371,756
(3,473,842)

$ (8,270,592)
437,330
(7,833,262)

$ (8,391,457)
634,239
(7,757,218)

General revenue and other changes in net position:
Governmental activities:
Taxes:
Property taxes, levied for general purpose
Local option sales tax
Other taxes
Unrestricted intergovernmental
Investment earnings, unrestricted
Gain (Loss) on disposal of assets
Miscellaneous income, unrestricted
Transfers
Total governmental activities
Business-type activities:
Investment earnings
Gain (Loss) on disposal of assets
Miscellaneous income
Transfers
Total business-type activities
Total primary government
Changes in net position:
Governmental activities
Business-type activities
$

Total primary government
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5,775,012
1,511,872
254,620
1,121,557
56,951
59,042
8,779,054

5,953,304
1,842,063
263,509
902,888
21,560
122,668
9,105,992

5,411,825
2,006,679
93,464
1,089,515
11,551
133,242
8,746,276

44,917
286,949
331,866
9,110,920

36,205
294,614
330,819
9,436,811

27,689
292,317
320,006
9,066,282

2,933,456
2,703,622

835,400
768,149

354,819
954,245

5,637,078

$

1,603,549

$

1,309,064

Fiscal Year
2017

2014

2015

2016

$ (9,306,470)
2,948,412
(6,358,058)

$ (7,528,005)
3,948,791
(3,579,214)

$ (10,118,285)
1,066,592
(9,051,693)

6,110,807
1,963,754
93,306
1,118,241
8,939
250,752
9,545,799

6,322,041
2,307,936
74,189
1,353,173
3,629
177,698
(2,427)
10,236,239

6,785,757
2,484,746
29,145
1,402,712
19,089
(47,026)
203,182
10,877,605

6,911,703
2,840,811
35,257
1,402,462
54,295
38,842
189,630
37,500
11,510,500

7,004,591
2,972,776
29,959
1,397,389
114,618
(17,483)
106,666
11,608,516

7,139,424
3,176,645
45,791
1,444,489
200,836
6,015
408,187
698,600
13,119,987

8,290,873
3,341,214
39,392
1,422,392
139,690
10,195
419,226
3,427,200
17,090,182

23,066
333,089
356,155
9,901,954

18,660
319,532
2,427
340,619
10,576,858

28,221
313,317
341,538
11,219,143

62,457
1,614
284,052
(37,500)
310,623
11,821,123

125,561
21,185
324,148
470,894
12,079,410

218,349
861
320,018
(698,600)
(159,372)
12,960,615

140,847
19,555
340,331
(3,427,200)
(2,926,467)
14,163,715

239,329
3,304,567

2,708,234
4,289,410

759,320
1,408,130

931,143
1,756,341

1,380,725
892,989

1,079,012
(34,911)

4,214,792
(408,530)

$ 3,543,896

$

6,997,644

$

2,167,450

$

$

(10,579,357)
1,445,718
(9,133,639)

2,687,484
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2018

2019

2020

$ (10,227,791)
422,095
(9,805,696)

$ (12,040,975)
124,461
(11,916,514)

$ (12,875,390)
2,517,937
(10,357,453)

$

2,273,714

$

1,044,101

$

3,806,262

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Fund Balances, Governmental Funds
Last Ten Years
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting)
(Unaudited)

2011
General Fund:
Non Spendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned
Total General Fund
All Other Governmental Funds:
Non Spendable
Restricted
Assigned
Unassigned
Total all other Governmental
Funds

Fiscal Year
2013

2012

$

2014

2015

5,704
1,396,236
131,979
743,829
2,750,836
$ 5,028,584

$

3,506
1,306,003
131,979
955,600
3,078,547
$ 5,475,635

$

3,886
1,493,214
131,979
129,500
3,423,270
$ 5,181,849

$

4,403
1,921,287
132,979
571,850
3,279,443
$ 5,909,962

$

$

20,785
1,208,059
434,965
(783,374)

$

$

742,896
461,662
-

$

400,865
608,569
(117,951)

$

$

880,435

$ 1,204,558

$

891,483

7,189
1,723,400
927,864
(145,110)

$ 2,513,343

Note: The Town began to report its governmental fund balances in
accordance with GASB 54 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2011.

(Continued)
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9,752
1,873,344
150,503
603,900
4,280,262
$ 6,917,761

377,961
753,456
(118,111)

$ 1,013,306

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Fund Balances, Governmental Funds (Continued)
Last Ten Years
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting)
(Unaudited)

Fiscal Year
2018
2017

2016
General Fund:
Non Spendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned
Total General Fund
All Other Governmental Funds:
Non Spendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned
Total all other Governmental
Funds

$

2019

2020

3,381
2,076,481
282,427
1,742,091
4,061,123
$ 8,165,503

$

13,895
2,344,026
649,395
1,603,568
4,870,510
$ 9,481,394

$

31,805
2,266,667
188,349
1,660,014
5,619,742
$ 9,766,577

$

236,131
2,944,614
219,929
484,060
5,439,902
$ 9,324,636

$

$

$

$

$

$

436,122
952,246
(76,539)

$ 1,311,829

390,840
1,357,434
(78,830)

$ 1,669,444
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965,897
1,369,926
366,480
-

$ 2,702,303

2,413,564
-

$ 2,413,564

15,664
3,282,190
178,609
915,277
3,733,125
$ 8,124,865

6,763,381
-

$ 6,763,381

(This Page Was Intentionally Left Blank)

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Changes In Fund Balances, Governmental Funds
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting)
(Unaudited)

2011
Revenue:
Taxes
Other taxes and licenses
Intergovernmental
Permits and fees
Sales and services
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Total revenue
Expenditures:
General government
Public safety
Highway and streets
Culture and recreation
Disaster planning and recovery
Capital outlay
Debt service:
Interest
Principal
Total expenditures
Excess of revenue (under)
expenditures
Other financing sources (uses):
Sales of capital assets
Transfers in
Transfers out
Debt issued
Total other financing sources
Net changes in fund balance

Fiscal Year
2012

2013

$ 5,794,269
254,620
5,594,738
207,628
708,283
56,951
165,862
12,782,351

$ 5,921,562
263,509
3,595,747
119,754
657,197
21,560
154,852
10,734,181

$ 5,405,814
93,464
4,149,263
193,414
1,170,479
11,551
133,242
11,157,227

1,272,341
5,550,763
839,748
774,498
5,274,968

1,316,704
5,603,595
811,191
822,249
1,601,481

1,329,077
5,814,771
840,581
797,993
2,879,010

196,232
5,223,696
19,132,246

297,089
276,913
10,729,222

300,644
281,816
12,243,892

(6,349,895)

4,959

2,371,207
(2,371,207)
4,808,000

1,565,000
(1,565,000)
2,075,000

4,808,000

2,075,000

$ (1,541,895)

Debt service as a percentage of
noncapital expenditures

38.10%

98

$ 2,079,959

6.29%

(1,086,665)
2,553,133
(2,553,133)
$ (1,086,665)

6.22%

2014

2015

$ 7,777,233
39,392
6,762,285
428,398
2,333,952
139,690
419,226
17,900,176

1,598,377
7,812,983
840,835
1,172,332
641,985

1,920,483
8,380,586
1,014,976
665,102
3,820,429

1,247,054
8,646,949
883,713
1,053,086
1,278,067

2,231,401
9,561,350
791,831
894,039
2,452,671

2,038,757
9,488,949
763,553
1,275,097
861,693
6,155,534

324,036
320,586
12,497,752

312,495
327,762
12,706,769

304,253
331,639
16,437,468

432,126
375,309
13,916,304

1,186,191
298,219
17,415,702

303,516
400,426
21,287,525

722,622

1,335,821

(1,425,332)

1,301,414

(1,435,295)

(3,387,349)

81,559
2,757,020
(2,757,020)
-

85,500
3,006,227
(2,968,727)
2,605,000

16,628
3,440,865
(3,440,865)
-

6,015
5,384,367
(4,685,767)
-

10,195
6,569,613
(3,142,413)
3,100,000

1,492,138
6,695,853
866,211
924,901
1,122,716

1,606,902
7,351,304
1,033,748
1,658,429
202,747

328,535
239,053
11,669,407
415,038

415,038

5.38%

2020

$ 7,122,202
45,791
5,352,864
353,200
2,492,430
200,836
413,084
15,980,407

$ 6,785,716
29,145
4,609,994
345,461
2,050,003
19,089
203,182
14,042,590

$

2019

$ 6,989,089
29,959
5,429,714
339,069
2,224,339
114,618
90,930
15,217,718

$ 6,331,129
74,189
4,544,321
329,559
1,762,902
7,652
170,622
13,220,374

-

2018

6,907,397
35,257
5,146,188
538,310
2,129,870
54,294
200,820
15,012,136

$ 6,106,245
93,306
4,133,115
263,773
1,228,315
8,939
250,752
12,084,445

2,063,847
(2,063,847)
-

Fiscal Year
2017

2016

2,203,261
(2,203,261)
407,000
407,000

81,559

$ 1,129,622

$ 1,417,380

5.24%

$

$

2,728,000

16,628

1,302,668

$ 1,318,042

5.04%

5.31%
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6.39%

704,615
$

(730,680)

9.92%

6,537,395
$ 3,150,046

4.65%

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Assessed Value and Estimated Actual Value of Taxable Property
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

Fiscal
Year
Ending
June 30
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020

Real
Property*
2,129,549,437
1,681,511,072
1,697,292,892
1,706,716,318
1,715,148,131
1,684,259,780
1,704,583,269
1,729,924,854
1,753,582,991
1,785,809,355

Personal
Property*#
177,889,405
184,162,834
185,708,092
211,826,554
189,872,631
240,557,404
255,545,185
256,421,080
270,320,852
265,637,454

Public
Service
Companies*
31,869,633
30,263,614
29,795,181
29,723,837
26,079,819
29,027,941
29,621,629
30,752,082
30,733,697
32,180,535

Total
Assessed
Value*
2,339,308,475
1,895,937,520
1,912,796,165
1,948,266,709
1,931,100,581
1,953,845,125
1,989,750,083
2,017,098,016
2,054,637,540
2,083,627,344

Total
Direct
Tax
Rate
0.0022
0.0029
0.0029
0.0032
0.0033
0.0035
0.0035
0.0035
0.0035
0.0038

Estimated
Actual
Taxable
Value*
2,382,103,664
1,895,937,520
1,767,526,766
1,802,190,770
1,797,900,551
1,823,330,530
1,990,432,189
2,032,456,509
2,080,980,443
2,203,494,390

Taxable
Assessed
Value as a
Percentage of
Actual Taxable
Value of Real
Property
98.03%
100.00%
109.36%
109.36%
108.42%
108.40%
99.96%
99.12%
98.52%
93.71%

Source: Carteret County Tax Scrolls
Notes:
1 The North Carolina General Statutes require a revaluation of real property at least every eight years. Real
property is valued at 100% of estimated value as of the date of the latest revaluation. The last revaluation was
effective for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2012.
2 Personal property is valued at 100% of estimated value.
3 Public service property is generally valued at 100% of estimated value. It may be valued at less that 100% in
years in which the County's sales to assessment ratio on real property is less than 80%.
4 The Town bills and collects property taxes for real, public service, nonregistered motor vehicles, and
personal property. Carteret County billed & collected for property taxes for registered motor vehicles on behalf of
the Town through October 2013. The County continues to collect delinquent taxes on registered motor vehicles
for which it billed. The North Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles began billing/collecting property taxes for
registered motor vehicles through the Tax & Tag program that was implemented during the fiscal year
ending June 30, 2014. The values reported above include property taxes billed and collected by the
Town, County and State.
* Excludes tax exempt property
# Includes registered motor vehicles billed and collected by Carteret County

100

98.20%
100.00%
108.22%
108.11%
107.41%
107.16%
99.97%
99.24%
98.73%
94.56%

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal
Year
Ending
June 30,
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020

Direct
Rate
Morehead
City
0.220
0.285
0.285
0.315
0.330
0.350
0.350
0.350
0.350
0.380

Overlapping
Rate
Carteret
County
0.230
0.300
0.290
0.290
0.300
0.300
0.350
0.310
0.310
0.310

Notes:
1 Source of County tax rates - Carteret County Tax Office.
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Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Principal Property Tax Owners
Current Year and Nine Years Ago
(Unaudited)

Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2011

Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2020

Customer
ITAC 192 LLC
CARTERET PLACE INVESTORS LLC
USPG PORTFOLIO FIVE LLC
DUKE ENERGY PROGRESS INC
STEVENS TOWING COMPANY
WAL MART REAL EST BUSINESS TR
4 SISTERS-00 LLC ETAL
VININGS AT MOREHEAD LLC
SOUTHSTAR HOLDING MHC LLC ETAL
ZP NO 185 LLC

Taxable
Assessed
Value
$ 25,357,352
25,082,185
19,274,257
18,357,678
18,333,669
15,027,141
13,588,577
11,302,080
10,988,577
8,778,720

Rank

% of Total
Town Taxable
Assessed
Value

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

1.28
1.26
0.97
0.92
0.92
0.76
0.68
0.57
0.55
0.44

USPG PORTFOLIO TWO LLC
PROGRESS ENERGY CAROLINAS
MOREHEAD PLAZA LLC ETAL
OLD TOWNE YACHT CLUB INC
CAROLINA TELEPHONE
RADIO ISLAND MARINA CLUB INC
ZP NO 170 LLC

166,090,236

8.35

Rank

% of Total
Town Taxable
Assessed
Value

$ 23,299,378

1

1.00

15,208,791

3

0.65

13,657,722
9,124,298

6

0.58
0.39

19,295,409
14,067,386
13,828,270
11,881,446
9,311,643
9,383,699
9,124,298

2
4
5
7
9
8
10

0.82
0.60
0.59
0.51
0.40
0.40
0.39

Taxable
Assessed
Value

148,182,340

Values reported above include amounts for property billed and collected by the Town. It excludes values for registered motor vehicles billed by
Carteret County and the NC Department of Motor Vehicles on behalf of the Town.
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6.33

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Property Tax Levies and Collections
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal
Year
Ended
June 30,
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020

Collected within the
Fiscal Year of the Levy
Taxes Levied
for the
Fiscal Year
$ 5,015,615
5,240,988
5,260,008
5,865,417
6,131,180
6,558,115
6,678,662
6,762,936
6,857,218
7,543,849

Amount
$ 4,982,951
5,181,661
5,205,324
5,810,430
6,089,596
6,508,576
6,630,957
6,708,097
6,808,666
7,438,242

Percentage
of Levy
99.35
98.87
98.96
99.06
99.32
99.24
99.29
99.19
99.29
98.60

Source: Town of Morehead City tax reports.
Note:
Excludes motor vehicle taxes
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Total Collections to Date
Collections in
Subsequent
Years
32,071
57,770
50,507
52,701
38,807
42,779
34,615
35,813
18,673
-

Amount
$ 5,015,022
5,239,431
5,255,831
5,863,131
6,128,403
6,551,355
6,665,572
6,743,910
6,827,339
7,438,242

Percentage
of Levy
99.99
99.97
99.92
99.96
99.95
99.90
99.80
99.72
99.56
98.60

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

Fiscal
Year
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020

Governmental
Activities
General
Obligation
Installment
Bonds
Contracts
$
$ 6,725,391
8,531,541
8,258,121
8,027,810
8,119,877
7,801,593
10,084,824
9,662,974
8,753,807
11,550,291

Notes
Payable
$ 341,230
333,167
324,771
316,029
306,925
297,447
287,577
277,302
-

Capital
Leases
$
-

Note: Details regarding the Town's outstanding debt may be found in the notes to the
financial statements
N/A Not Available
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Business-Type
Activities
Revenue
Bonds
$
4,932,000
4,932,000
4,857,000
4,780,000
4,701,000
4,619,000

Installment
Contracts
$ 1,987,380
1,620,429
1,236,578
840,289
432,824
151,484
-

Notes
Payable
$ 17,188,307
16,318,704
20,886,144
19,843,403
13,868,662
12,825,921
13,014,957
13,398,152
12,007,250
10,877,500

Total
Primary
Government
$ 26,242,308
26,803,841
30,705,614
29,027,531
27,660,288
26,008,445
28,244,359
28,118,428
25,462,057
27,046,791
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Population
Estimate
8,693
8,810
9,163
9,313
9,319
9,362
9,361
9,380
9,481
9,517

Total Debt
Total debt
Per
as Percentage of
Capita
Personal Income
3,019
0.99%
3,042
0.95%
3,351
1.06%
3,117
0.96%
2,968
0.91%
2,778
0.81%
3,017
0.85%
2,998
0.82%
2,686
0.71%
2,842
N/A

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

Fiscal
Year
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020

General
Bonded Debt
Outstanding
$

-

Estimated
Actual
Taxable
, Value
,
,
$ 2,096,590,115
2,382,103,664
1,895,937,520
1,912,796,165
1,948,266,709
1,931,100,581
1,953,845,125
1,989,750,083
2,032,456,509
2,080,980,443
2,203,494,390

Percentage of
Actual Taxable
Total debt
Value of
Population
Per
Property
Estimate
Capita
,
0.00%
8,830
0.00%
8,693
0.00%
8,810
0.00%
9,163
0.00%
9,313
0.00%
9,319
0.00%
9,362
0.00%
9,361
0.00%
9,380
0.00%
9,481
0.00%
9,517
-

Note: Details regarding the Town's outstanding debt may be found in the notes to the financial statements.
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Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020
(Unaudited)

Debt
Outstanding
$ 23,390,000

Governmental Unit
Carteret County Debt
Subtotal, overlapping debt

$

Town direct debt

Estimated
Share of
Estimated
Direct and
Percentage
Overlapping
Applicable
Debt
13.46% $
3,148,294

23,390,000
-

3,148,294
100.00%

11,550,291
$

Total direct and overlapping debt
Notes:
1 Overlapping governments are those that coincide, at least in part, with the geographical
boundaries of the Town. This schedule estimates the portion of the outstanding debt of
those overlapping governments that is borne by the residents and businesses of
Morehead City. This process recognizes that, when considering the Town's ability to
issue and repay long-term debt, the entire debt burden borne by the residents and
businesses should be taken into account. However, this does not imply that every
taxpayer is a resident-and therefore responsible for repaying the debt-of each overlapping
government.
2 The source of County debt is the Carteret County Finance Office.
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14,698,585

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Legal Debt Margin Information
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(dollars in thousands)
(Unaudited)

2011
Debt limit

$

Total net debt applicable to limit
Legal debt margin

2012

187,144,678

Total net debt applicable to the
limit as a percentage of debt limit

187,144,678

$ 2,083,627,344

Debt limit (8% of assessed value)

166,690,188
$

$

$ 151,675,002

0.00%

Legal Debt Margin
Calculation for Fiscal Year 2019
Total assessed valuation

Legal debt margin

$ 151,675,002

$

2013

0.00%

166,690,188
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2014

153,023,693

$

$

153,023,693

0.00%

2015

155,861,337

$

$

155,861,337

0.00%

154,488,046
-

$

154,488,046

0.00%

2016
$

2017

156,307,610

$

$

156,307,610

0.00%

2018

159,180,007

$

$

159,180,007

0.00%

2018

155,861,337

$

$

2019

161,367,841

$

-

155,861,337

0.00%
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$

161,367,841

0.00%

2020

155,861,337

$

$

155,861,337

0.00%

166,690,188
-

$

166,690,188

0.00%

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Demographic and Economic Statistics
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

Carteret
Morehead
Fiscal
County
City
Average
Year
Public
Public
Annual
Per Capita
Ending
School
School
Unemployment
Personal
Personal
June 30, Population (1) Enrollment (2) Enrollment (2)
Rate (3)
Income (4)
Income (4)
2011
8,693
8,491
2,608
8.5% $
39,174
$
2,639,299
2012
8,810
8,336
2,585
9.3%
41,761
2,824,360
2013
9,163
8,307
2,588
8.5%
42,214
2,888,870
2014
9,313
8,254
2,599
6.5%
43,903
3,021,043
2015
9,319
8,445
2,665
5.8%
44,199
3,044,352
2016
9,362
8,141
2,526
5.7%
46,654
3,212,372
2017
9,361
8,072
2,620
4.9%
47,871
3,297,436
2018
9,380
8,006
2,556
4.3%
49,360
3,431,692
2019
9,481
7,892
2,554
4.7%
N/A
N/A
2020
9,517
8,058
2,582
5.2%
N/A
N/A
Notes:
1 Population and median age provided by NC Office of Planning-State Demographer
2 Public school enrollment provided by the Carteret County Board of Education
3 Unemployment provided by the NC Dept. of Commerce and is presented at the County level
4 Per capita personal income and personal income provided by the U S Bureau of Economic
Analysis. Information is available at the county level and presented on that
basis. (In thousands)
N/A - information not yet available for the year listed.
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Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Principal Employers
Current Year and Nine Years Ago
(Unaudited)

2020

Employer
Carteret County General Hospital
Carteret County Board of Education
Carteret Community College
Walmart
Bally Refrigerated Boxes, Inc
Town of Morehead City
Lowes Home Improvement
NC Dept of Environment & Natural Resources
McDonald's
Lowes Food
Big Rock Sports
Food Lion

Employees
1000-1499
250-499
250-499
250-499
100-249
100-249
100-249
100-249
50-99
50-99
50-99
50-99

Notes:
1 Information for number of employees only available in ranges.
2 Source of information is NC Department of Commerce
3 N/A = Information not available.
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Rank
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

2011

Employees
1000-1499
250-499
250-499
500-999
100-249
100-249
100-249
100-249
100-249
100-249
100-249
100-249

Rank
1
3
4
2
9
8
10
5
7
6

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Full-Time Equivalent Town Government Employees By Functions/Programs
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

2020 2019

2018

Full-Time Equivalent Employees as of June 30
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

2011

FUNCTION
General Government:
Administration
Information Technology
Finance
Building & Grounds
Garage
Public Safety:
Police
Fire/EMS
Planning & Inspections
Transportation:
Streets
Recreation & Culture:
Recreation
Parks
Library
Water & Sewer:
Billing & collections
Wells & water treatment
Water Distbr. & sewer collect.
Wastewater treatment
Solid Waste:
Operations
TOTAL

5
2
7
5
2

5
2
7
5
2

5
2
7
5
1

4
1
7
5
2

4
1
7
5
2

4
1
7
6
2

5
7
5
2

5
7
5
2

5
6
5
2

5
6
7
1

48
54
8

45
51
8

45
54
7

47
52
7

46
49
7

46
44
7

48
38
7

47
35
7

45
34
6

45
34
6

10

9

10

9

9

9

9

9

9

9

4
5
3

8
4
3

8
5
3

8
4
3

7
3
3

8
3
3

7
3
3

7
3
5

6
3
4

8
1
4

4
2
15
8

4
2
15
8

4
2
15
8

4
2
16
8

4
2
14
9

4
2
15
8

4
2
14
8

4
1
14
8

4
15
7

4
15
7

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

179

182

180

173

170

163

160

152

153

183
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Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Operating Indicators By Function/Program
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

Function/Program

2011

2012

2013

2014

Function/Program
Public Safety
81,015

72,351

72,194

75,004

943

1,050

1,256

985

$ 24,851,031

$ 38,126,292

$ 21,528,398

$ 26,764,940

14.20

15.73

15.73

15.73

Police calls dispatched ##
Number of building permits issued ##
Construction value of building permits issued ##
Fire/EMS area served in square miles ##
Fire calls answered ##
EMS calls answered ##

966

1,015

762

707

1,801

2,058

2,261

2,505

49.82

50.27

50.27

50.27

5,323

5,375

5,419

5,454

Highways and Streets
Miles of streets maintained **
Water/Sewer
Number of customers served **
Daily avg. gallons water consumption ##

1,209,000

1,208,000

1,163,000

1,165,000

Daily avg. gallons waste water treated ##

1,199,000

1,169,000

1,121,000

1,144,000

Solid waste collected annually (tons) **

3,235

3,204

3,077

3,080

Recyclables collected annually (tons) **

397

398

366

365

Sanitation

Notes:
1 Items noted with ## are presented on a calendar year basis.
2 Items noted with ** are presented on a fiscal year basis.
3 N/A = information not available
4 Source of Information Various Town of Morehead City Departments
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2015

2016

68,038

2017

58,144

2018

59,164
1,110

2019

56,360
1,227

2020

45,735

43,208

1,382

1,507

$ 45,115,238

$62,437,469

1,094

1,256

$ 68,690,713

$ 37,701,802

28.00

28.00

28.00

28.00

28.00

28.00

667

785

507

516

635

514

2,499

3,201

3,470

3,476

3,669

3712

50.35

50.35

50.35

50.35

5,339

5,534

5,623

5,797

5,857

6,357

1,160,000

1,191,000

990,000

1,030,000

1,024,000

1,218,000

1,340,000

1,438,000

1,396,000

1,430,000

1,549,000

1,448,000

3,010

3,056

3,047

3,045

3,227

3,240

435

469

515

492

598

563

$ 36,314,424

$ 46,359,377
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50.64

50.64

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Capital Asset Statistics By Function/Program
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

Calendar Year
2012

2011
Function/Program
General Government
Number of cemeteries

2013

3

3

3

4
52
1
4
5
3
1

4
50
1
4
5
4
1

2
46
1
3
5
5
1

Highways and Streets
Miles of streets

49.82

50.27

50.27

Culture and Recreation
Number of parks
Number of public water accesses
Park acreage
Tennis and multipurpose courts
Playgrounds
Ballfields
Number of libraries

16
22
76.00
7
4
11
1

16
22
76.00
7
5
11
1

16
22
77.50
7
6
10
1

Water/Sewer
Miles of water mains
Miles of sanitary sewers
Number of water treatment plants
Number of treatment plants

83.25
79.50
0
2

83.25
79.50
1
2

83.25
79.50
1
2

2

2

2

Public Safety
Number of police stations/substations
Number of patrol units
Number of police boats
Number of Fire/EMS stations
Number of engines
Number of ambulances
Number of Fire/EMS boats

Sanitation
Number of yard waste trucks
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2014

2016

2015

Calendar Year
2017

2019

2018

2020

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

2
46
1
3
5
5
1

2
48
1
3
7
5
1

2
47
1
3
7
5
1

2
44
1
3
7
5
1

2
44
1
3
7
5
1

2
46
1
3
7
5
1

2
46
1
3
7
5
1

50.27

50.35

50.35

50.35

50.35

50.64

50.64

16
23
77.50
7
6
10
1

16
23
77.50
7
6
10
1

16
23
77.50
7
6
10
1

16
23
77.50
7
6
10
1

16
23
77.50
7
6
10
1

16
23
77.50
7
6
10
1

16
23
77.50
7
6
10
1

83.25
79.50
1
2

83.50
80.00
3
2

83.50
80.00
3
2

83.50
80.00
3
2

83.50
80.00
3
2

83.50
80.00
3
2

83.50
80.00
3
2

2

2

2

2

2

2
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COMPLIANCE SECTION

The Compliance Section contains various schedules and Auditor opinions reflecting Federal,
State, and local matching participation in various projects and programs of the Town. The
provisions of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, and the State
Single Audit Implementation Act established audit requirements for State and Local
governments that receive Federal assistance. The audit requirements were established to
insure that the audits are conducted on an organization wide basis, rather than on a grant-bygrant basis.

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an
Audit of Financial Statements Performed in
Accordance With Government Auditing Standards
Independent Auditor’s Report

Honorable Mayor and
Members of the Town Council
Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of
Town of Morehead City, North Carolina (the Town), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise Town of Morehead City’s basic
financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated January 27, 2021.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Town of Morehead City’s
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing the audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Town of Morehead
City’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s
internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination
of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement
of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe
than a material weakness yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may
exist that have not been identified. Given these limitations, during the audit, we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, we did identify a
certain deficiency in internal control described in the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned
Costs as finding 2020-001 that we consider to be a significant deficiency.
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Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town of Morehead City’s financial
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a
direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.
Town Response to Finding
Town of Morehead City's response to the finding identified in our audit is described in the accompanying
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs and Corrective Action Plan. The Town's response was not
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we
express no opinion on it.
Purpose of This Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Town’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly,
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Morehead City, North Carolina
January 27, 2021
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Report On Compliance For the Major Federal Program and Report On
Internal Control Over Compliance Required By
the Uniform Guidance
Independent Auditor’s Report
Honorable Mayor and
Members of the Town Council
Town of Morehead City, North Carolina

Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program
We have audited Town of Morehead City, North Carolina’s (the Town) compliance with the types of
compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement and the Audit Manual for
Governmental Auditors in North Carolina, issued by the Local Government Commission that could have a
direct and material effect on Town of Morehead City’s major federal program for the year ended June 30,
2020. Town of Morehead City’s major federal program is identified in the summary of auditor’s results
section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.
Management’s Responsibility
Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and
conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for Town’s major federal program based on our
audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of compliance in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part
200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards
(Uniform Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance Act require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program
occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the Town’s compliance with those
requirements and performing such other procedures, as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for the major federal
program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination on Town of Morehead City’s
compliance.
Opinion on the Major Federal Program
In our opinion, Town of Morehead City, North Carolina complied, in all material respects, with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on its major
federal program for the year ended June 30, 2020.
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance
Management of the Town of Morehead City is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective
internal control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning
and performing our audit of compliance, we considered the Town of Morehead City’s internal control over
compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on its major federal
program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose
of expressing our opinion on compliance for its major federal program and to test and report on internal
control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s internal control over compliance.
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However,
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the
Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Morehead City, North Carolina
January 27, 2021
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Report On Compliance For each Major State Program and On
Internal Control Over Compliance Required By
the State Single Audit Implementation Act
Independent Auditor’s Report
Honorable Mayor and
Members of the Town Council
Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Report on Compliance for the Major State Program
We have audited Town of Morehead City, North Carolina’s (the Town) compliance with the types of
compliance requirements described in the Audit Manual for Governmental Auditors in North Carolina,
issued by the Local Government Commission that could have a direct and material effect on each of
Town of Morehead City’s major State programs for the year ended June 30, 2020. Town of Morehead
City’s major State programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying
schedule of findings and questioned costs.
Management’s Responsibility
Management is responsible for compliance with State statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions
of its State awards applicable to its state programs.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the Town’s major State programs
based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of
compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States; and the applicable sections of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for
Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance), and the State Single Audit Implementation Act. Those standards,
the Uniform Guidance and the State Single Audit Implementation Act require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major State program
occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the Town’s compliance with those
requirements and performing such other procedures, as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each of the major
State programs. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination on Town of Morehead City’s
compliance.
Opinion on the Major State Program
In our opinion, Town of Morehead City, North Carolina complied, in all material respects, with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each major
state program for the year ended June 30, 2020.
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance
Management of the Town of Morehead City is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective
internal control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning
and performing our audit of compliance, we considered the Town of Morehead City’s internal control over
compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on its major State
programs to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose
of expressing our opinion on compliance for its major State programs and to test and report on internal
control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s internal control over compliance.
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
State program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency,
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a State program will not
be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over
compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type
of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal
control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However,
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the
Uniform Guidance and the State Audit Implementation Act. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any
other purpose.

Morehead City, North Carolina
January 27, 2021
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Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020
Section I.

Summary of Auditor’s Results

Financial Statements
Type of report the auditor issued on whether the financial statements audited were presented in accordance
with GAAP: Unmodified
Internal control over financial reporting:



Material weakness(es) identified?



Significant deficiency(ies) identified?

yes
X

Noncompliance material to financial
statements noted

X

no

yes

none reported

yes

X

no

Federal Awards
Internal control over major Federal programs:



Material weakness(es) identified?

yes

X

no



Significant deficiency(ies) identified?

yes

X

none reported

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major Federal programs: Unmodified
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)?
yes

X

Identification of major Federal program:
CFDA No.
97.036

Names of Federal Program or Cluster
Disaster Grants-Public Assistance Grant (FEMA)

Dollar threshold used to distinguish
between Type A and Type B Programs

$750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

Yes
(Continued)
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X

no

no

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued)
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020
Section I.

Summary of Auditor’s Results (Continued)

State Awards
Internal control over major State programs:



Material weakness(es) identified?

yes

X

no



Significant deficiency(ies) identified?

yes

X

none reported

X

no

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major State programs: Unmodified
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with the State Single Audit
Implementation Act?
yes
Identification of major State program:
CFDA No.
97.036
N/A

Names of State Program or Cluster
Disaster Grants-Public Assistance Grant (FEMA)
NC Department of Transportation NonState System Street Aid Allocation
(Powell Bill)

Dollar threshold used to distinguish
between Type A and Type B Programs

$500,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

Yes
(Continued)
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X

no

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued)
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020
Section II.

Financial Statement Findings

Significant Deficiencies
Finding 2020-001-Inventory Pricing Error and Inventory Tracking
Criteria: According to generally accepted accounting principles and the accrual basis of accounting,
inventory pricing may be determined under any one of several assumptions as to the flow of cost factors
(such as average cost, FIFO, and LIFO).
Condition and Context: The Town of Morehead City values its inventory at cost using the first-in, first out
method. The Town did not appropriately track their inventory purchases and work orders and this resulted in
an error for 2 out of 4 samples tested. In addition, the Town was unable to rollback inventory to the year-end
count.
Effect: The factual misstatement was a $539 understatement of inventory and the projected misstatement
was a $24,240 understatement.
Cause: The Town does not have a method for tracking inventory utilized on work orders and inventory was
only being updated during the year-end count.
Recommendation: We recommend that the Town utilizes the inventory module within their accounting
software to appropriately track additions and deletions of inventory items. We note that the Town began to
implement this system in April, 2020 and a portion of the software that tracks inventory went into the live
environment in October 2020. In addition, RSM recommends that the finance department performs a more
detailed review of inventory at year end and to help ensure the count procedures are appropriately
performed.
Management Response: See Corrective Action Plan.
Section III.

Findings and Questioned Costs for Federal Awards
None reported

.
Section IV.

Findings and Questioned Costs for State Awards
None reported.
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Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings
Year Ended June 30, 2020
Section II.

Financial Statement Findings
There were no findings reported during the year ended June 30, 2019.

Section III.

Findings and Questioned Costs for Federal Awards
There were no findings reported during the year ended June 30, 2019.

Section IV.

Findings and Questioned Costs for State Awards
There were no findings reported during the year ended June 30, 2019.
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TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY, NORTH CAROLINA
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AND STATE AWARDS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020

Page 1 of 2
Grantor/Pass-Through
Grantor/Program Title
Federal Awards:
US Department of Housing and
Urban Development
Pass through East Carolina Regional
Housing Authority
Public Housing Drug Elimination Program
US Department of Justice
Direct Programs:
Bulletproof Vest Partnership Grant
Pass through Carteret County Board of Education
School Resource Officer
Pass through NC Department of Public Safety
Justice Assistance Grant (JAG)
Total US Department of Justice
US Department of Homeland Security
Pass through Dept of Public Safety
Staffing for Adequate Fire and Emergency
Response (SAFER)
Pass through NC Department of Public Safety
Division of Emergency Management
Public Assistance Grant (FEMA):
DR4393NC - Town-Wide Debris Removal
DR4393NC - Emergency Protective Measures
DR4393NC - Signs
City Parks
Rotary Park and Sports Facilities
City of Morehead - Debris Removal (Citywide)
DR-4393-NC - Fire Station 1 & 2
Outflow Pipes
APP CERT- Parks and Recreation
City of Morehead - Emergency Protective Measures
DR4393NC - Cat G - Piers and Docks
Total Public Assistance Grant (FEMA)

Federal
CFDA1
Number/
State
Program

Federal/State
Pass-Through
Grantor's
Number

14.854

NC19P010022-95A

16.607

unavailable

1,974

-

16.594

unavailable

154,518

-

41,551

16.738

unavailable

14,473
170,965

-

41,551

97.083

unavailable

102,972

-

97.036
97.036
97.036
97.036
97.036
97.036
97.036
97.036
97.036
97.036
97.036

PW 69616
PW 69620
PW 69669
PW 69633
PW 69638
PW 120049
PW 79257
PW 126788
PW 126807
PW 120050
PW 69373

796,906
363,809
12,097
42,137
32,467
38,475
11,435
8,550
6,918
92,402
243,343
1,648,539

4,032
14,046
10,822
12,825
3,812
2,850
2,306
30,801
81,494

-

1,751,511

81,494

-

Total US Department of Homeland Security
(Continued)

128

Expenditures

Federal

$

35,000

State

$

Local

-

$

-

-

-

-

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY, NORTH CAROLINA
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AND STATE AWARDS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020
Federal
CFDA1
Number/
State
Program

Federal/State
Pass-Through
Grantor's
Number

NC Department of Environmental Quality
Division of Water Resources
Shallow Draft Navigation Channel Dredging

DEQ-19

n/a

NC Department of Commerce
Hometown Strong Disaster Recovery Grant

COM-5

Page 2 of 2
Grantor/Pass-Through
Grantor/Program Title

Expenditures

Federal

State

Local

State Grants:

-

$ 133,169

n/a

-

36,140

-

n/a

n/a

-

26,243

-

DR-4393

n/a

-

10,225

-

NC Department of Transportation
Nonstate System Street Aid Allocation

DOT-4

n/a

-

745,203

-

NC State Office of Budget and Management
Disaster Recovery Grant - Dredging

GOV-2

n/a

-

67,250

-

NC Department of Public Instruction
Pass through Carteret County Board of Education
School Safety Grant
NC Department of Public Safety
NC Office of Recovery and Resiliency
State Grant for Financially Distressed Local Governments

Total federal expenditures
Total state expenditures
Total local expenditures

$

$

$

-

1,957,476
$ 1,099,724
$

See Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards.
Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance number
n/a-not applicable

1
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41,551

Town of Morehead City, North Carolina
Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Note 1.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal and State awards (SEFSA) includes the federal
and State grant activity of the Town of Morehead City under the programs of the federal government
and the State of North Carolina for the year ended June 30, 2020. The information in this SEFSA is
presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200,
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Costs Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards
(Uniform Guidance). Because the SEFSA presents only a select portion of the operations of the Town
of Morehead City, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net
assets or cash flows of the Town of Morehead City. There were no federal or state awards passed
through to subrecipients for the year ended June 30, 2020.
Note 2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Expenditures reported in the SEFSA are reported on the modified accrual basis of accounting. Such
expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein
certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursements. Negative amounts
shown on the SEFSA, if any, represent adjustments or credits made in the normal course of business
to amounts reported as expenditures in prior years.
Note 3.

Loans Outstanding

The Town of Morehead City has outstanding loan balances from federal and State funding sources that
are not required to be presented within the SEFSA because there are no continuing requirements
beyond the repayment of the loan balances in accordance with loan agreement provisions. Loans
outstanding at June 30, 2020 consist of:
Amount
Outstanding
$ 255,000
250,000
6,750,000
322,500
2,306,720
4,259,037
1,884,533
4,619,000

Program Title
Safe Drinking Water Revolving Loan Fund
Clean Water Revolving Loan Fund
Clean Water State Revolving Loan Fund
Drinking Water State Revolving Loan Fund
Katherine Davis Park
Police Station E911 Building Loan
Fire/EMS Station #2
Water Treatment Facilities

Note 4.

Indirect Cost

The Town of Morehead City has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimus indirect cost rate as
allowed under the Uniform Guidance.
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Town Council Minutes
Morehead City, North Carolina

Tuesday, January 5, 2021

The Honorable Council of the Town of Morehead City held the monthly Workshop
Meeting on Tuesday, January 5, 2021, in the Municipal Chambers located at 202 South 8th Street,
Morehead City, North Carolina.
This meeting was partially conducted utilizing Zoom Video Communication Inc. software
due to the COVID-19 crisis and Governor Cooper’s Executive Order 141 imposing the
requirement to maintain six-foot (6’) distancing. Those in attendance were:
COUNCIL PRESENT:

Mayor Gerald A. Jones, Jr.; Councilmembers George Ballou, Keri
McCann, and Bill Taylor. Councilmember Diane C. Warrender
arrived at 9:10 a.m.

STAFF PRESENT:

City Manager Ryan Eggleston; Fire Chief Jamie Fulk, Finance
Director Jewel Lasater, Police Chief Bernette Morris, Human
Resources Director Susan Nixon, Communications Director Alize
Proisy, Parks and Recreation Director Jerry Riggs, Planning
Director Sandi Watkins, Public Services Director Daniel Williams,
Fire/EMS Battalion Chief Courtney Wade, and City Clerk Cathy
Campbell.

OTHERS PRESENT:

Elise Clouser of Carteret News Times.

COUNCIL PARTICIPATING: Councilmember David Horton
VIA ZOOM:
STAFF PARTICIPATING
VIA ZOOM:

City Attorney Derek Taylor, Deputy Clerk/Executive Assistant
Kathy Eagle, Building Inspector Robert Davis

OTHERS PARTICIPATING Susan Shouse
VIA ZOOM:
Mayor Jones called the workshop meeting of the Morehead City Town Council to order at
9:00 a.m. with a quorum present.
PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS
Review Ordinance 2021-O-01 Approving the Request to Amend the Highway Commercial
Conditional Zoning District and Associated Special Use Permit for 2406 Mayberry Loop
Road (PIN #637612975021000) to Allow Boat Storage, Recreational Vehicle Storage, Parking
Facility and Self-Service Storage Facility Uses, and Resolution 2021-R-01 of Plan
Consistency in Accordance with NCGS 160A-393 for Map Amendment.
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Councilmember Ballou advised Mayor Jones and the Council that he has a financial interest
in this matter and asked to be excused from the discussion today and at the upcoming Regular
meeting. Mayor Jones stated that discussion of the item would not take place until the public
hearings scheduled for January 12, 2021; therefore, it would not be necessary for him to step down
during this meeting.
Planning Director Sandi Watkins presented the request submitted by Ballou & Sons, Inc.,
to rezone 2406 Mayberry Loop Road (PIN# 637612975021) from CH-CU (Highway Commercial
– Conditional Use) to CH-CZ (Highway Commercial – Conditional Zoning with an amendment to
allow boat storage, recreational vehicle storage, parking facilities and storage buildings (up to four
additional buildings) stating that it is an amendment to an existing permit at 2404 Mayberry Loop
Road. The effect of the request would be to allow the outdoor storage of boats, RVs, and other
wheeled vehicles, on the property.
The 2006 approval restricted this type of outdoor storage to the area located behind the
storage buildings on the adjacent site at 2404 Mayberry Loop Road. Future outdoor storage would
continue to be allowed in accordance with the prior approval.
The Planning Board reviewed the request at their December 15, 2020 meeting and
approved by majority vote (5-2) to recommend approval of the request as presented. Sally
Lumpkin made the motion and Tom Saunders seconded. Tom Outlaw and Andrea Smith were
opposed.
Due to the quasi-judicial nature of the request, it will be conducted according to evidentiary
hearing procedures.
In accordance with N.C.G.S. 160A-31, this public hearing was advertised in the Carteret
News Times twice, Sunday, December 27, 2020 and on Sunday, January 3, 2021, and property
owners within 300 feet of the property were notified of this public hearing in writing on December
30, 2020. The property has been posted.
Councilmember Horton asked if approval of the request was dependent upon acceptance
of the commercial zoning district that is also proposed for consideration. Ms. Watkins stated that
it does not. Session Law 2019-111 specifies that all property designated as conditional use will
automatically transition to commercial zoning.
Councilmember Horton then asked that the Planning Board minutes and information
regarding the landscaping/buffering requirements to be made available for review in advance of
the hearing.
Review Ordinance 2021-O-02 Approving Request to Rezone 3822 Galantis Drive (PIN
#637613242798000) From RMF-CZ (Residential Multifamily-Conditional Zoning) District
to OP (Office & Professional) District, and Resolution 2021-R-02 of Plan Consistency in
Accordance with NCGS 160A-383 For Map Amendment
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Council will review Ordinance 2021-O-02, approving the request submitted by Embassy
Snug Harbor Realty, LLC, on behalf of Best Ventures, LLC, to rezone the eastern portion of 3822
Galantis Drive (PIN# 637613242798000) totaling 5.6 acres from RMF-CZ (Residential MultifamilyConditional Zoning) District to OP (Office & Professional) District. The property is currently vacant
and wooded.
The surrounding zoning districts include R20 to the north, OP to the east, RMF-CZ to the
south across Galantis Drive, and MA-CZ (Medical Arts Conditional Zoning) District to the west.
Surrounding land use includes single-family residential to the north, vacant lots to the south across
Galantis Drive and to the west, and the Leon Mann Senior Center to the east. The property is
located within the corporate limits.
This property is in Neighborhood 5 of the 2007 Core Land Use Plan and is classified as
Low Density Residential on the Future Land Use map.
In accordance with N.C.G.S. 160A-31, this public hearing was advertised in the Carteret
News Times twice, Sunday, December 27, 2020 and on Sunday, January 3, 2021, and property
owners within 300 feet of the property were notified of this public hearing. The property has been
posted.
The Planning Board reviewed the request at their December 15, 2020 meeting and
unanimously approved recommendation of the rezoning as presented. Diana Tootle made the
motion and Andrea Smith seconded.
Councilmember Horton questioned the dual zoning on the property as it is not to be
permitted under the new zoning ordinance. Ms. Watkins stated that this request was submitted
under the current Code of Ordinances which allows dual zoning. Any determinations regarding
the terminus of Mandy Lane will be considered during the major subdivision review.
Councilmember Horton stated that the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) specifies
that conditional use zoning is to be removed after three (3) years if the property is not developed.
Although the UDO states that zoning designation may be removed if the property has not been
developed, Ms. Watkins stated that the City has not been in the practice of reviewing them. This
is something that can be reviewed in the future.
Review Ordinance 2021-O-03 to Amend Article 2-2 Definitions to Add a Definition for
Conditional Zoning; Repeal Article 10 Conditional Use District in its Entirety, and Replace
it with Article 10 Conditional District and Related Amendments Contained Under Sections
3-12 The City Council, 12-2.4 Development Standards, 13-1 Schedule of Development
Requirements, 15-6 Landscape Plan Requirements, 24-3 Application Procedure, and
Appendix A-4 Graphic Materials Required for Plans, and Resolution 2021-R-03 of Plan
Consistency in Accordance with NCGS 160A-383 for Ordinance Amendment
Planning Director Sandi Watkins reviewed Ordinance 2021-O-03, a City-initiated request
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2 Definitions to add a definition for Conditional Zoning; repeal Article 10 Conditional Use District
in its entirety, and replace it with Article 10 Conditional District and related amendments contained
under Sections 3-12 The City Council, 12-2.4 Development Standards, 13-1 Schedule of
Development Requirements, 15-6 Landscape Plan Requirements, 24-3 Application Procedure, and
Appendix A-4 Graphic Materials Required for Plans. The purpose of these amendments is to
comply with new laws that eliminate conditional use district zoning. The draft was developed
using the Town’s existing conditional use ordinance, as well as reviewing other jurisdiction
ordinances. It was reviewed by the City Attorney and the recommended changes have been
incorporated.
The proposed ordinance includes amendments to definitions that mirror definitions in the
state statutes and is structured similar to the existing conditional use district in that each conditional
zoning district has a parallel zoning classification. Under the current draft, development is required
to meet the minimum standards for the requirements in the base district, plus any additional
conditions imposed by the parallel conditional zoning district. In order to be allowed, a use must
be either a permitted or special use in a district.
The proposed ordinance spells out submittal requirements, including additional materials
that may be requested by staff, the Planning Board, or Council, in evaluation of an individual
conditional zoning district. One of these requirements is the submittal of a community meeting
conducted between the developer and the surrounding community. Like the conditional use district
process, the new process allows for fair and reasonable conditions to be applied to a conditional
zoning district. Any conditions agreed upon must be approved by the Council and consented to in
writing by the petitioner.
The proposed ordinance outlines procedure for modifications to approved plans. Certain
modifications are considered major modifications and must go to Council, while others are
considered minor and may be approved administratively.
It provides information on how existing approvals are transferred. Conditional use districts
become conditional zoning districts. If approved under the conditional use ordinance, conditional
use permits become special use permits. It also proposes to amend various sections that reference
conditional use permits and conditional use districts throughout the UDO.
The only substantive change to the other sections adjusted is the deletion of the allowance
for additional height allowed in CD (Downtown Commercial) and DB (Downtown Business)
districts. This is due to the fact that the current draft does not permit deviation below parallel
district standards. As proposed, setbacks could not be adjusted for specific properties.
If approved, the proposed ordinance should provide a flexible option for legislative
rezoning that will allow a developer and the Council to agree upon a rezoning with site specific
conditions.
In accordance with N.C.G.S. 160A-31, this public hearing was advertised in the Carteret
News Times twice, Sunday, December 27, 2020 and on Sunday, January 3, 2021.
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The Planning Board reviewed the request at their December 15, 2020 meeting and
unanimously agreed to recommend approval of the conditional zoning as amended. Andrea Smith
made the motion and Diana Tootle seconded.
Councilmember Taylor questioned why Council would not be permitted to make
accommodations applicable to specific needs and property usage. Ms. Watkins stated that this was
an attorney recommendation based on there being no objective standards to apply. Stormwater
restrictions were removed for the same reason. These could be added back in once the stormwater
objectives are finalized.
Councilmember Taylor asked Attorney Taylor if it would be appropriate to discuss the
possibility of adding back in options for Council discretion in addressing specific needs. City
Attorney Taylor stated that Council may discuss anything within the proposed ordinance that
Council may want to modify; however, he suggested that since there are automatic rules that
already apply, it is important to put ordinances in place that comply with these rules and it may be
better to send such modifications back to the Planning Board for review and research.
Councilmember Horton asked for clarification if previous conditional use permits will
become special use permits under the proposed ordinance. Ms. Watkins confirmed that this is
correct. Conditional zoning is not required; staff is proposing it as an additional option.
Conditional use districts were legislative decisions and conditional use permits were quasi-judicial
decisions, which was very confusing. Now, conditional use districts become commercial zoning
districts, and the conditional use permits become special use permits. Special use permits will not
apply to commercial zoning districts except where they apply to historical conditional use areas.
Councilmember Horton asked if the standards listed in Subsection 10-3.1 are optional. Ms.
Watkins responded affirmatively, stating that the standards A-Q can be requested by staff, the
Planning Board or Council if deemed necessary. Attorney Taylor stated that these are mandates
of NCGS 160D. He further explained that commercial zoning applicants now have the right to
refuse to comply with additional Council imposed standards, and Council will make its
determination in such cases based on their refusal to accept.
In response to Councilmember Horton’s questions about height restrictions in the
downtown area, Ms. Watkins stated that she is not opposed to the limitations; however, staff will
need to check with the city attorney to see if such is permissible under NCGS 160D. In closing,
Ms. Watkins stated that the proposed ordinance does not set forth any less restrictive standards
from what is currently allowed under the City’s Code of Ordinances.
Request to Revise the Morehead City Core Land Use Plan as it Relates to 301 Highway 24
Mayor Jones acknowledged that Matt Johnson, on behalf of Brian Starling, withdrew the
request to rezone and annex 301 Highway 24. Therefore, the proposal to revise the Morehead City
Core Land Use Plan is no longer necessary, and the published hearing will not be held during the
January 12, 2021 meeting as scheduled.
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OLD BUSINESS ITEMS
Review Ordinance 2020-O-19 Approving the Request to Rezone 1910 Bridges Street (Tax
PIN #638617221154000) from R5 (Residential District) to CN (Commercial Neighborhood
District).
Mayor Jones reminded Council that Ordinance 2020-O-19, approving the request to rezone
1910 Bridges Street (Tax PIN #638617221154000) from R5 (Residential) District to CN
(Commercial Neighborhood) District will be presented as a second reading at the January 12, 2020
meeting. The request was approved by majority vote (3-2; Horton and McCann opposed); during
the December 8, 2020 Regular meeting; however, it did not receive a two-thirds supermajority
vote as required under NCGS 160A-75. Therefore, a second reading is required. The request may
be approved during a second hearing by a simple majority vote.
Review Ordinance 2021-O-05 Ordering Demolition of 1004 Bay Street
Planning Director Sandi Watkins reminded Council that a 90-day extension was granted,
at the September 8, 2020 Town Council meeting, for 1004 Bay Street contingent upon the structure
being demolished by December 8, 2020.
As of this date, the owner of the dilapidated dwelling has obtained a demolition permit but
has not made any effort to demolish the structure. Therefore, Council will be asked to consider
approval of Ordinance 2021-O-05, allowing the Town to demolish the structure and place a lien
against the property for the costs incurred.
Review Ordinance 2021-O-06 Ordering Demolition of 4004 Arendell Street
Planning Director Sandi Watkins stated that the same applies to the dilapidated dwelling
located at 4004 Arendell Street. At the September 8, 2020 Town Council meeting the Council
ruled to issue a 90-day extension contingent upon the structure being demolished by December 8,
2020.
The owner of the dilapidated dwelling has obtained a demolition permit and retained a
contractor; however, as of this date, the contractor has not demolished the structure. Therefore,
Council will be asked to consider approval of Ordinance 2021-O-06 allowing the Town to
demolish the structure and place a lien against the property for the costs incurred.
Review Resolution 2021-R-04 Authorizing Local Government Execution of Public Beach &
Estuarine Access Grant Contract
Planning Director Sandi Watkins asked Council to consider approval of Resolution 2021R-04 authorizing execution of the Public Beach & Estuarine Access Grant contract in support of
the S. 10th Street Kayak Launch project as previously approved by Council on May 15, 2020. The
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Town of Morehead City will pay a local cash match of $11,250. The total cost of the project is
estimated at $45,000.
Review Ordinance 2021-O-04 Amending Subsection 22-2.5 of the Code of Ordinances to
Modify the Composition of The Parks and Recreation Advisory Board
City Manager Ryan Eggleston reported that the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board
Steering Committee met to work through the points in question as directed by Council and as a
result are recommending the following changes to the composition of the Advisory Board:
(C) So long as the organization or some successor organization shall exist, one member
of the Board must be a member of the group known as “Concerned Citizens of
Morehead City.” This member must be a city resident.
(D) At least one, but no more than two, members of the Board may shall reside in the
Town’s extraterritorial jurisdiction.
Council was notified in written correspondence that Municode had not yet codified
Ordinance 2020-O-05 adopted on July 14, 2020, establishing the Parks and Recreation Advisory
Board, and therefore the subsection reference (22-2.5) is the anticipated title and reference
changes may be required following final codification.
Review Proposed Parks and Recreation Advisory Board Bylaws
City Manager Ryan Eggleston shared that the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board
Steering Committee, during their December meeting, also drafted a set of Bylaws for Council
consideration. These Bylaws speaks to appointment of officers as well as their duties and powers.
Council will be asked to consider approval of the Bylaws at the January Regular meeting.
Review Governing Board Appointments: Parks and Recreation Advisory Board
Council was asked to review the applications for the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board
to be appointed at the January 12, 2021 meeting. A lengthy discussion concerning how the
appointment process would be conducted resulted in Council consensus to have nine (9) voting
members and two (2) non-voting student members. One (1) of the voting seats would be appointed
by the W.S. King Alumni organization as their representative and one (1) voting seat would be
appointed by the group known as the Concerned Citizens of Morehead City as their representative.
Councilmembers Horton and Taylor were appointed to collect and combine appointment
recommendations from each councilmember to fill the seven (7) remaining voting seats and two
(2) non-voting student seats. Recommendations are to be submitted by Wednesday, January 6,
2021 by 5:00 p.m. This list of candidates will be presented to Council at the January Regular
meeting for appointment consideration.
The initial term designations will be made by random draw and are to be assigned as
follows to ensure staggering terms: three (3) members terms to expire after 1st year, three (3)
Morehead City Town Council Workshop Meeting January 5, 2021
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members terms to expire after the 2nd year, and three (3) members terms to expire after the 3rd year.
It was suggested that the non-voting student seats be assigned for one (1) year terms. All members
would be eligible for reappointment at the end of their term.
City Attorney Derek Taylor advised that Ordinance 2021-O-04 and the Bylaws would have
to be amended to reflect these changes.
JANUARY NEW BUSINESS ITEMS
Review Request for Sketch Development Plan Approval for North Morehead Extension to
Be Located at the Termini of Harrell Drive and Hamilton Drive
Planning Director Sandi Watkins reviewed request for the Sketch Development Plan for
North Morehead Extension to be located at the termini of Harrell Drive and Hamilton Drive.
The property is currently shown as four different tax parcels on the Carteret County GIS. The
total area of the tract is 5.69 acres and is located within the city limits. The area is zoned SingleFamily Residential (R7). The tracts are currently undeveloped and located within corporate
limits. The subdivision is proposed to be serviced by City water and sewer. No open space area
is required, but a recreation fee will be required prior to final plat recordation.
The original plat recorded in 1966 shows 15 lots. At the time the plat was recorded,
Hamilton Drive extended through to the property to the north. Since the original approval, the
property to the north has been developed, so the developer is not proposing to extend Hamilton
Drive through to North Yaupon Terrace.
The purpose of the sketch plan is to ensure there are no glaring problems before the
developer advances to preparing the detailed utility plans for subsequent stages of approval. This
is also an opportunity for the Council to suggest changes to the project design. The plan has
been reviewed by the Public Services Director and Fire Marshal as well as planning. The Fire
Marshal has requested that Hamilton Drive remain Hamilton Drive rather than Harrell Drive to
ensure consistency with the Town’s numerical addressing system. The plat appears to comply
with Town requirements for this phase of the subdivision review process.
On December 15, 2020, the Planning Board reviewed the request and unanimously agreed
to recommend approval of the Sketch Plan as presented. Matt Johnson made the motion and
Andrea Smith seconded.
Review Budget Ordinance Amendment 2021-01
Finance Director Jewel Lasater appeared before the Town Council to present and review
Budget Ordinance Amendment 2021-01. It records the transfer of funds for the following:
•

Donations received for NC Special Olympics ($1,040)

•

Sale of surplus Police Department equipment ($5,200)
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•
•
•

Wildwood Reserve Funds received towards Fire-EMS Study ($12,000)
Emergency repairs to Evans Street docks from Contingency ($7,250)
FEMA PA projects not received by FYE 6/30/20 ($418,480)

This budget ordinance will be presented for approval as part of the January 12, 2021 consent
agenda.
Review Police and Fire-EMS Staff Emergency Paid Sick Leave (EPSL) Adjustment
Human Resource Director Susan Nixon appeared before the Town Council to present and
review Personal Policy Amendment #4. This amendment adjusts the Police and Fire-EMS Staff
Emergency Paid Sick Leave (EPSL) to accommodate two (2) weeks of paid leave to be effective
November 19, 2020. Currently, the provisions under EPSL allows eligible employees up to eighty
(80) hours of paid leave for qualifying reasons related to COVID-19. This provides General
employees up to two (2) weeks of paid leave without using earned accrued leave. However, eighty
(80) hours does not provide the same two (2) week time period for non-administrative Police and
Fire-EMS employees based on their average weekly hours, respectively eighty-four (84) and onehundred and twenty (120). Therefore, council is asked to approve Amendment #4 as presented.
Discuss Appointment of NCLM Voting Delegate
The North Carolina League of Municipalities (NCLM) has asked that the Council appoint
a delegate from their body to cast the City’s vote on the proposed 2021 Advocacy Goals for the
League. Mayor Jones stated that the mayor has typically served as the delegate and the mayor pro
tem as the alternate. There were no objections to continuing with this practice; therefore, this item
will not be carried forward to the January 12, 2021 meeting agenda.
STAFF REPORTS
Parks and Recreation:
Parks and Recreation Director Jerry Riggs stated that his department is beginning the
process of renewing memberships. Hours of operation at the Recreation Center are now 8:00 a.m.
to 12:00 p.m. and 4:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m.. The Transient Docks experienced another banner month
in December 2020 producing $2,917.13 in revenue.
Public Services:
Public Services Director Daniel Williams reported that the Radio Island water/sewer main
line extension is complete, as is the annual inventory and inspection of the sewer collection
systems. Staff is now working on removing Christmas decorations.
Temporary power and water are on at the new city hall location, and data lines have been
pulled. Sheetrock and the ceiling tile grid system are being installed.
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External testing of the Tyler 311 System is underway. Staff has been testing internally for
several months. This is the online work order system that citizens will be able to utilize to report
potholes and request bulk trash pick-ups. It should be added to the City’s website homepage and
be advertised within two (2) weeks.
In response to a question, Mr. Williams stated that it is NC Department of Transportation
that is installing the handicap ramps at primary intersections. The City only requested the one (1)
at the intersection of Bridges Street and Barbour Road.
Police:
Police Chief Bernette Morris stated that her department’s biggest challenge continues to
be keeping staff well. The subject involved in the resent vandalism was arrested and it is hoped
that this will discourage similar activity. Mayor Jones shared that the City appreciates the
cooperation of other local agencies that aid in investigations and arrests.
The ten (10) Durango vehicles have been upfitted and are now awaiting decals. This was
delayed by the holidays and COVID, but Chief Morris expects them to be on the road within two
weeks.
In response to a question, Chief Morris stated that her department is scheduled to receive
the COVID vaccination in February.
Fire/EMS:
Fire Chief Jamie Fulk announced that Deputy Fire Chief Chris Judy will retire effective
January 31, 2021 with thirty and half (30.5) years of active service. Fire/EMS Battalion Chief
Courtney Wade will take his place beginning January 25, 2021.
The staffing and apparatus study is expected to be completed in early February with the
presentation to Council scheduled for the March Workshop meeting. Councilmember Ballou
requested that a special work session be scheduled that will allow sufficient time to ask questions
and discuss the results. Chief Fulk reminded him that the County provided a portion of the funds
and would want to be present for the presentation. He stated that the study has been more precise
and comprehensive than expected and he looks forward to seeing the results.
Chief Fulk also reported that the water rescue class started at Station #2 today, and the
heart monitors are in operation.
Round #1 of the COVID vaccines have been administered to Fire-EMS personnel.
Acceptance is reflective of the community at large with some personnel reluctant to take it. As of
this date, fifty-two percent (52%) of the Fire-EMS staff have elected to take the vaccine.
Planning and Inspections:
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Planning Director Sandi Watkins reported that the draft stormwater plan document is being
reviewed by staff. In addition, staff sent letters to owners of storage containers that are not in
compliance with the Code.
Regarding the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Project, Ms. Watkins
advised that the lead inspections will be conducted next week. It is hoped that the bidding process
will start in February or March and that award recommendations will be presented in April or May.
Finance/Billing & Collections:
Finance Director Jewel Lasater reported that her staff is finalizing the CAFR
(Comprehensive Annual Financial Report) and should be presented at the February Workshop
meeting.
She then inquired about Council’s interest in developing a Utility Assistance Program
whereby utility customers could apply for a grant (gift) of up to $300 to pay against COVID related
delinquent utility accounts. Award would be based on income level. She confirmed that all
delinquent utility customers are making an effort to pay towards their balance. There are
approximately 105 individual delinquent accounts. The program would cost approximately
$31,000-$32,000. Council authorized her to move forward and bring back a proposal to them for
consideration.
Admin/HR/IT/Communication:
Human Resources Director Susan Nixon reported that she continues to manage COVID
related matters. She then ran through the list of staff vacancies: Building Inspector, Utility
Services Technician, Custodian (interviews today), and two (2) Fire-EMS positions.
She will be meeting with David Hill to receive a preliminary review of the compensation
study. He is scheduled to make a presentation to Council in February.
In closing, Ms. Nixon shared that the annual employee evaluation process begins this week.
Communications Director Alize Proisy distributed and reviewed her written monthly social
media report. She quickly reviewed some of the projects and activities featured on the City’s
Facebook page.
Ms. Proisy announced that the Morehead City Transient Docks won the 2020 Elite Fleet
Boater’s Choice Award given by DOCKWA. This award represents the top two percent (2%) of
highest rated marinas in the United States.
CITY MANAGERS’ REPORT
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City Manager Ryan Eggleston reported that he is still awaiting information from Carteret
County regarding the 911 Center upgrade. Until received, the City is on hold as it relates to the
allocation of funds.
Sales tax and ad valorem tax revenues are tracking ahead of projections, which places the
Town in the position to reinstate some of the positions furloughed during the budgeting process.
With Council’s approval, Mr. Eggleston stated that he would like to reinstate two (2) full-time and
three (3) part-time positions and add a full-time police officer position. The reinstated full-time
positions include the building maintenance position and a Firefighter-EMT position. The three (3)
part-time positions include the police records position, animal control position, and water/sewer
administrative position. These positions were previously full-time positions and are now proposed
as part-time positions. These part-time employees will work about 20 hours per week or 1,000
hours per year. Mr. Eggleston stated that staff will continue to evaluate other positions to
determine how to move forward. He distributed a spreadsheet noting the cost break-down for each
position. There was no objection to presenting the positions for reinstatement.
A Mid-Year Financial Review will be provided at the February Workshop meeting. As
stated before, sales tax and ad valorem tax revenues are tracking ahead of projections while water
and sewer revenues are behind projections. The mid-year review will not include a broad road
construction report. The overall Road Assessment Plan is being developed and will be presented
during a future workshop meeting. This road plan will guide the FY 2021-2022 budgeting process.
The FY 2020-21 Capital Improvement budget includes $1.7 million for paving projects to be
completed this year. The new assessment will be presented and managed through a new userfriendly format. Councilmember Ballou asked Mr. Eggleston to look for areas where another
$500,000 could be reassigned this year to paving projects.
A proposed 2021 Budget Schedule was presented to be considered at the January 12, 2021
meeting. No changes were made to the proposed schedule.
CLOSED SESSION

Councilmember Taylor made motion to enter into closed session at 12:11 p.m. per
NCGS 143-318.11(a)(6) to discuss personnel matter(s). Councilmember McCann seconded and
the motion carried unanimously (5-0)
Councilmember Taylor made motion to return to open session at 12:40 p.m. Councilmember
Horton seconded and the motion carried unanimously (5-0)
ADJOURNMENT
There being no other business to discuss, Mayor Jones adjourned the meeting 12:41 p.m.
___________________________
Gerald A. Jones, Jr., Mayor
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Attest:
_____________________________
Cathy Campbell, City Clerk
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Town Council Minutes
Morehead City, North Carolina

Tuesday, January 12, 2021

The Honorable Council of the Town of Morehead City held the Regular monthly meeting
on Tuesday, January 12, 2021, in the Municipal Chambers located at 202 South 8th Street,
Morehead City, North Carolina.
This meeting was partially conducted utilizing Zoom Video Communication Inc. software
due to the COVID-19 crisis and Governor Cooper’s Executive Order 141 imposing the
requirement to maintain six-foot (6’) distancing. Those in attendance were:
COUNCIL PRESENT:

Mayor Gerald A. Jones, Jr.; Councilmembers George Ballou, David
Horton, Keri V. McCann, William Taylor, and Diane C. Warrender.

STAFF PRESENT:

City Attorneys Derek Taylor, City Manager Ryan Eggleston, Fire
Chief Jamie Fulk, Deputy Police Chief Bryan Dixon,
Communications Director Alize Proisy, Planning Director Sandi
Watkins, Parks and Recreation Director Jerry Riggs, and City Clerk
Cathy Campbell.

OTHERS PRESENT:

Elise Clouser of the Carteret News Times, Tonya Jacks of Stroud
Engineering, Ron Cullipher of the Cullipher Group, John Ballou.
Jeff and Becky Bolduc, George Guthrie, and Jonathan McDaniel.

STAFF PARTICIPATING
VIA ZOOM:

City Attorney Mike Thomas, Finance Director Jewel Lasater,
Deputy Fire Chief Chris Judy, Firefighter-Paramedic Thomas Pace,
and Fire/EMS Coordinator Kelly Urban.

OTHERS PARTICIPATING Lisa Rueh of Downtown Morehead City Inc., Keith and Linwood
VIA ZOOM:
Stroud and Andy Daunhauer of Stroud Engineering, George Hester,
Steven Levin, Vince Martin, Gloria McCarther, Curtis and Melissa
Oden, Missy Oden, Dianne Tootle, and Sarah West.
Mayor Jones called the regular meeting of the Morehead City Town Council to order at
5:30 p.m. with a quorum present. He began by giving instructions for how to participate
electronically.
CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS
Mayor Jones asked if there were any questions concerning the Consent Agenda items.
Councilmember Ballou asked that Items 2.J Proposed Positions to Reinstate and 2.K Budget
Ordinance Amendment 2021-02 in support of former be pulled and added to New Business as Item
5.B to allow for discussion. Councilmember Horton asked that Items 2.L Ordinance 2021-0-05
Ordering Demolition of 1004 Bay Street and 2.M. Ordinance 2021-O-06 Ordering Demolition of
4004 Arendell Street be pulled and added to new Business as Item 5.C.
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Councilmember Horton made a motion to amend the agenda as requested.
Councilmember Ballou seconded and the motion carried unanimously. (5-0)
Councilmember Horton then made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda as
amended. Councilmember Warrender seconded and the motion carried unanimously. (5-0)
Included within the Consent Agenda were the following approvals:
A.

Approve the minutes of the December 1, 2020 Town Council Workshop meeting
as presented.

B.

Approve the minutes of the December 8, 2020 Regular Town Council meeting as
presented.

C.

Accept the Finance Director and Tax Collector Reports.

D.

Accept Notice of Ad Valorem Tax Overpayments in the Amount of $3,424.02 for
December 2020.

E.

Approve the requests for Refunds of Overpayment of Ad Valorem Taxes in the
Amount of $811.14 for December 2020.

F.

Adopt Budget Amendment Ordinance 2021-01 as Presented.

G.

Adopt 2021 Budget Meeting Schedule as Presented.

H.

Adopt Resolution 2021-R-04 Authorizing Local Government Execution of Public
Beach and Estuarine Access Grant Contract.

I.

Approve Police and Fire-EMS Staff Emergency Paid Sick Leave (EPSL)
Adjustment as Presented.

J.

Approve Proposed Positions to Reinstate as Presented at the January 5, 2021
Workshop Meeting.

K.

Adopt Budget Amendment Ordinance 2021-02 as Presented (Related to Request
for Additional Positions).

L.

Adopt Ordinance 2021-O-05 Ordering Demolition of 1004 Bay Street.

M.

Adopt Ordinance 2021-O-06 Ordering Demolition of 4004 Arendell Street.
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N.

Adopt Ordinance 2021-O-04 Amending Subsection 22-2.5 of the Code of
Ordinances to Modify the Composition of the Parks and Recreation Advisory
Board.

O.

Approve Proposed Parks and Recreation Advisory Board Bylaws as Presented.

All above noted ordinances are filed in Ordinance Book #8. Resolutions are attached to and made
a part of the minutes herein.
PUBLIC HEARINGS
Consider Ordinance 2021-O-01 Approving Request to Amend the Highway CommercialConditional Zoning District and Associated Special Use Permit for 2406 Mayberry Loop
Road
Councilmember Ballou advised Mayor Jones and the Council that he has a financial interest
in this matter and asked to be excused. Councilmember Taylor made a motion to excuse
Councilmember Ballou from the discussion concerning 2406 Mayberry Loop Road.
Councilmember Horton seconded and the motion carried unanimously. (4-0) At this time,
Councilmember Ballou stepped away from the dais.
Mayor Jones introduced the request to adopt Ordinance 2021-O-01 approving the request
submitted by Ballou & Sons, Inc. to rezone 2406 Mayberry Loop Road (PIN# 637612975021)
from CH-CU (Highway Commercial-Conditional Use) to CH-CZ (Highway CommercialConditional Zoning) with an amendment to allow boat storage, recreational vehicle storage,
parking facilities and storage buildings (up to four additional buildings).
Planning Director Sandi Watkins was called upon to provide background information. She
reported that the Cullipher Group, on behalf of Ballou and Sons, Inc., submitted a request to amend
an existing Highway Commercial Conditional Zoning District at 2406 Mayberry Loop Road.
Surrounding land use includes residential, vacant land, and self-service storage facility with
outdoor storage. Surrounding zoning includes R15M to the north, west, and south.
During staff’s review of a request to add gravel to this site for outdoor storage, they learned
that the conditional use permit granted in 2006, which covered both 2404 and 2406 Mayberry Loop
Road, indicated that outdoor storage was limited to the area behind the self-service storage
buildings that had already been constructed at that time. Therefore, staff advised the applicant that
an amendment to the conditional zoning district was necessary to delete the outdoor storage
restriction.
The property was originally zoned to Highway Commercial Conditional Use in 2002. The
procedural requirements for conditional use districts that are in place today are the same as those
that were in place in 2002 during which the original approval was granted. The following
conditions were applicable to the approval. 1) there shall be no outdoor storage. 2) the inclusion
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of a buffer and fence around the perimeter of the property. 3) the hours of operations will be from
sunup to sundown. 4) subject to all state regulations.
The applicant came back for an amendment to the conditional use permit in 2006 to remove
the outdoor storage limitation. The applicant requested to allow outdoor storage but indicated that
it would be limited to the area behind the existing storage buildings. The following conditions
were applicable to the approval: 1) The hours of operation be limited from 8 a.m. to 6 p.m. or
sunset, whichever is later; 2) The application must meet all state regulations; 3) The storage area
must be screened from public view, by creation of a perimeter between the residences to the north
side of the property and additional plantings of a size and type which would grow quickly so the
neighbors will not be negatively impacted; and 4) the outdoor storage would be limited to vehicles
on wheels, such as cars, boats and RV’s. Although not included in the enacting ordinance, the
motion made by Council in 2006 limited the outdoor storage only to “the designated area”. The
associated site plan provided at the time showed the area designated for outdoor storage to be at
the rear portion of 2404 Mayberry Loop Road behind the self-service storage buildings. The
Council minutes indicate that the remainder of the site be reserved for future storage buildings.
According to the 2006 Planning Board minutes, the reason the Planning Board had added
the condition about the hours of operation in 2002 was that another property located on North 20th
Street had been approved for outdoor storage and had received the same condition.
In November 2020, the applicant submitted a request to amend the conditional use permit
to remove the outdoor storage restriction entirely while retaining the allowance to construct storage
buildings. The applicant requested to retain the existing vegetation and fence that had previously
been approved and to delete the hours of operation restriction. Under the current proposal, uses
would be limited to boat storage, recreational vehicle storage, parking facility, and up to four selfservice storage facility buildings. In this case, construction of any buildings would be subject to
applicable development standards contained in the ordinance. Any changes to allowable uses or
other changes that trigger a major modification to the conditional zoning district would be subject
to the new procedural requirements for revisions to conditional zoning districts, including approval
by Council.
During the November 17, 2020 Planning Board meeting, the board recommended approval
of the request by majority vote (5-2; Tom Outlaw and Andrea Smith were opposed). Sally
Lumpkin made the motion and Tom Saunders seconded. A copy of the minutes outlining the
board’s discussion was included in the meeting packet. During the meeting, the board heard from
adjacent property owners Vincent and Mary Martin as well as Ron Cullipher of the Cullipher
Group and property owner Mr. John Ballou representing the request. Mr. and Mrs. Martin
expressed concern regarding the need to provide additional screening to ensure she and her
husband are not negatively impacted by the adjacent land use. Mr. Cullipher noted some
deficiencies that had been discovered in that trees in the previously approved landscape buffers
had died over time and questions about what vegetation was on the Ballou property vs. the adjacent
properties. Ms. Martin requested that staff visit the site and Mr. Cullipher agreed to work with the
Town. The Planning Board’s recommendation was to approve the request as submitted which
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included the request to retain existing vegetation with an understanding that staff would visit the
site to help address landscaping concerns and to also delete the hours of operation limitation.
Regarding landscape screening, the applicant had originally requested to retain the existing
northern and western property line landscaping which would have served as a modification to
landscaping requirements. During the Planning Board meeting, staff learned that some of the trees
in the original buffer have since died and that some of the vegetation may have not been on the
Ballou property. After further review, it appears that the request was previously approved under
an older iteration of the landscaping ordinance with the northern and western property lines as a
Buffer Type “B”. A Buffer B required a 15’ wide buffer area along the property line with 6 plants
per 100 linear feet. The allowance for this type of landscaping went away when the UDO was
amended in 2009. The applicant is now requesting to apply this older standard, under which the
previous approvals were granted and under which it appears the buffering was originally
constructed, along the north and west property lines and to come into compliance with current
requirements for a landscaping strip along the front property line.
Staff met on site with the property owner and the Martins on January 4, 2021 and discussed
the existing screening on both the 2404 and 2406 Mayberry Loop Road parcels. Based upon that
discussion, the applicant is requesting to adjust the major modification of landscaping with the
following conditions; retaining the existing chain link fence, providing a landscaping strip meeting
current UDO requirements along the front property line, and meeting the Buffer B requirements
that were in place in 2001 for the north and west property lines. Regarding 2406 Mayberry Loop
Road and the adjacent property at 2404 Mayberry Loop Road, the applicant has also agreed to add
slats in the existing chain link fence along the Martin property line and to work with a landscaper
to determine appropriate plantings for the location to repair the portion of the Buffer in the vicinity
of the Martin home that has died since the time of planting.
If approved, this would serve as a major modification of landscaping standards. The
applicant is also requesting to provide no plantings between the two properties since the uses are
connected. If approved, additional plantings will be required to comply with the request.
If approved, this will have the effect of applying a special use permit in a conditional zoning
district. This is consistent with how the new 160D statute handles other historical conditional use
districts. The zoning map will indicate this is CH-CZ and it will have an associated special use
permit. This is a unique situation since the request was submitted under the old ordinance before
conditional use zoning went away and it follows the ordinance in place for conditional use permits
but uses the new 160D terminology. In reviewing the request with the City Attorney, this was
determined to be the most appropriate approach given the circumstances. Any future requests will
be subject to only a conditional zoning map amendment and not the quasi-judicial special use
permit component based upon how the conditional zoning ordinance draft is currently structured.
A PowerPoint slide was presented listing the conditions that the applicant has indicated a
willingness to impose to date. Because this is a conditional zoning request, any conditions are
subject to approval by the City Council.
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In accordance with N.C.G.S. 160A-31, this public hearing was advertised in the Carteret
News Times twice, Sunday, December 27, 2020 and on Sunday, January 3, 2021, and property
owners within 300 feet of the property were notified of this public hearing in writing on December
30, 2020. The property has been posted.
Noting that Councilmember Ballou had already been excused, Mayor Jones asked the
following questions to ensure there were no conflicts of interest that would prevent the remaining
councilmembers from considering the rezoning application. All remaining council members
answered “no” to each.
1. Does any Council member have a reasonably likely direct, substantial, and readily
identifiable financial impact on the member financial interest by you, your business, your
spouse, other immediate family member in the outcome?
2. Have a fixed opinion on the case prior to its hearing that is not susceptible to change?
3. Does the applicant or any opponent wish to express reasons why these Council members
should not hear and decide this matter?
4. Does any Council member have any information or special knowledge about this matter
that may not come out at the hearing tonight? If so, what?
He then called forward all those with standing that wished to present evidence regarding
this matter to be sworn. George and John Ballou, Ron Cullipher, and Planning Director Sandi
Watkins were sworn as those who would give evidentiary testimony.
Mayor Jones gave the following instructions to those sworn:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Witnesses must give testimony directed to the criteria that Council must address.
Witnesses must have standing – will be specifically affected by the Council’s decision, like a nearby
neighbor.
Each witness will have to answer questions from those opposing their position.
Any documents or pictures must be submitted by those that know what they are and where they came
from. Any party with standing may object to submittals.
Any party that is represented by legal counsel, please introduce them now. There was none.
Witnesses need to identify yourself and how/why you are affected by this request. (e.g.,
address/location)
Can only consider competent, substantial, and material evidence. No hearsay.
Some evidence must be presented by experts with training, knowledge, and experience regarding such
info – e.g., effects of traffic, drainage engineering, devaluation of property, etc.

Councilmember McCann made a motion to open the public hearing. Councilmember
Taylor seconded and the motion carried unanimously. (4-0)
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Planning Director Sandi Watkins: Ms. Watkins, upon recommendation of City Attorney
Derek Taylor, ratified her previous testimony and requested that it be entered into the record. She
then reviewed the Commercial Zoning restrictions:
•

The application appears to be complete. The UDO requires an application that includes
the application form, boundary survey, and proposed use of land and structures. These
items have been provided. Development standards, including parking, would be
evaluated based upon the standards in place if and when the applicant seeks building
permit application for the storage buildings.
The UDO lists items which may be requested as additional requirements, including
buffering information, special flood hazard areas, topography, the depiction of the
proposed location, number and height of structures, location of signs, and any project
phasing. These additional items may be requested if the Council deems necessary.
The minimum requirements for submittal of the application appear to be met.

•

The proposed uses are permitted in the Highway Commercial district as either
permissible or special uses.

•

Regarding the land use plan consistency, the property is in Neighborhood 7 and is
classified as low density residential. The land use plan promotes a variety of land uses
which completement the needs of the community. This is an extension of an existing
use from the adjacent property onto this parcel which has been in existence for several
years now. This is not a rezoning to a new commercial district, but rather an amendment
to an existing district. The applicant has proposed conditions on the site and the
adjacent site to help address impacts to the surrounding area.

Mayor Jones called for anyone from the opposing parties, with standing, that wished to
ask questions of the applicant to come forward.
Councilmember Horton asked for clarification of whether or not the storage units could be
placed anywhere on the site. Ms. Watkins stated that under the proposed ordinance, they can be
placed anywhere on the property. Ideally, the placement of the outdoor storage would be identified,
but this request goes back to the 2002 amendment, and since they were not held to that standard in
2002 or 2006, staff did not feel it appropriate to add the requirement at this time.
Ron Cullipher, Engineer with The Cullipher Group: Mr. Cullipher advised that he
prepared the application being considered. He concurred with the report given by Ms. Watkins
and stated that the buffers on the north and west sides of the property were constructed based upon
the ordinance adopted in 2002 and he agreed it would be unfair to the property owners to apply
the new regulations at this time. The street buffers are different because they were not considered
at that time. He understands that the slats were added in an effort to work with the adjacent
property owners. When this process started, the applicants were unaware that the outdoor storage
was restricted to a designated area. He stated that only Mr. and Mrs. Martin had raised concerns
and it was understood that those had been addressed by the applicants. This type of business is not
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conducive to unusual or extended business hours and would cause only minimal interference to
the neighborhood; therefore, they have requested that the restriction on operational hours be
removed. Customers will only need access to either pick up or drop off their property. The same
will be requested of the additional parcel in the future.
No one spoke in opposition to the request.
Mayor Jones then opened the floor for questions of the applicants.
Vincent and Mary Martin, 1211 Mizzell Road (participating via Zoom): Mr. and Mrs.
Martin were first sworn to give testimony. Mrs. Martin asked three questions; 1) the timeframe
for completing the landscaping, 2) if the streetlights along the street could be adjusted so as not to
shine directly into their bedroom window, and 3) who has access, how and when. Mr. Cullipher
stated that the landscaping would be completed as soon as possible. Since he had not heard of the
concern regarding the lights before this meeting, he did not have an answer but agreed to
investigate it. Regarding access, Mr. Cullipher said that the rules of the business do not permit
customers to stay on site and that if this happened, he would think they would be asked to remove
their property from the site. The business is designed for customers to come in drop off or pick up
their property and leave.
Councilmember Horton asked for confirmation that this request came before the Council
only to resolve the technicality that the outdoor storage was restricted to only one area on the
property rather than the approval applying to the entire parcel. Mr. Cullipher agreed with his
assessment.
Councilmember Warrender asked if there were sheds on the property. It was clarified that
the only storage was the approved storage units.
Mayor Jones asked if there was anyone else present or participating via Zoom that wanted
to speak. There were none.
There being no one else wishing to testify, Councilmember Horton made a motion to close
the public hearing. Councilmember Taylor seconded and the motion carried unanimously. (4-0)
Mayor Jones instructed Council that their deliberations of the evidence and testimony
presented should be focused on the facts supporting or failing to support the requirements for
granting the requested conditional rezoning request. He then called their attention to the evaluation
form provided as a guide for each question or item required and instructed them to discuss and
identify for the record the specific evidence found or not found regarding each requirement that must
be met. Noting that the first three questions were thoroughly addressed during the report, Mayor
Jones called attention to item #4 which states, will the proposed use create adverse impacts to the
surrounding area, and what evidence did you see or hear regarding. Mayor Jones advised that
there were no experts present nor was any evidence presented for Council to rule on traffic,
stormwater, or land value impact. Regarding land use activities, it was stated that the property is
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to be used in the same manner as it is currently being used and therefore it is compatible. Attorney
Taylor added that no evidence was presented contrary to the items mentioned.
Councilmember Taylor made a motion to adopt Ordinance 2021-O-01, amend the
rezoning for 2406 Mayberry Loop Road (PIN# 637612975021) from CH-CU (Highway
Commercial-Conditional Use) to CH-CZ (Highway Commercial-Conditional Zoning) to
allow boat storage, recreational vehicle storage, parking facilities and storage buildings (up
to four additional buildings), and Resolution 2021-R-01 of Plan Consistency in accordance
with NCGS 160A-383 for map amendment. Councilmember McCann seconded and the motion
carried unanimously. (4-0; Ballou was excused)
Ordinance 2021-O-01 is filed in Ordinance Book #8. Resolution 2021-R-01 is attached to and
made a part of the minutes herein.
At this time, Councilmember Ballou returned to the dais.
Consider Ordinance 2021-O-02, Approving Request to Rezone 3822 Galantis Drive from
RMF-CZ (Residential Multifamily-Conditional Zoning) District to OP (Office &
Professional District)
Planning Director Sandi Watkins appeared before the Town Council to present Ordinance
2021-O-02, approving the request submitted by Embassy Snug Harbor Realty, LLC, on behalf of
Best Ventures, LLC, to rezone the eastern 5.6 acres of the property located at 3822 Galantis Drive
(PIN# 637613242798000) from RMF-CZ (Residential Multifamily-Conditional Zoning) District to OP
(Office & Professional) District. The property is currently vacant and wooded.
Rezoning of the property would have the effect of removing the conditions imposed on the
2009 rezoning. Since a conventional rezoning has been requested, no conditions may be applied
to the rezoning under this process. If the rezoning is approved, any future development would be
subject to subdivision regulations and development standards contained in the Unified
Development Ordinance (UDO).
Surrounding zoning includes R20 to the north, RMF-CZ in the remaining portion of the
property to the west as well as across Galantis Drive to the south, and Office and Professional to
the east. Surrounding land use includes single-family residential to the north, vacant property to
the west, multifamily to the south, and the Leon Mann Center the east. In order to make use of the
remaining portion of the property, a request to rezone the remaining portion of the property would
be required.
The property is in Neighborhood 5 of the land use plan and is classified as low density
residential. The low density residential future land use designation supports low density dwellings
and public and institutional land uses that support and are compatible with residential
development. The stated purpose of the OP District is to create and maintain areas in which
businesses and professional uses may be established between heavy commercial or industrial
districts and residential districts or in other areas where appropriate.
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The Planning Board reviewed the request at their December 15, 2020 meeting and
unanimously agreed to recommend approval of the rezoning as presented. Diana Tootle made the
motion and Andrea Smith seconded.
In accordance with N.C.G.S. 160A-31, this public hearing was advertised in the Carteret
News Times twice, Sunday, December 27, 2020 and on Sunday, January 3, 2021, and property
owners within 300 feet of the property were notified of this public hearing. The property has been
posted.
Councilmember Horton asked if the 2009 requirements will remain with the residual
portion of the property even though they will not apply to the portion being considered tonight.
Ms. Watkins stated that the remaining smaller portion cannot be altered without triggering a major
modification and therefore, it was not included and will continue to be under any previously
applied restrictions. Any action regarding this piece, would have to be presented to Council for
approval. To date, no plans have been submitted for the terminus of Mandy Lane and is not part
of the request being considered.
Councilmember Horton noted that it is very confusing to have a single property with two
separate zoning classifications and suggested that a stipulation be added for the property to revert
back to RMF-CZ if not developed within a year. Upon being asked, Attorney Taylor stated that it
is legal to omit a portion of property from the zoning request, but Council has the option to approve
as presented or not. If Council is concerned with how the request is presented, they may send it
back to the Planning Board to start the process over. Councilmember Horton did not recommend
sending it back at this time.
At this time, Mayor Jones opened the public hearing inviting anyone who would like to
speak in favor of or in opposition to the proposed zoning request to do so.
PUBLIC COMMENTS
Tonya Jacks of Stroud Engineering: Ms. Jacks reported that Linwood Stroud spoke with
Duke Energy about cul-de-sac. Duke Energy advised that power lines cannot be run above culde-sacs and there are other restrictions on pass-through traffic that will have to be addressed in the
future.
Andy Daunhauer of Stroud Engineering: Mr. Daunhauer stated that he and Linwood
Stroud, participating via Zoom, did not have anything to add but would be happy to answer any
questions. There were none.
There being no other requests to speak, Mayor Jones closed the public hearing.
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Councilmember Horton made a motion to adopt Ordinance 2021-O-02, approving the
request submitted by Embassy Snug Harbor Realty, LLC, on behalf of Best Ventures, LLC, to
rezone the eastern portion of 3822 Galantis Drive (PIN# 637613242798000) totaling 5.6 acres
from RMF-CZ (Residential Multifamily-Conditional Zoning) District to OP (Office &
Professional) District, and Resolution 2021-R-02 of Plan Consistency in accordance with
NCGS 160A-383 for map amendment. Councilmember Warrender seconded and the motion
carried unanimously. (5-0)
Ordinance 2021-O-02 is filed in Ordinance Book #8. Resolution 2021-R-02 is attached to and
made a part of the minutes herein.
Consider Ordinance 2020-O-03 to Amend Article 2-2, Repeal Article 10 In Its Entirety and
Replace it with Article 10 Conditional District and Related Amendments Contained Under
Sections 3-12, 12-2.4, 13-1,15-6,24-3 and Appendix 1-4
Planning Director Sandi Watkins will present Ordinance 2021-O-03, approving Cityinitiated request to amend the following sections of the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO):
amend Article 2-2 Definitions to add a definition for Conditional Zoning; repeal Article 10
Conditional Use District in its entirety and replace it with Article 10 Conditional District and
related amendments contained under Sections 3-12 The City Council, 12-2.4 Development
Standards, 13-1 Schedule of Development Requirements, 15-6 Landscape Plan Requirements, 243 Application Procedure, and Appendix A-4 Graphic Materials Required for Plans. Ordinance
2021-O-03 was amended based on the discussion at the January 5, 2021 Workshop meeting to
limit building height in the Downton Business and Downtown Commercial District, and to exclude
landscaping plans under Section 10-3 Relationship to Parallel Base Zoning District.
Ms. Watkins stated that the proposed is part of staff’s efforts to comply with the new
Chapter 160D. Certain elements of the chapter are not due until July of this year, while deletion of
conditional use district zoning and conditional use permits was effective January 1, 2021. The draft
involves a complete repeal and rewrite of Article 10 which will now be called Conditional Zoning
District rather than Conditional Use District. Definitions are consistent with the definitions
contained in Chapter 160D and the format is similar to the City’s existing Article 10.
She explained that staff’s revision process followed a review of UNC School of
Government documentation and texts, review of other conditional zoning ordinances within the
state, and a review of the text of Session Laws 2019-111 and 2020-25. The draft ordinance has
been reviewed by the city attorney. The Planning Board reviewed the draft in December and
unanimously recommended approval with modifications that are incorporated into this draft. Also
included are the modifications requested by Council during the January 5, 2020 Workshop
meeting. The changes were presented as:
•

Adjusting Section 10-3.1 to specify that less restrictive standards may be approved
by the City Council for landscaping and for increased height in the CD and DB
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•

•

•

district. The allowance for greater height in CD and DB is also reflected in 12-2.4
and 13-1.
10-3.1 Parallel Base Zoning District(s). Development in a conditional zoning
district shall be subject to all the use and development standard requirements that
apply to development in the parallel base zoning district, plus the conditions
imposed as part of the conditional rezoning approval, which may not be less
restrictive than the regulations for the parallel base zoning district with the
exemption of modifications to landscape plans as permissible under Article 15 and
the allowance for increased height in the CD and DB districts as permissible under
section 12-2 and 13-1.
Amend section 12-2.4 as follows: 12-2.4 Development standards.
(C) Building height. No building or structure in the DB or CD district shall exceed
a height of seventy (70) feet, unless approval has been granted by the Town
Council as part of a conditional zoning map amendment a conditional-use permit
has been issued by the council permitting an increased height of said building or
structure.
Amend section 13-1 as follows: 13-1 - Schedule of Development Requirements
Maximum
Height†
(Feet)
CD

70‡

DB

70‡

‡
Increased height permitted if approved by the Town Council as part of a
conditional zoning map amendment with receipt of a conditional use permit from
council (section 12-2.4(C)).
Staff believes the updated process will continue to provide a flexible option for zoning map
amendments while complying with current statutory requirements. As with any development
regulation, additional updates may occur later.
Councilmember Ballou questioned the process whereby Council would have the option to
impose some of the optional requirements. Ms. Watkins advised that it is Council’s prerogative
to add such requirements upon their review. If so desired, the request would be sent back to the
Planning Board for consideration. It was noted that this would delay action of the request.
He then asked how an applicant would know that they have the right to refuse the optional
requirements. Attorney Taylor stated that the applicant must agree in writing. If Council applies
additional requirements, written agreement must be obtained before action can be taken. The
process makes it unlikely that a request will come to Council without agreement. Since the statute
was effective January 1, 2021, he suggested that Council adopt the ordinance as presented and
then, if so desired, the language can be amended at a later date.
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At this time, Mayor Jones opened the public hearing inviting anyone who would like to
speak in favor of or in opposition to the proposed text amendment to do so.
PUBLIC COMMENTS
Hearing no further requests to be heard, Mayor Jones closed the public hearing.
Councilmember Horton made a motion to adopt Ordinance 2021-O-03, approving Cityinitiated request to amend the following sections of the Unified Development Ordinance
(UDO) to amend Article 2-2 Definitions to add a definition for Conditional Zoning, repeal
Article 10 Conditional Use District in its entirety and replace it with Article 10 Conditional
District and related amendments contained under Sections 3-12 The City Council, 12-2.4
Development Standards, 13-1 Schedule of Development Requirements, 15-6 Landscape Plan
Requirements, 24-3 Application Procedure, and Appendix A-4 Graphic Materials Required
for Plans, and Resolution 2021-R-03 of Plan Consistency in accordance with NCGS 160A383 for map amendment. Councilmember Ballou seconded and the motion carried unanimously.
(5-0)
OLD BUSINESS ITEMS
Consider Ordinance 2020-O-19, Approving Request to Rezone 1910 Bridges Street (PIN
#638617221154000) from R5 (Residential) District to CN (Commercial Neighborhood)
District
Mayor Jones asked to consider adoption of Ordinance 2020-O-19, approving the request
submitted by Jeffrey Bolduc, on behalf of Joseph Haines, to rezone 1910 Bridges Street (Tax PIN
#638617221154000) from R5 (Residential) District to CN (Commercial Neighborhood) District.
He reminded them that the request was presented and approved at the December 8, 2020 Regular
meeting by majority vote (3-2; Horton and McCann opposed); however, it did not receive a twothirds supermajority vote as required by NCGS 160A-75. Therefore, a second reading is required.
The request may be approved during a second hearing by a simple majority vote.
Councilmember Warrender made a motion to adopt Ordinance 2020-O-19, approving
the request submitted by Jeffrey Bolduc, on behalf of Joseph Haines, to rezone 1910 Bridges
Street (Tax PIN #638617221154000) from R5 (Residential) District to CN (Commercial
Neighborhood) District, and Resolution 2020-R-55 of Plan Consistency in accordance with
NCGS 160A-383 for map amendment. Councilmember Ballou seconded and the motion carried
by majority vote. (3-2; Horton and MCCann were opposed)
Governing Board Appointments: Parks and Recreation Advisory Board
Mayor Jones advised that during the January 5, 2021 Workshop meeting, it was decided
by Council that the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board would consist of nine (9) voting
members and two (2) non-voting student members. One (1) of the voting seats would be appointed
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by the W.S. King Alumni organization as their representative and one (1) voting seat would be
appointed by the group known as the Concerned Citizens of Morehead City as their representative.
Councilmembers Horton and Taylor were appointed to collect and combine appointment
recommendations from each councilmember to fill the seven (7) remaining voting seats and two
(2) non-voting student seats.
The initial term designations were to be made by random draw and are to be assigned as
follows to ensure staggering terms: 3 Members terms to expire after 1st year, 3 Members terms to
expire after the 2nd year, and 3 Members terms to expire after the 3rd year.
The slate of candidates as compiled from Council recommendations was presented as
follows:
1 Year Term
Missy Oden
Keith Bernauer
Robert Tyndall
William Jenkins
Macie Stevens

City
City
City
City
City

Voting
Voting
Voting
Non-Voting
Non-Voting

1
1
1
1
1

Concerned Citizens of MHC
At Large
At Large
Student
Student

2
2
2

School Affiliated
Senior Citizen
Senior Citizen

3
3
3

WS King Association
Senior Citizen
At Large

2 Year Term
Michael Turner
Jan Willis
Tim Wilson

ETJ
City
City

Voting
Voting
Voting

3 Year Term
Gloria McCarther
Mary Marino
Ray Tillery

ETJ
City
City

Voting
Voting
Voting

Councilmember Ballou made a motion to appoint the slate of candidates to the Parks
and Recreation Advisory Board as presented. Councilmember McCann seconded and the
motion carried unanimously. (5-0)
Councilmember Horton requested that letters be sent to the non-appointed applicants
expressing appreciation for their interest. There were many very qualified applicants, and it is
regrettable that not all could be appointed.
NEW BUSINESS ITEMS
Consider Request for Sketch Development Plan Approval for North Morehead Extension to
Be Located at the Termini of Harrel Drive and Hamilton Drive
Morehead City Town Council Regular Meeting January 12, 2021

14

Planning Director Sandi Watkins appeared before the Town Council to present the request
for the Sketch Development Plan for North Morehead Extension to be located at the termini of
Harrell Drive and Hamilton Drive. The total area is approximately 5.7 acres and the property is
zoned R7. The tracts are currently undeveloped and located within the corporate limits. The
subdivision will be served by Morehead City water and sewer.
A copy of the recorded 1966 plat was provided as part of the agenda packet and was
displayed on the projector screen. The original approval for this section of North Morehead
Extension included 15 lots and had Hamilton Drive extending through to North Yaupon Terrace.
The current plan still has Hamilton Drive connecting with Harrell Drive, but no connection to
North Yaupon Terrace, and the number of lots has increased by two (2)
No open space area is required; however, a recreation fee will be due prior to final plat
recordation. Approximately 0.97 acre of the project is shown within rights of way which will be
60’ wide. State permits and approvals will be due at the preliminary plat review stage.
The purpose of the sketch plan is to ensure there are no glaring problems before the owner
proceeds with preparing plats and seeking permits for the subsequent stages of approval. This is
also an opportunity for the Council to suggest changes to the project design.
The sketch plan has been reviewed by Fire, Public Services, and Planning and all comments
have been addressed for this phase of development with one exception. Staff has requested that
Hamilton Drive remain Hamilton Drive where it is shown, rather than Harrell Drive to conform to
the Town’s numerical addressing system. Street names would change at the cul-de-sac.
The plan appears to meet the requirements for sketch plan review.
Staff received two letters prior to the Planning Board meeting related to existing drainage
issues in the area. During the meeting, the engineer indicated that drainage improvements are
proposed to an existing drainage feature on the property. The project is subject to applicable
Department of Environmental Quality stormwater permitting requirements and this information
will be collected with the preliminary plat.
On December 15, 2020, the Planning Board reviewed the request and unanimously agreed
to recommend approval of the Sketch Plan as presented. Matt Johnson made the motion and
Andrea Smith seconded.
Jonathan McDaniel, of Bell and Phillips: Mr. McDaniel stated that a shallow wet
stormwater pond will be located on the north portion of the property in the wetlands area. The
project is restricted to two (2) feet of fill from the existing elevation, and most of the structures
will be on pilings.
Councilmember Taylor made a motion to approve Sketch Development Plan for
North Morehead Extension to be located at the termini of Harrell Drive and Hamilton
Morehead City Town Council Regular Meeting January 12, 2021
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Drive as presented. Councilmember Horton seconded and the motion carried unanimously. (50)
Consider Request to Reinstate Positions as Presented and Budget Ordinance 2021-02 in
Support of the Request (from consent agenda)
City Manager Ryan Eggleston asked Council to consider the reinstatement of two (2) fulltime and three (3) part-time positions as well as adding a full-time police officer position as
presented at the Workshop meeting. Councilmember Ballou stated that he was not opposed to the
proposed positions but questioned why the Animal Control position was not proposed as full-time.
Mr. Eggleston stated that he did not believe the position warranted full-time consideration at this
time. In support of this position, additional budget amendments will be forthcoming for supplies,
services, and a vehicle. Mr. Eggleston with assistance from Human Resource Director Susan
Nixon, explained that anything over the thousand (1,000) hour annual limit activates the
requirement for retirement and health care benefits. Mr. Eggleston stated that there are other
positions to be considered for full-time status that will be presented as part of the budgeting
process.
After some discussion of the pros and cons of having a part-time vs. a full-time Animal
Control Officer, Councilmember Ballou made a motion to approve the request to reinstate
positions as presented and Budget Ordinance 2021-02 as presented in support of the request.
Councilmember Taylor seconded and the motion carried by majority vote. (4-1; Horton opposed).
Councilmember Horton opposed stating that the matter warranted further review before
making a decision.
Consider Ordinance 2021-O-05 Ordering Demolition of 1004 Bay Street and Ordinance
2021-O-06 Ordering Demolition of 4004 Arendell Street
It was noted that the structure at 4004 Arendell Street is currently being demolished.
Therefore, Ordinance 2021-0-06 is no longer needed.
Building Inspector Robert Davis appeared before the Town Council stating that the
ordinance presented today is the next step in the demolition process. The December 8, 2020
deadline has passed with the structure still in place. Adoption of the ordinance will allow staff to
seek a contractor to perform the demolition work and to place a lien against the property for the
expense. During a conversation with the property owner early today, the property owner reported
that he is lining up a contractor and hopes to have the structure demolished before the City can
obtain bids but adopting the ordinance will ensure that the work is complete should he not be
successful in securing a contractor.
Councilmember Horton made a motion to adopt Ordinance 2021-O-05, ordering the
demolition of the structure located at 1004 Bay Street and to place a lien against the property
for the expense. Councilmember Ballou seconded and the motion carried unanimously. (5-0)

Morehead City Town Council Regular Meeting January 12, 2021

16

CITY MANAGER’S REPORT
City Manager Ryan Eggleston presented email communication from Michael Gerhardt of
AJK Acquis ions LLC regarding the purchase 706 Arendell Street (current City Hall). Mr.
Gerhardt has requested to extend the due diligence period until February 15, 2021 due to COVID
breakouts at their architect’s and engineer’s offices. As a show of good faith, they are offering to
increase the non-refundable deposit from $5,000 to $10,000. Councilmember Taylor made a
motion to honor the request to extend the due diligence period until February 15, 2021 to
allow the buyer to complete their examination, and to accept the offer to increase the nonrefundable deposit from $5,000 to $10,000. Councilmember McCann seconded and the motion
carried unanimously. (5-0)
Mr. Eggleston continued his report thanking Council for their feedback regarding the
prioritization of city projects. He advised that presentations will be forthcoming regarding the
Fire-EMS Staffing and Apparatus Study; the Classification and Compensation Study; and the
stormwater plan.
In addition, he advised that the employee evaluation process has begun, and staff is
preparing to begin the budget process.
Council was scheduled for a tour of the new City Hall building on Friday, January 22, 2021
at 10:00 a.m. Elise Clouser of the Carteret News Times was invited to join them.
Communication with the Webb Library Trust members has resumed. Mr. Eggleston will
schedule a Zoom meeting with them as soon as possible.
The sale of the Armory Building continues to move forward. The National Guard is
working with the State to transfer the deed. He hopes this will be completed by May or June.
Councilmember Warrender shared that Wells Fargo’s office will not reopen downtown.
This will result in a large empty building in the downtown area.
CITIZEN REQUESTS/COMMENTS (2 Minute Time Limit)
Instructions were given again on how to indicate a desire to speak for those participating
by telephone or Zoom.
Missy Oden, 1412 Avery Street: Ms. Oden thanked Mayor Jones, the Town Council and
City Manager for their time and commitment offered to establishing the Parks and Recreation
Advisory Board. In turn, Mayor Jones thanked her for taking the lead in this effort.
COUNCIL REQUESTS/COMMENTS
Councilmember Warrender stated that she was glad to have citizen participation in the
meetings, and that she was pleased with progress being made on the new city hall building.
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Councilmember Taylor thanked the Concerned Citizens of Morehead City and others who
participated in the process of developing the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board. This Board
will begin with a full slate of tasks including recommendations for the FY2021-22 budget and the
establishment of a dog park. He requested that an item be added to the next Workshop meeting
agenda to discuss the timely preparation and distribution of committee/board minutes.
Councilmember Horton thanked Councilmember Taylor for taking the minutes of the
Steering Committee and Jerry Riggs for providing input. He expressed support of establishing a
process whereby committee/board minutes will be prepared and distributed within five (5)
business days of a meeting. He stated that these minutes contain important information needed by
Council to make informed decisions. He also thanked Planning Director Sandi Watkins for her
valuable presentations this evening.
Councilmember Ballou thanked Councilmembers Taylor and Horton for their work with
the Parks and Recreation Steering Committee, and he thanked everyone who applied and was
willing to serve.
Councilmember McCann agreed with all prior statements and shared that a trip has been
scheduled to visit Sugarloaf Island on Thursday as the next step in moving the renourishment effort
forward.

CLOSED SESSION PER NCGS 143.318.11(a)(3) TO CONSULT WITH ATTORNEY.
Councilmember Ballou made a motion to enter into Closed Session at 7:30 p.m. per
NCGS 143.318.11(a)(3) to consult with city attorney. Councilmember Taylor seconded and the
motion carried unanimously (5-0).
Councilmember Horton moved to return to OPEN SESSION at 8:56 p.m.
Councilmember Taylor seconded and the motion carried unanimously. (5-0)

ADJOURNMENT
There being no other business to discuss, Mayor Jones adjourned the meeting _____ p.m.
___________________________
Gerald A. Jones, Jr., Mayor
Attest:
_____________________________
Cathy Campbell, City Clerk
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TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
ADOPT AND INCORPORATE INTO THE CODE OF ORDINANCES
FY 2020-2021 BUDGET ORDINANCE AMENDMENT
2021-03
GENERAL FUND
The purpose of this amendment is to update the budget as follows:
• To increase Miscellaneous Revenue by $13,225 and to increase Central Services by the same. Received refund for
Workers' Compensation audit and requesting to put towards GASB 87 implementation consulting.
•

To increase Policy by $6,147 and to decrease Contingency by the same for expenses related to City Kitty Program .

•

To increase Transfers to Other funds by $23,000 and to decrease Contingency by the same for the purchase of an Animal
Control Cargo Van and related equipment installation, graphics, tax, tags, etc .

•

To increase Parks by $9,000 and to decrease Contingency by the same for emergency repairs to the Carolina Sounder
Statue at Jaycee Park.
Annual Budget

Revenue
Ad valorem taxes
Other taxes
Unrestricted intergovernmental
Restricted intergovernmental revenue
Permits and fees
Sales and services
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Other financing sources:
Appropriated fund balance-restricted & committed
Appropriated fund balance-unassigned
TOTAL GENERAL FUND REVENUE
Expenditures
Mayor/Council
Administration
Finance
Cemetery/Building & Grounds
Central Services
Information Technology
Garage
Community Projects
Police
Federal Forfeiture Funds
Fire & EMS
Planning & Inspections
Transportation
Powell Bill
Library
Recreation
Parks
Debt Service
Disaster Recovery
Transfers to other funds
Reimbursements from other funds
Contingency
TOTAL GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES

$

$

$

$

Annual Amended
Budget

Difference

7,952,684 $
26,400
4,006,751
2,099,227
1,185,100
225,573
83,000
69,838

7,952,684 $
26,400
4,006,751
2,099,227
1,185,100
225,573
83,000
83,063

13,225

95,876
978,250
16,722,699 $

95,876
978,250
16,735,924 $

13,225

110,350 $
636,412
589,235
462,935
898,730
258,503
164,270
130,920
4,382,132
3,017
5,212,218
677,892
869,351
87,200
130,000
507,649
675,206
811,750
634,340
996,446
(1,689,299)
173,442
16,722,699 $

110,350 $
636,412
589,235
462,935
911,955
258,503
164,270
130,920
4,388,279
3,017
5,212,218
677,892
869,351
87,200
130,000
507,649
684,206
811,750
634,340
1,019,446
(1,689,299)
135,295
16,735,924 $

13,225
6,147
9,000
23,000
(38,147)
13,225

Annual Budget

Annual Amended
Budget

Difference

WATER & SEWER FUND
The purpose of this amendment is to update the budget as follows:
• To increase Revenues by $2,000 and to increase Expenditures by the same. Received refund for Workers' Compensation
audit and requesting to put towards GASB 87 implementation consulting.

Annual Budget

Annual Amended
Budget

Difference

Revenue

$

8,155,999 $

8,157,999

2,000

Expenditures

$

8,155,999 $

8,157,999

2,000

This ordinance shall become effective upon adoption.
Adopted as submitted this 9th day of February 2021.

ATTEST:

Cathy Campbell, City Clerk

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY

Gerald A. Jones, Jr., Mayor

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
ADOPT AND INCORPORATE INTO THE CODE OF ORDINANCES
GOVERNMENTAL CAPITAL PROJECT BUDGET ORDINANCE AMENDMENT
2021-04
Section I.
A. The following capital projects are hereby authorized
Function
Project
Police
Police Vehicles
$23,000 for Animal Control Cargo Van and related equipment, graphics, tax, tags, etc
B. The following capital projects are hereby amended
Function
Project

Section II.
The following revenues are anticipated to be available:
Project Budget
Before
Ordinance

Project Budget
After Ordinance

Project Budget
Change

249,935

249,935

-

262,000
68,000
750,000
289,750
330,000
374,000

262,000
68,000
750,000
289,750
330,000
374,000

-

SOURCE OF REVENUE
Miscellaneous Revenue
Insurance Proceeds
Restricted Intergovernmental
FEMA Public Assistance
Powell Bill Revenue
NC State Budget & Management Grant
NC Department of Commerce Rural Economic Dev
NC Department of Environmental Quality
NOAA Coastal Resilience Grant
NC Department of Public Safety
Contributed Capital
Big Rock Blue Marlin Tournament Contribution
Contributed Capital Shevans Park
Contributed Capital Spooners Creek
Contributed Capital Brandywine Bay
Contributed Capital from the Water & Sewer Fund
Contributed Capital F&E Water Rescue Equipment
Other Financing Sources
Transfers In from Other Funds

150,000
10,000
40,000
20,000
288,600
20,060

150,000
10,000
40,000
20,000
288,600
20,060

-

4,627,845

4,650,845

23,000

TOTAL

7,480,190

7,503,190

23,000

Project Budget
Before

Project Budget
After Ordinance

Project Budget
Change

25,000
25,000

25,000
25,000

-

Section III.
The following amounts are appropriated for each project:

FUNCTION & DEPARTMENT
Administration
Website Upgrade & Implementation
Total Administration

Project Budget
Before

Project Budget
After Ordinance

Project Budget
Change

378,535
378,535

378,535
378,535

-

15,000
15,000

15,000
15,000

-

Police
Police Patrol Vehicles
Total Police

495,000
495,000

518,000
518,000

23,000
23,000

Fire & EMS
4 Heart Monitors
Fires & EMS Station #1
Fire Station #3 Building & Contents
Fire Station #3 Equipment
Vehicles, Ambulances & Engines
Water Rescue Team Equipment
Fire Equipment
Total Fire & EMS

160,000
21,000
203,970
45,965
240,000
184,500
49,560
904,995

160,000
21,000
203,970
45,965
240,000
184,500
49,560
904,995

-

2,206,520
2,206,520

2,206,520
2,206,520

-

55,000
170,000
500,000
204,000
60,000
120,000
38,000
1,147,000

55,000
170,000
500,000
204,000
60,000
120,000
38,000
1,147,000

-

3,353,520

3,353,520

57,866
116,310
750,000
47,000
971,176

57,866
116,310
750,000
47,000
971,176

-

70,161
20,000
90,161

70,161
20,000
90,161

-

Finance
Munis Phase III Implementation
Total Finance
Information Technology
Building Wiring Upgrades
Total Information Technology

Streets
Powell Bill Eligible
Streets, Sidewalks & Drainage Improvements
Transportation
MATS Trail Extension
Street Sweeper
Sugarloaf Island Shoreline Stabilization & Dredging
Pelletier Creek Dredging
Brandywine Bay Dredging
Spooners Creek Dredging
Vehicles
Total Streets
Planning & Inspections
SmartGOV Software Purchase & Implementation
Stormwater Services Phase I
CDBG Block Grant Neighborhood Revitalization
ADA Transition Plan
Total Planning & Inspections
Recreation
Recreation Center Building
Train Depot Building
Total Recreation

Parks
JIB & Waterfront Improvements
Katherine Davis Park Facilities
Shevans Park Rehabilitation
Parks Equipment
11th Street Kayak
NRBA Pier, Ramp & Facilities
Total Parks
Other Financing Uses
Transfers to Other Funds
Total Other Financing Uses
TOTAL

Project Budget
Before

Project Budget
After Ordinance

Project Budget
Change

85,775
259,993
830,000
8,000
45,000
8,535
1,237,303

85,775
259,993
830,000
8,000
45,000
8,535
1,237,303

-

9,500
9,500

9,500
9,500

-

7,480,190

7,503,190

-

This ordinance shall be adopted as submitted and shall become effective the 9th day of February 2021.
TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY

ATTEST:

Cathy Campbell, City Clerk

Gerald A. Jones, Jr., Mayor

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
SUMMARY FINANCIALS STATEMENTS (ANNUALLY BUDGETED FUNDS)
JULY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2020 AS OF JANUARY 31, 2020

50.00%

GENERAL FUND

REVENUE
AD VALOREM TAXES
OTHER TAXES
UNRESTRICTED INTERGOV'T
RESTRICTED INTERGOV'T
PERMITS AND FEES
SALES AND SERVICES
INVESTMENT EARNINGS
MISCELLANEOUS
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
APPROPRIATED FUND
BALANCE
TRANSFERS IN
TOTAL REVENUES

BUDGET

PRIOR FISCAL YEAR
REVENUE
UNCOLLECTED PERCENT
TO DATE
ACTUAL
COLLECTED

7,644,075
30,000
4,375,000
3,219,436
1,020,100
287,984
97,000
391,592

6,451,902
24,251
1,293,384
1,072,119
662,145
154,989
69,247
79,358

2,790,325
9,500
19,865,012

9,807,395

EXPENDITURES
MAYOR/COUNCIL
ADMINISTRATION
FINANCE
CEMETERY, BLDG. & GROUNDS
CENTRAL SERVICES
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
GARAGE
COMMUNITY PROJECTS
POLICE
FEDERAL FORFEIT. FUNDS
FIRE & EMS
PLANNING & INSPECTION
STREETS
POWELL BILL
LIBRARY
RECREATION
PARKS
DISASTER RECOVERY
DEBT SERVICE
TRANSFERS TO OTHER FUNDS
OVERHEAD REIMBURSEMENTS
CONTINGENCY

BUDGET

ACTUAL

128,180
658,818
615,591
460,787
862,515
318,590
157,869
441,810
4,402,326
2,977
5,021,992
748,425
987,784
151,800
211,988
678,466
570,280
1,282,300
703,965
3,132,913
(1,770,744)
96,380

49,676
304,346
292,195
210,757
609,503
159,212
69,476
121,828
2,095,256
2,314,041
332,729
404,908
35,033
85,474
371,081
285,679
386,565
453,926
3,132,913
(884,251)
-

TOTAL EXPENDITURES

19,865,012

10,830,348

BUDGET

CURRENT FISCAL YEAR
REVENUE
UNCOLLECTED PERCENT
TO DATE
COLLECTED
ACTUAL

1,192,173
5,749
3,081,616
2,147,317
357,955
132,996
27,753
312,234

84%
81%
30%
33%
65%
54%
71%
20%
NA

7,952,684
26,400
4,006,751
2,099,227
1,185,100
225,573
83,000
69,838

6,935,085
30,848
1,439,170
1,014,506
688,038
131,355
466
94,081

2,790,325
9,500

0%
0%

1,074,126
-

-

1,074,126
-

0%
NA

10,057,617

49%

16,722,699

10,333,549

6,389,150

62%

BUDGET

ACTUAL

UNEXPENDED PERCENT
TO DATE
EXPENDED

1,017,599
(4,448)
2,567,581
1,084,721
497,062
94,218
82,534
(24,243)

87%
117%
36%
48%
58%
58%
1%
135%
NA

UNEXPENDED PERCENT
TO DATE
EXPENDED

78,504
354,472
323,396
250,030
253,012
159,378
88,393
319,982
2,307,070
2,977
2,707,951
415,696
582,876
116,767
126,514
307,385
284,601
895,735
250,039
(886,493)
96,380

39%
46%
47%
46%
71%
50%
44%
28%
48%
0%
46%
44%
41%
23%
40%
55%
50%
30%
64%
100%
50%
0%

110,350
636,412
589,235
462,935
898,730
258,503
164,270
130,920
4,382,131
3,017
5,212,219
677,892
869,351
87,200
130,000
507,649
671,276
634,340
811,750
996,446
(1,689,299)
177,372

45,424
336,433
283,364
189,711
603,034
136,502
72,895
113,349
2,157,389
2,372,849
317,431
430,805
31,682
46,028
170,035
330,540
198,313
278,018
996,446
(843,150)
-

64,926
299,979
305,871
273,224
295,696
122,001
91,375
17,571
2,224,742
3,017
2,839,370
360,461
438,546
55,518
83,972
337,614
340,736
436,027
533,732
(846,149)
177,372

41%
53%
48%
41%
67%
53%
44%
87%
49%
0%
46%
47%
50%
36%
35%
33%
49%
31%
34%
100%
50%
0%

9,034,664

55%

16,722,699

8,267,099

8,455,600

49%

AD VALOREM TAXES
Largest Portions in Category:
Ad Valorem Taxes in which the majority are collected in the 1st and 2nd Quarter.
OTHER TAXES
This Category is Leased Motor Vehicles & Equipment Tax.
UNRESTRICTED INTERGOV'T
Largest Portions in Category:
Sales & Use Tax which has a 3 month delay and only 3 of 6 months is reflected in this report.
Utility Sales Tax which has a 3 month delay and only 3 of 6 months is reflected in this report.
RESTRICTED INTERGOV'T
Largest Portions in Category:
US Treasury CARES ACT
Fire & EMS District Contracts with Carteret County
PERMITS AND FEES
Largest Portions in Category:
Inspection Fees
Ambulance Fees

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
SUMMARY FINANCIALS STATEMENTS (ANNUALLY BUDGETED FUNDS)
JULY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2020 AS OF JANUARY 31, 2020
Largest Portions in Category:
Dock Rentals

50.00%

SALES AND SERVICES

INVESTMENT EARNINGS
Interest Earned on BB&T Money Market & NCCMT Investment Accounts
MISCELLANEOUS
Largest Portions in Category:
Insurance Reimbursements - Workers Comp Audit Refund & Resubmitted Insurance Claims related to Hurricanes.
APPROPRIATED FUND BALANCE
Budgetary Number only for Report Purposes; reflects Projected Amount of Fund Balance Needed to cover Expenditures over Revenues. Historically the majority
represents amounts budgeted for capital expenditures.
TRANSFERS IN
Transfers In from Other Funds
EXPENDITURES
Expediture Departments significantly over the 50% Mark:
Central Services - Insurance Premiums are due at the beginning of the fiscal year and make up the majority of the actual expenditures to date.
Community Projects - the majority of these are expended at the beginning of the fiscal year.

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
SUMMARY FINANCIALS STATEMENTS (ANNUALLY BUDGETED FUNDS)
JULY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2020 AS OF JANUARY 31, 2020

50.00%

WATER & SEWER FUND

PRIOR FISCAL YEAR

REVENUE
WATER & SEWER CHARGES
RESTRICTED INTERGOV'T
SALES AND SERVICES
INVESTMENT EARNINGS
MISCELLANEOUS
APPROPRIATED FUND BALANCE
TRANSFERS IN
TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENDITURES
BILLING & COLLECTIONS
WELLS WTPs & TANKS

REVENUE
UNCOLLECTED PERCENT
TO DATE
COLLECTED

BUDGET

ACTUAL

7,482,500
571,075
94,000
280,760
5,792,829
-

3,324,652
191,952
86,315
216,460
-

4,157,848
379,123
7,685
64,300
5,792,829
-

14,221,164

3,819,379

10,401,785

BUDGET

ACTUAL

44%
34%
NA
92%
77%
0%
NA

7,347,199
104,000
107,500
597,300
-

3,431,719
9,519
1,087
197,126
-

3,915,480
(9,519)
102,913
(89,626)
597,300
-

47%
NA
NA
1%
183%
0%
NA

27%

8,155,999

3,639,452

4,516,547

45%

BUDGET

ACTUAL

397,247
737,044

177,968
353,309

219,279
383,735

45%
48%

488,370
710,598

208,987
346,411

WATER DISTRIBUTION & SEWER
LIFT STATIONS
WASTE WATER TREATMENT
DISASTER RECOVERY
DEBT SERVICE

3,645,232
226,700
1,099,139
365,710
1,570,195

1,681,971
107,416
513,516
61,084
114,581

1,963,261
119,284
585,623
304,626
1,455,614

46%
47%
47%
17%
7%

3,552,329
160,700
1,098,000
1,544,330

1,915,442
95,229
562,823
4,147
103,251

TRANSFERS TO OTHER FUNDS
RESERVED FOR FUTURE
APPROPRIATION
REIMBURSEMENTS
CONTINGENCY

6,105,990

5,800,990

305,000

95%

602,700

602,700

2,125
(13,190)
98,163

0%
50%
0%

(25,628)
24,600

(12,814)
-

TOTAL EXPENDITURES

Largest Portions in Category:
Water & Sewer Monthly Utility Charges
Largest Portions in Category:
FEMA PA Reimbursement

2,125
(26,381)
98,163
14,221,164

(13,191)
8,797,645

5,423,519

REVENUE
UNCOLLECTED PERCENT
TO DATE
COLLECTED

BUDGET

UNEXPENDED PERCENT
TO DATE
EXPENDED

ACTUAL

CURRENT FISCAL YEAR

62%

8,155,999

3,826,176

UNEXPENDED PERCENT
TO DATE
EXPENDED
279,383
364,187

43%
49%

1,636,887
65,471
535,177
(4,147)
1,441,079

54%
59%
51%
NA
7%

(12,814)
24,600
4,329,823

100%
NA
50%
0%
47%

WATER & SEWER CHARGES
RESTRICTED INTERGOV'T

INVESTMENT EARNINGS
Interest Earned on BB&T Money Market & NCCMT Investment Accounts
MISCELLANEOUS
Largest Portions in Category:
Insurance Reimbursements - Workers Comp Audit Refund & Resubmitted Insurance Claims related to Hurricanes.
APPROPRIATED FUND BALANCE
Budgetary Number only for Report Purposes; reflects Projected Amount of Fund Balance Needed to cover Expenditures over Revenues. Historically the majority
represents amounts budgeted for capital expenditures.
TRANSFERS IN
Transfers In from Other Funds
EXPENDITURES
Expediture Departments significantly over the 50% Mark:

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
SUMMARY FINANCIALS STATEMENTS (ANNUALLY BUDGETED FUNDS)
JULY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2020 AS OF JANUARY 31, 2020

50.00%

SOLID WASTE FUND
BUDGET
SOLID WASTE FUND
REVENUE
REFUSE COLLECTION
INTERGOVERNMENTAL
RESTRICTED INTERGOV'T
INVESTMENT EARNINGS
MISCELLANEOUS
TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENDITURES
SANITATION
DISASTER RECOVERY
RESERVED FOR FUTURE
APPROPRIATION
TRANSFERS TO OTHER FUNDS
REIMBURSEMENTS
CONTINGENCY

BUDGET

421,313
1,815
31,876
4,250
561

593,287
4,385
59,964
(250)
(561)

42%
29%
35%
106%
NA

1,054,500
6,500
5,000
-

521,807
1,734
134
129

532,693
4,766
4,866
(129)

49%
27%
NA
3%
NA

1,116,640

459,816

656,824

41%

1,066,000

523,804

542,196

49%

1,013,878
51,800
50,962
1,116,640

ACTUAL
474,879
7,856
482,735

UNEXPENDED PERCENT
TO DATE
EXPENDED

BUDGET

Largest Portions in Category:
Charges for Collection of Sanitation & Recycling Carts
Largest Portions in Category:
Charges for Collection of Sanitation & Recycling Carts

ACTUAL

UNEXPENDED PERCENT
TO DATE
EXPENDED

538,999
43,944

47%
15%

1,048,563
-

435,179
-

613,384
-

42%
NA

50,962
-

0%
NA
NA
NA

12,266
5,171

12,266
-

5,171

NA
100%
NA
0%

633,905

43%

1,066,000

447,445

618,555

42%

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES

Largest Portions in Category:
FEMA PA Reimbursement in Prior Year

ACTUAL

REVENUE
UNCOLLECTED PERCENT
TO DATE
COLLECTED

1,014,600
6,200
91,840
4,000
-

BUDGET

TOTAL EXPENDITURES

ACTUAL

REVENUE
UNCOLLECTED PERCENT
TO DATE
COLLECTED

REFUSE COLLECTION
INTERGOVERNMENTAL
RESTRICTED INTERGOV'T

INVESTMENT EARNINGS
Interest Earned on BB&T Money Market & NCCMT Investment Accounts
MISCELLANEOUS
Largest Portions in Category:
Insurance Reimbursements - Workers Comp Audit Refund & Resubmitted Insurance Claims related to Hurricanes.
EXPENDITURES
Expediture Departments:
Actual Transfers are made in the period in which they are budgeted.

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
SUMMARY FINANCIALS STATEMENTS (ANNUALLY BUDGETED FUNDS)
JULY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2020 AS OF JANUARY 31, 2020

50.00%

STORMWATER FUND
ACTUAL

-

-

-

NA

-

-

-

NA

-

-

-

NA

160,000

160,000

-

100%

NA

160,000

160,000

-

100%

LOANS FROM OTHER FUNDS
TOTAL REVENUES

-

BUDGET

ACTUAL

-

-

TOTAL EXPENDITURES
REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES

-

-

UNEXPENDED PERCENT
TO DATE
EXPENDED
-

-

BUDGET

REVENUE
UNCOLLECTED PERCENT
TO DATE
COLLECTED

BUDGET
STORMWATER FUND
REVENUE
INVESTMENT EARNINGS

EXPENDITURES
STORMWATER
TRANSFERS TO OTHER FUNDS

REVENUE
UNCOLLECTED PERCENT
TO DATE
COLLECTED

ACTUAL

BUDGET

ACTUAL

UNEXPENDED PERCENT
TO DATE
EXPENDED

NA
NA

160,000

160,000

-

NA
100%

NA

160,000

160,000

-

100%

The following Reports on the Capital Project Funds have been revised to add columns showing the balance of
each project per discussion from the 2/2/21 Council Workshop. There will be additional revisions per
comments; however I was able to do these immediately to provide Council more relevant information.
Jewel A Lasater, Finance Director

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
SUMMARY STATEMENT OF BUDGETED TO ACTUAL REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES
JULY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2020 AS OF JANUARY 31, 2020
MULTI YEAR BUDGETED CAPITAL PROJECT FUNDS
(PLEASE NOTE THIS DOES NOT REFLECT MULTIPLE PROJECTS IN PROGRESS FOR WHICH NO INVOICES HAVE BEEN RECEIVED TO DATE)

LIFE TO DATE FYE 6/30/20
BALANCE AT
FISCAL YEAR
BUDGET
ACTUAL
END

LIFE TO DATE FYE 6/30/21
BALANCE AT
FISCAL YEAR
BUDGET
ACTUAL
END

GOVERNMENTAL CAPITAL PROJECT FUND
REVENUES
Transfer from Other Funds
Donated & Contributed W&S FI

(3,631,399)
(288,600)

(3,626,246)
(288,600)

(5,153)
-

(4,627,845)
(288,600)

(4,622,692)
(288,600)

(5,153)
-

(249,935)

(249,655)

(280)

(249,935)

(249,655)

(280)

(174,000)

(174,000)

-

(174,000)

(174,000)

(10,000)

(10,000)

-

(20,060)

(20,056)

(330,000)

-

(330,000)

(330,000)

-

(2,831)

(136,000)

Munis ERP Software FI PR REV

Insurance Reim & Refunds
HF0918 Station#3 Bldg&Contents

NC Department Public Safety

-

Fire & EMS Station #1

Donated & Contributed Capital

(4)

Fire & EMS Station #1

US Environmental Protection

(330,000)

Sugarloaf Stabilize & Dredging

NC Environmental Quality

(136,000)

(133,169)

(133,169)

(2,831)

Pelletier Creek Dredging

NC Environmental Quality

(40,000)

-

(40,000)

(40,000)

-

(40,000)

(68,000)

(68,000)

-

(68,000)

(68,000)

-

(20,000)

-

(20,000)

(20,000)

-

(20,000)

(80,000)

-

(80,000)

(80,000)

-

(80,000)

(40,000)

(40,000)

-

(40,000)

(40,000)

-

(262,000)

(264,031)

2,031

(462,000)

(514,513)

52,513

Brandywine Bay Dredging

NC State Budget & Managment
Pelletier Creek Dredging

Donated & Contributed Capital
Brandywine Bay Dredging

NC Environmental Quality
Spooners Creek Dredging

Donated & Contributed Capital
Spooners Creek Dredging

NC Transportation
Powell Bill Streets Projects

US Housing & Urban Development

(750,000)

-

(750,000)

-

(750,000)

-

(33,750)

-

(33,750)

-

(160,000)

(160,000)

(7,480,190)

(4,488)
(6,275,173)

(750,000)

CDBG Neighborhood Revitalizati

NC Environmental Quality

-

-

10thSt Water Access&Boat Ramp

Donated & Contributed Shevans

(150,000)

(150,000)

(6,229,934)

(4,415)
(5,008,116)

-

Parks Equipment

Interest Earnings
TOTAL REVENUES
EXPENDITURES
ADMINISTRATION
Town Website Redesign
FINANCE
Munis ERP Software FI PR REV
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
Information Technology
POLICE
Police Vehicles

4,415
(1,221,818)

4,488
(1,205,017)

25,000
25,000

23,500
23,500

1,500
1,500

25,000
25,000

23,500
23,500

1,500
1,500

378,535
378,535

205,213
205,213

173,322
173,322

378,535
378,535

248,858
248,858

129,677
129,677

-

-

80,000
80,000

79,985
79,985

15,000
15,000

15
15

495,000
495,000

493,979
493,979

15,000
15,000
1,021
1,021

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
SUMMARY STATEMENT OF BUDGETED TO ACTUAL REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES
JULY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2020 AS OF JANUARY 31, 2020
MULTI YEAR BUDGETED CAPITAL PROJECT FUNDS
(PLEASE NOTE THIS DOES NOT REFLECT MULTIPLE PROJECTS IN PROGRESS FOR WHICH NO INVOICES HAVE BEEN RECEIVED TO DATE)

LIFE TO DATE FYE 6/30/20
BALANCE AT
FISCAL YEAR
BUDGET
ACTUAL
END
FIRE & EMS
Heart Monitors
HF0918 Station#3 Bldg&Contents
Fire & EMS Vehicles
Fire & EMS Water Rescue Equip
Fire Equipment
Fire & EMS Station #1
TRANSPORTATION
MATS Trail& sidewalk Connection
Sugarloaf Stabilize & Dredging
Street Sweeper
Pelletier Creek Dredging
Brandywine Bay Dredging
Spooners Creek Dredging
Transportation Vehicles
POWELL BILL
Powell Bill Streets TBD
PB Street Beautification
Non PB Projects
Professional Fees General PB
PB Streets East of 20th Area
PB Streets 20th St.-35th St. A
PB Streets 35th-Friendly Rd. A
PB Streets West of Friendly Rd
Equipment PB Eligible
PB Traffic Control Equipment
PLANNING & INSPECTIONS
SmartGov Implementation
Stormwater Services Planning
CDBG Neighborhood Revitalizati
ADA Planning & Implementation
RECREATION
Recreation Center Building
Train Depot Building
PARKS
Waterfront Electrical Improv
KDP Facilities
Shevans Park Renovations
10thSt Water Access&Boat Ramp
Parks Equipment
NRBA Pier, Ramp & Facilities
OTHER FINANCING USES
Transfer to Other Funds

TOTAL EXPENDITURES

160,000
249,935
240,000
194,060
40,000
21,000
904,995

159,902
114,509
233,541
72,327
580,279

98
135,426
6,459
121,733
40,000
21,000
324,716

41,099
500,000
(2,708)
3,581
51,595
12,204
605,771

164,000
500,000
170,000
204,000
60,000
120,000
38,000
1,256,000

13,901
4,658
172,708
203,250
8,405
107,796
510,717

150,099
495,343
(2,708)
750
51,595
12,204
38,000
745,283

43,915
26,487
21,162
20,000
(12,391)
29,502
63,532
59,276
70,053
8,285
329,821

422,415
80,000
75,000
20,000
918,500
49,605
152,000
287,500
78,500
14,000
2,097,520

320
55,855
50,338
896,914
38,479
148,468
265,224
8,447
5,715
1,469,760

422,095
24,145
24,662
20,000
21,586
11,126
3,532
22,276
70,053
8,285
627,760

57,866
116,310
750,000
47,000
971,176

53,004
94,130
21,125
168,259

4,862
22,180
728,875
47,000
802,917

70,161
20,000
90,161

68,501
20,234
88,735

160,000
249,935
240,000
184,000
833,935

111,667
233,541
10,225
355,433

160,000
138,268
6,459
173,775
478,502

55,000
500,000
170,000
204,000
60,000
120,000
1,109,000

13,901
172,708
200,419
8,405
107,796
503,229

43,915
80,000
60,000
20,000
821,500
49,605
212,000
324,500
78,500
14,000
1,704,020

53,513
38,838
833,891
20,103
148,468
265,224
8,447
5,715
1,374,199

57,866
116,310
750,000
924,176

49,470
13,876
16,430
79,776

-

-

LIFE TO DATE FYE 6/30/21
BALANCE AT
FISCAL YEAR
BUDGET
ACTUAL
END

8,396
102,434
733,570
844,400
-

1,660
(234)
1,426

119,775
218,493
827,500
1,165,768

93,673
186,474
827,464
1,107,612

26,102
32,019
36
58,156

105,133
233,170
837,465
45,000
8,000
8,535
1,237,303

101,434
226,398
827,464
6,714
1,162,010

3,699
6,772
10,001
45,000
1,286
8,535
75,293

9,500
9,500

9,500
9,500

9,500
9,500

9,500
9,500

6,229,934

3,738,447

2,491,487

7,480,190

4,755,598

2,724,592

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
SUMMARY STATEMENT OF BUDGETED TO ACTUAL REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES
JULY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2020 AS OF JANUARY 31, 2020
MULTI YEAR BUDGETED CAPITAL PROJECT FUNDS
(PLEASE NOTE THIS DOES NOT REFLECT MULTIPLE PROJECTS IN PROGRESS FOR WHICH NO INVOICES HAVE BEEN RECEIVED TO DATE)

LIFE TO DATE FYE 6/30/20
BALANCE AT
FISCAL YEAR
BUDGET
ACTUAL
END

LIFE TO DATE FYE 6/30/21
BALANCE AT
FISCAL YEAR
BUDGET
ACTUAL
END

WATER & SEWER CAPITAL PROJECT FUND
REVENUES
Transfer from Other Funds
Donated & Contributed Calico
Calico Creek Subdivision
Contributed Capital W&S Ext OC
Calico Creek Subdivision
Interest Earnings
TOTAL REVENUES
EXPENDITURES
WELLS WTPs and TANKS
Wells WTPs & Tanks Vehicles
WATER & SEWER
Automated Meter Reading System
Tyler EAM & Workorder System
Backhoe
Jet Vac Truck
Jack Hammer & Attachments
Sewer Tap Coring Machine
W&S Imp Related Street Project
W&S Pipe Ext & Replacement
Slip Lining and I&I Reduction
Generators
W&S Utility Mapping
W&S Vechicles
LIFT STATIONS
Generators
WASTE WATER TREATMENT PLANT
WWTP Buildings
WWTP Headworks
WWTP Land Improvements
WWTP Clarifier
NPDES Compliance Project

(3,914,885)
(373,000)
(4,287,885)

(4,253)
(4,293,419)

1,281
4,253
5,534

(4,357,585)
(373,000)

(4,358,866)
(373,000)

1,281
-

(33,680)

(2,500)

(31,180)

(4,764,265)

(4,287)
(4,738,653)

4,287
(25,612)

27,291
27,291

27,291
27,291

0
0

27,291
27,291

27,291
27,291

0
0

1,740,070
268,724
89,000
439,178
19,717
10,936
15,000
321,518
30,000
89,800
60,000
69,240
3,153,183

1,526,133
99,496
89,000
439,178
19,717
10,935
320,474
26,782
87,953
49,995
68,836
2,738,500

213,937
169,228
0
1
15,000
1,044
3,218
1,847
10,005
404
414,683

1,740,070
268,724
89,000
439,178
19,717
10,936
15,000
624,518
30,000
89,800
85,000
69,240
3,481,183

1,540,916
174,494
89,000
439,178
19,717
10,935
321,554
26,782
87,953
49,995
68,836
2,829,361

199,154
94,230
0
1
15,000
302,964
3,218
1,847
35,005
404
651,822

213,410
8,957
6,084
228,451

WATER & SEWER COMMUNITY CONTRIBUTED PROJECTS
W&S Improvements Calico Subdiv
878,960
W&S Extension Old Causeway
878,960
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

(3,916,166)
(373,000)

4,287,885

213,407
8,957
6,084
228,448

-

28,000
28,000

-

28,000
28,000

3

5,400
213,410
8,957
60,000
26,084
313,851

5,318
213,407
8,957
6,084
233,766

60,000
20,000
80,085

592,746
592,746

286,214
286,214

878,960
34,980
913,940

791,066
791,066

87,894
34,980
122,874

3,586,985

700,900

4,764,265

3,881,484

882,781

-

3

82
3

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
SUMMARY STATEMENT OF BUDGETED TO ACTUAL REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES
JULY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2020 AS OF JANUARY 31, 2020
MULTI YEAR BUDGETED CAPITAL PROJECT FUNDS
(PLEASE NOTE THIS DOES NOT REFLECT MULTIPLE PROJECTS IN PROGRESS FOR WHICH NO INVOICES HAVE BEEN RECEIVED TO DATE)

LIFE TO DATE FYE 6/30/20
BALANCE AT
FISCAL YEAR
BUDGET
ACTUAL
END

LIFE TO DATE FYE 6/30/21
BALANCE AT
FISCAL YEAR
BUDGET
ACTUAL
END

SOLID WASTE CAPITAL PROJECT FUND
REVENUES
Transfer from Other Funds
FEMA Reimbursement
TOTAL REVENUES

(1,000,000)
(1,000,000)

(895,191)
(895,191)

(104,809)
(104,809)

(12,266)
(1,000,000)
(1,012,266)

(12,266)
(895,191)
(907,457)

(104,809)
(104,809)

EXPENDITURES
Contr Svc Debris Removal
Vehicles
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

1,000,000
1,000,000

930,460
930,460

69,540
69,540

1,000,000
12,266
1,012,266

930,460
930,460

69,540
12,266
81,806

(160,000)
(160,000)

-

STORMWATER CAPITAL PROJECT FUND
REVENUES
Transfer from Other Funds
TOTAL REVENUES

-

-

-

(160,000)
(160,000)

EXPENDITURES
Stormwater Implementation Plan
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

-

-

-

160,000
160,000

-

160,000
160,000

MOREHEAD CITY MUNICIPAL CAMPUS CAPITAL PROJECT FUND
REVENUE
EXPENDITURES

(8,918,704)
8,918,704

(8,980,420)
3,488,803

61,716
5,429,901

(8,918,704)
8,918,704

(8,985,308)
6,151,367

66,604
2,767,337

WATER & SEWER SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT CAPITAL RESERVE FUND (619)
(PLEASE NOTE THIS DOES NOT REFLECT MULTIPLE PROJECTS IN PROGRESS FOR WHICH NO INVOICES HAVE BEEN RECEIVED TO DATE)

REVENUE
EXPENDITURES

(1,431,577)
1,431,577

(810,223)
200,960

(621,354)
1,230,617

(1,431,577)
1,431,577

(893,653)
200,960

(537,924)
1,230,617

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
REQUEST FOR TOWN COUNCIL ACTION
TO:

The Honorable Mayor and Town Council

FROM:

Ryan Eggleston, City Manager

DATE: February 9, 2021

RECOGNITIONS/PRESENTATIONS: PRESENTATION OF RESOLUTION 2021-R-05
HONORING DEPUTY CHIEF WILLIAM C.
“CHRIS” JUDY UPON HIS RETIREMENT

Background Information Attached: Yes X
No
________________________________________________________________________

Mayor Jones will present Resolution 2021-R-05 to Deputy Fire Chief Chris Judy in
recognition of his retirement from the Town of Morehead City on February 1, 2021. Deputy Chief
Judy began his career with the Town of Morehead City on August 8, 1990 as an Equipment
Operator, was promoted to Lieutenant on September 28, 2006, to Captain on September 20, 2012,
and to Deputy Chief on December 5, 2019.
We wish him much enjoyment and success in his future endeavors!

COUNCIL
George W. Ballou, Mayor Pro Tem
David Horton
Keri V. McCann
William F. Taylor
Diane C. Warrender

Gerald A. Jones, Jr., Mayor

Resolution 2021-R-05
In Appreciation To

Deputy Chief William C. “Chris” Judy
Upon His Retirement from the Town of Morehead City
WHEREAS, the Town of Morehead City desires to recognize and honor employees of the Town for
dedicated and distinguished contributions; and

WHEREAS, Deputy Chief Chris Judy retired from the Town of Morehead City Fire-EMS Department
on February 1, 2021 with more than thirty years of faithful service to the Town and thirty-two years of
public service in the State of North Carolina; and

WHEREAS, Chris Judy began his career with the Town of Morehead City on August 8, 1990 as an
Equipment Operator, was promoted to Lieutenant on September 28, 2006, to Captain on September
20, 2012, and to Deputy Chief on December 5, 2019; and

WHEREAS, Chris Judy was instrumental in leading the department through an Insurance Service
Office (ISO) inspection resulting in the successful lowering of the City’s rating to Class 3, oversaw the
building of two tankers for the department, and provided direction and comfort to first responders
during the COVID-19 pandemic; and

WHEREAS, Chris Judy provided great leadership during the Hurricane Florence response and during
the merger with Wildwood Fire Department; and

WHEREAS, Chris Judy’s selfless dedication to his profession earned the respect of co-workers and
colleagues, and made the Town of Morehead City a safer place to work, live and play.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Council of the Town of Morehead City, that
appreciation be shown to Deputy Chief Chris Judy and his family in honor of his loyal service and
dedication to the citizens of Morehead City, and urge all to extend congratulations to him upon his
retirement.

DATED AND SPREAD UPON THE RECORD, this the 9th day of February 2021.
________________________________
Gerald A. Jones, Jr., Mayor

Attest:
__________________________
Cathy Campbell, City Clerk

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
REQUEST FOR TOWN COUNCIL ACTION
TO:

The Honorable Mayor and Town Council

FROM:

Ryan Eggleston, City Manager

DATE: February 9, 2021

OLD BUSINESS: CONSIDER ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE 2021-O-08 ORDERING
DEMOLITION OF 1308 ARENDELL STREET
Background Information Attached: Yes X
No
________________________________________________________________________
On November 10, 2020, the Town Council ruled to modify the demolition orders to grant a
60-day extension to demolish the unsafe back portion of the building located at 1308 Arendell
Street and to initiate construction to bring the remaining portion of the building into compliance
with the current standards to be completed within six (6) months. This order was recorded with the
Carteret County Register of Deeds.
As of this writing, the owner has failed to demolish the back portion of the building.
Therefore, Ordinance 2021-O-08 is presented for consideration, which will allow the City to
demolish the structure and place a lien against the property for expenses.

ACTION TO CONSIDER: Adopt Ordinance 2021-O-08, ordering the demolition of the
dilapidated structure located at 1308 Arendell Street.

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
ORDINANCE 2021-O-08
AN ORDINANCE ORDERING THE DIRECTOR OF INSPECTIONS
TO CAUSE DEMOLITION OF 1308 ARENDELL STREET
TAX PARCELL # 638618418721000, MOREHEAD CITY, NORTH CAROLINA,
AND REMOVAL OF ALL DEMOLITION DEBRIS,
PURSUANT TO NCGS 160A-426 THROUGH NCGS 160A-432
AND CREATING A LIEN ON THE REAL PROPERTY
WHEREAS, the Town of Morehead City’s Chief Building Inspector, Robert Davis,
inspected the structure located at 1308 Arendell Street, Morehead City, North Carolina, more
particularly described as Lots 1-16, Block 22 as shown on the official map of the Town of
Morehead City recorded in Map Book 1, page 139, Carteret County Registry, Carteret County
tax parcel # 638618418721000.
WHEREAS, Inspector Davis determined the structure to be dilapidated, unsafe and unfit
for human habitation and more particularly that the structure is a fire or safety hazard; dangerous
to life, health, or property; likely to cause or contribute to blight, disease, vagrancy, or a danger
to children; and has the tendency to attract persons intent on criminal activities or other activities
which would constitute a public nuisance.
WHEREAS, on January 8, 2020, Inspector Davis caused due and lawful publication and
registered mail notice to be served upon Shelby M. Freeman Family LTD PR, the tax record
owner of the dilapidated structure, of a hearing to held on January 17, 2020, at 3:00 p.m., at the
Chief Building Inspector’s office located at 706 Arendell Street, Morehead City, NC regarding
the dilapidated building.
WHEREAS, the hearing before the Chief Building Inspector was held at the time and
place noticed; and
WHEREAS, at the hearing, Mr. Stephen Freeman appeared before the Chief Building
Inspector to testify. Chief Building Inspector Robert Davis stated that a visual inspection of the
exterior of the structure was conducted by staff on January 6, 2020, and the structure was then

posted as unsafe. A subsequent interior inspection was conducted by staff on January 10, 2020.
Chief Inspector Davis said that the commercial structure is in a dangerous state, and the structure
will need to be demolished within sixty (60) days.
According to Mr. Freeman, the building has been damaged by multiple tornados and
hurricanes. Both the water and electricity to the building have been disconnected. Mr. Freeman
would like to secure the building until the three antique cars parked inside the front of the
building are sold and then demolish the building. Chief Inspector Davis, on behalf of the City,
offered a storage area, free of charge, for the antique cars. Mr. Freeman asked for the location of
the storage area and whether or not it would be enclosed. Mr. Freeman also asked if the storage
area would still be offered if the demolition order is appealed. Chief Inspector Davis replied he
would have to speak with the City Manager and then respond to Mr. Freeman. Mr. Freeman said
he probably wouldn’t take the City up on their storage offer because his Dad, Mr. Shelby
Freeman, likes to drive to 1308 Arendell Street and “visit” with his cars. Another location would
either be too far or out-of-the-way for Mr. Shelby Freeman.
WHEREAS, following the hearing, the Chief Building Inspector determined that the
dilapidated structure was an unsafe structure and more particularly that the structure is in
violation of NCGS 160A-426 because it constitutes a fire and safety hazard; is dangerous to life,
health, and property; is likely to cause or contribute to blight, disease, vagrancy, and danger to
children; and has a tendency to attract persons intent on criminal activities or other activities
which would constitute a public nuisance.
WHEREAS, on January 22, 2020, pursuant to NCGS 160A-429, the Chief Building
Inspector issued an Order to the owner of the dilapidated structure stating that the structure must
remain vacant and must be demolished within sixty (60) days of the Order.
WHEREAS, Shelby M. Freeman Family LTD PR was served with the Order by certified
mail, return receipt, on January 24, 2020.
WHEREAS, an appeal from the Order was filed on January 30, 2020, prior to the
deadline of February 1, 2020, requesting more time.
WHEREAS, a hearing was scheduled for March 10, 2020, before the City Council of the
Town of Morehead City, at 5:30 p.m., at 202 South 8th Street, Morehead City, NC. to consider
the appeal.
WHEREAS, the City Council of the Town of Morehead City met on March 10, 2020,
and tabled the request for six (6) months.

WHEREAS, on September 8, 2020, the appeal hearing was held before the City Council
of the Town of Morehead City, at 5:30 p.m., at 202 South 8th Street, Morehead City, NC.
WHEREAS, at the hearing, Mr. Freeman stated that he would like to remove the back
portion with a metal roof, and seal the resulting opening in the back half of the building. Mr.
Freeman stated that this portion of the building is not worth making structurally sound. He feels
like the showroom would pass inspection as is. He could not answer whether or not they were
willing to hire an engineer to render a ruling without consulting his father; however, he was in
favor of having the opportunity to look into the option.
WHEREAS, the City Council of the Town of Morehead City voted to continue the
appellant hearing until November 10, 2020, at 5:30 p.m. at which time the appellant will present
evidence on the structural integrity of the building and compliance with building codes.
WHEREAS, on November 10, 2020, the appeal hearing was held before the City
Council of the Town of Morehead City, at 5:30 p.m., at 202 South 8 th Street, Morehead City,
NC.
WHEREAS, at the hearing, Steve Freeman submitted a written report of findings from
Stroud Engineering, P.A., which was included in the meeting packet. The report stated that the
“masonry portion of the building showed no signs of structural deficiency or damage to
supporting elements;” however, “the timber garage attached to the rear of the building exhibited
signs of structural damage from the storm events and the construction of the structural elements
did not appear adequate and would not meet current building requirements.” It was their
recommendation that “all supporting elements and associated metal sheathing be removed up to
the rear wall of the masonry portion of the building, after which all openings in the wall should
be sealed, leaving only the structurally stable block and brick structure on the property.”
Mr. Freeman presented pictures showing the state of the building when it was first
inspected and then after the inspection but before the appeal hearing. During this time, work was
completed to seal the back portion from entry. He reiterated that the building is only being used
for storage and there are no utilities active on the property. The back portion is only being used
to seal up the back portion of the masonry building. Mr. Freeman stated that he had no concerns
about tearing down the back portion, apart from the cost, to seal the back of the masonry
building once removed. He said that his purpose in saving the masonry building was the need for
storage, his father’s love of the building, and the knowledge that there is interest in the
community to save the style of the building for future use.
Council expressed concerns that Mr. Freeman had not taken steps to comply with the
engineer’s recommendation or make the building more attractive from the street. When

evaluating these properties, the Council considers safety first, then appearance, and then the
impact on surrounding properties. It was stated that the condition of the property is affecting the
value of surrounding properties.
WHEREAS, following the hearing, the City Council of the Town of Morehead City
granted a sixty (60) day extension to demolish the unsafe back portion of the building and initiate
construction to bring the remaining portion of the building into compliance with current
standards to be completed within six (6) months.
WHEREAS, the time for appeal from the Order has expired and no appeal has been
filed.
WHEREAS, the owner of the dilapidated structure has failed to demolish the offending
structure as required by the Order.
NOW THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED by the Town Council of the Town
of Morehead City, North Carolina, that the Chief Building Inspector or his agent be authorized
and is hereby ordered to forthwith proceed to have the dilapidated building located at 1308
Arendell Street, Morehead City, North Carolina, (Lots 1-16, Block 22; tax parcel
#638618418721000) demolished and that all demolition debris be likewise removed, as provided
by the Ordinances of the Town of Morehead City and North Carolina law. A lien for the cost
incurred in such demolition, reduced by any amount realized from the sale of any property or
materials saved from the demolition, shall be noted by the Tax Collector of Morehead City as a
Special Assessment in accordance with North Carolina General Statutes. A copy of this
Ordinance shall be forwarded to and recorded by the Registrar of Deeds of Carteret County and a
Notice of Lien shall be recorded with the Carteret County Clerk of Superior Court.
ADOPTED, this the 9th day of February 2021.
EFFECTIVE: Upon adoption on February 9, 2021.

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
ATTEST:
___________________________________
Cathy Campbell – Town Clerk

(Town Seal)

_______________________
Gerald A. Jones, Mayor

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA
COUNTY OF CARTERET
I,
, a Notary Public, do hereby certify that Cathy
Campbell personally came before me this day and, who being by me duly sworn, says and
acknowledged that she is Town Clerk of the Town of Morehead City, a North Carolina
municipal corporation, that she knows the common seal of said Town and is acquainted with the
Mayor of said Town, Mr. Gerald A. Jones, Jr., and that, be authority duly given and as the act of
the Town, the foregoing instrument was signed in her presence, in the Town's name by its
Mayor, sealed with the Town's seal, and attested by him as the Mayor.
WITNESS my hand and notarial seal, this the ___ day of ____________, 2021.

My commission expires:
NOTARY PUBLIC
(SEAL)

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
REQUEST FOR TOWN COUNCIL ACTION
TO:

The Honorable Mayor and Town Council

FROM:

Ryan Eggleston, City Manager

DATE: February 9, 2021

OLD BUSINESS: CONSIDER ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE 2021-O-09 ORDERING
DEMOLITION OF 1104 AVERY STREET
Background Information Attached: Yes X
No
________________________________________________________________________
At the October 13, 2020 Town Council meeting, the Council ruled to grant a 90-day
extension to January 12, 2021 by which time the property owners must obtain a loan for funding
and/or secure all necessary permits to either repair or demolish the structure located at 1104 Avery
Street. This 90-day extension expired on January 13, 2021.
As of this writing, the owner of the dilapidated dwelling located at 1104 Avery Street has
failed to obtain the loan and/or permits required to repair or demolish the offending structure as
required by the order. Therefore, Council is asked to consider approval of Ordinance 2021-O-09
allowing the Town to demolish the structure and place a lien against the property for the costs
incurred.

ACTION TO CONSIDER: Adopt Ordinance 2021-O-09, ordering the demolition of the
dilapidated structure located at 1104 Avery Street.

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
ORDINANCE 2021-O-09
AN ORDINANCE ORDERING THE DIRECTOR OF INSPECTIONS
TO CAUSE DEMOLITION OF 1104 AVERY STREET
TAX PARCELL # 638615528728000, MOREHEAD CITY, NORTH CAROLINA,
AND REMOVAL OF ALL DEMOLITION DEBRIS,
PURSUANT TO NCGS 160A-426 THROUGH NCGS 160A-432
AND CREATING A LIEN ON THE REAL PROPERTY
WHEREAS, the Town of Morehead City’s Chief Building Inspector, Robert Davis,
inspected the residential structure located at 1104 Avery Street, Morehead City, North Carolina,
more particularly described as the South one-half (1/2) of lot three (3), Block “C” as shown on
the official map of the Town of Morehead City recorded in Map Book 1, page 139, Carteret
County Registry, Carteret County tax parcel # 638615528728000.
WHEREAS, Inspector Davis determined the residential structure to be dilapidated,
unsafe and unfit for human habitation and more particularly that the structure is a fire or safety
hazard; dangerous to life, health, or property; likely to cause or contribute to blight, disease,
vagrancy, or a danger to children; and has the tendency to attract persons intent on criminal
activities or other activities which would constitute a public nuisance.
WHEREAS, on February 4, 2020, Inspector Davis caused due and lawful publication
and registered mail notice to be served upon Mr. Johnathan L. Hester, the tax record owner of the
dilapidated structure, of a hearing to held on February 14, 2020, at 11:00 a.m., at the Chief
Building Inspector’s office located at 706 Arendell Street, Morehead City, NC regarding the
dilapidated dwelling.
WHEREAS, the hearing before the Chief Building Inspector was held at the time and
place noticed; and
WHEREAS, at the hearing, Ms. Erma Denise Cody and Mr. Roderick Arnold Cody, Sr.,
appeared via conference call before the Chief Building Inspector to testify. Ms. Cody explained

that they wanted to repair the dwelling and live in it, but they did not have the money to make
the repairs. Chief Inspector Davis stated that there appeared to be a new roof on the structure,
but there were many holes in the exterior walls, and the inside of the dwelling appeared to be
gutted. Mr. Cody confirmed that the house had been gutted and re-wired prior to the hurricanes
and has remained untouched since. Mr. and Ms. Cody both said they would be interested in
having the City demolish the dwelling. Chief Inspector Davis said that along with the Order, he
would send a draft legal agreement with which the owners could agree to have the City demolish
the structure and place a lien on the property. Chief Inspector Davis suggested that they review
the document with their attorney and if they decided to move forward, contact Mr. Davis.
WHEREAS, following the hearing, the Chief Building Inspector determined that the
dilapidated dwelling was an unsafe structure and more particularly that the dwelling is in
violation of NCGS 160A-426 because it constitutes a fire and safety hazard; is dangerous to life,
health, and property; is likely to cause or contribute to blight, disease, vagrancy, and danger to
children; and has a tendency to attract persons intent on criminal activities or other activities
which would constitute a public nuisance.
WHEREAS, on February 24, 2020, pursuant to NCGS 160A-429, the Chief Building
Inspector issued an Order to the owner of the dilapidated dwelling stating that the structure must
remain vacant and must be demolished within sixty (60) days of the Order.
WHEREAS, Mr. Johnathan L. Hester was served with the Order by certified mail, return
receipt on February 27, 2020.
WHEREAS, an appeal from the Order was filed on March 4, 2020, prior to the deadline
of March 4, 2020, requesting more time.
WHEREAS, a hearing was scheduled for October 13, 2020, before the City Council of
the Town of Morehead City, at 5:30 p.m., at 202 South 8th Street, Morehead City, NC. to
consider the appeal.
WHEREAS, on October 13, 2020, the appeal hearing was held before the City Council
of the Town of Morehead City, at 5:30 p.m., at 202 South 8th Street, Morehead City, NC.
WHEREAS, at the hearing, Brad Piland of NC Legal Aid, representing the homeowners,
stated that the homeowners are requesting ninety (90) days to either secure funds to repair the
hole in the side of the structure, or to demolish it. Apart from the hole, the structure has no
structural damage. All of the homeowner’s funds were expended to repair the roof and he has
been working with the homeowners since March 2020 to secure funds to repair the hole in the
side of the structure, or if unsuccessful, to demolish it.

WHEREAS, at the hearing, Roger Cody testified that he was making repairs and adding
new items to the house prior to becoming sick, and he would like to continue the repairs, if
funding becomes available. If repaired, they would move back into the house.
WHEREAS, at the hearing, Erma Cody testified that Ms. Chadwick, identified as a local
citizen who works with several organizations to aid residents in making repairs to their homes,
had gutted walls in the house and rewired it. She stated that the house was last occupied in 2008
or 2009.
WHEREAS, at the hearing, both Roger and Erma Cody agreed to a ninety-day (90)
extension.
WHEREAS, following the hearing, the City Council of the Town of Morehead City
granted a ninety-day (90) extension, to January 12, 2021, by which time the property owners
must obtain a loan for funding and/or secure all necessary permits to either repair or demolish the
structure.
WHEREAS, the time for appeal from the Order has expired and no appeal has been
filed.
WHEREAS, the owner of the dilapidated dwelling has failed to secure permits to repair
or demolish the offending structure as required by the Order.
NOW THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED by the Town Council of the Town
of Morehead City, North Carolina, that the Chief Building Inspector or his agent be authorized
and is hereby ordered to forthwith proceed to have the dilapidated dwelling located at 1104
Avery Street, Morehead City, North Carolina, (South one-half (1/2) of lot three (3), Block “C”;
tax parcel #638615528728000) demolished and that all demolition debris be likewise removed,
as provided by the Ordinances of the Town of Morehead City and North Carolina law. A lien for
the cost incurred in such demolition, reduced by any amount realized from the sale of any
property or materials saved from the demolition, shall be noted by the Tax Collector of
Morehead City as a Special Assessment in accordance with North Carolina General Statutes. A
copy of this Ordinance shall be forwarded to and recorded by the Registrar of Deeds of Carteret
County and a Notice of Lien shall be recorded with the Carteret County Clerk of Superior Court.
ADOPTED, this the 9th day of February 2021.
EFFECTIVE: Upon adoption on February 9, 2021.

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
ATTEST:
___________________________________
Cathy Campbell – Town Clerk

_______________________
Gerald A. Jones, Mayor

(Town Seal)

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA
COUNTY OF CARTERET
I,
, a Notary Public, do hereby certify that Cathy
Campbell personally came before me this day and, who being by me duly sworn, says and
acknowledged that she is Town Clerk of the Town of Morehead City, a North Carolina
municipal corporation, that she knows the common seal of said Town and is acquainted with the
Mayor of said Town, Mr. Gerald A. Jones, Jr., and that, be authority duly given and as the act of
the Town, the foregoing instrument was signed in her presence, in the Town's name by its
Mayor, sealed with the Town's seal, and attested by him as the Mayor.
WITNESS my hand and notarial seal, this the ___ day of ____________, 2021.

My commission expires:
NOTARY PUBLIC
(SEAL)

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
REQUEST FOR TOWN COUNCIL ACTION
TO:

The Honorable Mayor and Town Council

FROM:

Ryan Eggleston, City Manager

DATE: February 9, 2021

OLD BUSINESS: CONSIDER ADOPTION OF 2021-O-10 ORDERING DEMOLITION OF
2207 FISHER STREET
Background Information Attached: Yes X
No
________________________________________________________________________
At the October 13, 2020 Town Council meeting, the Council ruled to grant a 90-day
extension to dismantle the structure located at 2207 Fisher Street. This 90-day extension expired on
January 13, 2021.
As of this writing, the owner of the dilapidated dwelling located at 2207 Fisher Street has
failed to dismantle the offending structure as required by the order. Therefore, Council is asked to
consider approval of Ordinance 2021-O-10 allowing the Town to demolish the structure and place a
lien against the property for the costs incurred.

ACTION TO CONSIDER: Adopt Ordinance 2021-O109, ordering the demolition of the
dilapidated structure located at 2207 Fisher Street.

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
ORDINANCE 2021-O-10
AN ORDINANCE ORDERING THE DIRECTOR OF INSPECTIONS
TO CAUSE DEMOLITION OF 2207 FISHER STREET
TAX PARCELL # 638617029397000, MOREHEAD CITY, NORTH CAROLINA,
AND REMOVAL OF ALL DEMOLITION DEBRIS,
PURSUANT TO NCGS 160A-426 THROUGH NCGS 160A-432
AND CREATING A LIEN ON THE REAL PROPERTY
WHEREAS, the Town of Morehead City’s Chief Building Inspector, Robert Davis,
inspected the residential structure located at 2207 Fisher Street, Morehead City, North Carolina,
more particularly described as Lot 12, Block 46 as shown on the official map of the Town of
Morehead City recorded in Map Book 1, page 139, Carteret County Registry, Carteret County
tax parcel # 638617029397000.
WHEREAS, Inspector Davis determined the residential structure to be dilapidated,
unsafe and unfit for human habitation and more particularly that the structure is a fire or safety
hazard; dangerous to life, health, or property; likely to cause or contribute to blight, disease,
vagrancy, or a danger to children; and has the tendency to attract persons intent on criminal
activities or other activities which would constitute a public nuisance.
WHEREAS, on January 28, 2020, Inspector Davis caused due and lawful publication
and registered mail notice to be served upon Ms. Ann Lewis Thomas, the tax record owner of the
dilapidated structure, of a hearing to held on February 7, 2020, at 1:00 p.m., at the Chief
Building Inspector’s office located at 706 Arendell Street, Morehead City, NC regarding the
dilapidated dwelling.
WHEREAS, the hearing before the Chief Building Inspector was held at the time and
place noticed; and
WHEREAS, at the hearing, Mr. Will Johnson, son of the owner Ann Lewis Thomas
appeared before the Chief Building Inspector and testified that the dwelling has been secured and
the debris around the yard has been removed. Mr. Johnson said his mom does not want to

demolish the home. He plans to replace the tin roof and the windows. The doors have been
repaired so the structure can stay secure. He plans to file an appeal for more time to complete
the needed repairs.
WHEREAS, following the hearing, the Chief Building Inspector determined that the
dilapidated dwelling was an unsafe structure and more particularly that the dwelling is in
violation of NCGS 160A-426 because it constitutes a fire and safety hazard; is dangerous to life,
health, and property; is likely to cause or contribute to blight, disease, vagrancy, and danger to
children; and has a tendency to attract persons intent on criminal activities or other activities
which would constitute a public nuisance.
WHEREAS, on February 12, 2020, pursuant to NCGS 160A-429, the Chief Building
Inspector issued an Order to the owner of the dilapidated dwelling stating that the structure must
remain vacant and must be demolished within sixty (60) days of the Order.
WHEREAS, Ms. Ann Lewis Thomas was served with the Order by mail as well as the
posting of the Order on the structure on February 12, 2020. The certified mail envelope was
returned as unclaimed.
WHEREAS, an appeal from the Order was filed on February 18, 2020, prior to the
deadline of February 22, 2020, requesting more time.
WHEREAS, a hearing was scheduled for October 13, 2020, before the City Council of
the Town of Morehead City, at 5:30 p.m., at 202 South 8th Street, Morehead City, NC. to
consider the appeal.
WHEREAS, on October 13, 2020, the appeal hearing was held before the City Council
of the Town of Morehead City, at 5:30 p.m., at 202 South 8th Street, Morehead City, NC.
WHEREAS, at the hearing, Ms. Ann Lewis Thomas testified that much of the house can
be salvaged, and her son asked that she seek a ninety-day (90) extension to repair or to dismantle
it. She confirmed that the structure has been vacant for about fifteen (15) years.
WHEREAS, following the hearing, the City Council of the Town of Morehead City
granted a ninety (90) day extension to dismantle the structure at 2207 Fisher Street, Morehead
City, NC.
WHEREAS, the time for appeal from the Order has expired and no appeal has been
filed.

WHEREAS, the owner of the dilapidated dwelling has failed to demolish the offending
structure as required by the Order.
NOW THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED by the Town Council of the Town
of Morehead City, North Carolina, that the Chief Building Inspector or his agent be authorized
and is hereby ordered to forthwith proceed to have the dilapidated dwelling located at 2207
Fisher Street, Morehead City, North Carolina, (Lot 12, Block 46; tax parcel #638617029397000)
demolished and that all demolition debris be likewise removed, as provided by the Ordinances of
the Town of Morehead City and North Carolina law. A lien for the cost incurred in such
demolition, reduced by any amount realized from the sale of any property or materials saved
from the demolition, shall be noted by the Tax Collector of Morehead City as a Special
Assessment in accordance with North Carolina General Statutes. A copy of this Ordinance shall
be forwarded to and recorded by the Registrar of Deeds of Carteret County and a Notice of Lien
shall be recorded with the Carteret County Clerk of Superior Court.
ADOPTED, this the 9th day of February 2021.
EFFECTIVE: Upon adoption on February 9, 2021.

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
ATTEST:

___________________________________
Cathy Campbell, City Clerk

(Town Seal)

_______________________
Gerald A. Jones, Mayor

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA
COUNTY OF CARTERET
I,
, a Notary Public, do hereby certify that Cathy
Campbell personally came before me this day and, who being by me duly sworn, says and
acknowledged that she is Town Clerk of the Town of Morehead City, a North Carolina
municipal corporation, that she knows the common seal of said Town and is acquainted with the
Mayor of said Town, Mr. Gerald A. Jones, Jr., and that, be authority duly given and as the act of
the Town, the foregoing instrument was signed in her presence, in the Town's name by its
Mayor, sealed with the Town's seal, and attested by him as the Mayor.
WITNESS my hand and notarial seal, this the ___ day of ____________, 2021.

My commission expires:
NOTARY PUBLIC
(SEAL)

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
REQUEST FOR TOWN COUNCIL ACTION
TO:

The Honorable Mayor and Town Council

FROM:

Ryan Eggleston, City Manager

NEW BUSINESS:

DATE: February 9, 2021

CONSIDER APPROVAL OF REQUEST TO WAIVE TAX PENALTIES

Background Information Attached: Yes X
No
________________________________________________________________________

Council is asked to consider approval of request from Boardwalk Screen Printing &
Embroidery (Boardwalk) to waive the property tax penalties for the tax years 2015 – 2020 as
presented at the Workshop meeting. The request asks that the Council waive late fees in the amount of
$37.65.
The additional tax and penalty resulted from a Carteret County tax audit that revealed a piece
of equipment had not been listed or taxed for the years stated above.

ACTION TO CONSIDER: Approve request from Boardwalk Screen Printing & Embroidery to
waive tax penalties in the amount of $37.65.

§ 105-312. Discovered property; appraisal; penalty.
(a)
Repealed by Session Laws 1991, c. 34, s. 4.
(b)
Duty to Discover and Assess Unlisted Property. - It shall be the duty of the
assessor to see that all property not properly listed during the regular listing period be listed,
assessed and taxed as provided in this Subchapter. The assessor shall file reports of such
discoveries with the board of commissioners in such manner as the board may require.
(c)
Carrying Forward Real Property. - At the close of the regular listing period each
year, the assessor shall compare the tax lists submitted during the listing period just ended
with the lists for the preceding year, and he shall carry forward to the lists of the current year
all real property that was listed in the preceding year but that was not listed for the current
year. When carried forward, the real property shall be listed in the name of the taxpayer who
listed it in the preceding year unless, under the provisions of G.S. 105-302, it must be listed
in the name of another taxpayer. Real property carried forward in this manner shall be
deemed to be discovered property, and the procedures prescribed in subsection (d), below,
shall be followed unless the property discovered is listed in the name of the taxpayer who
listed it for the preceding year and the property is not subject to appraisal under either G.S.
105-286 or G.S. 105-287 in which case no notice of the listing and valuation need be sent to
the taxpayer.
(d)
Procedure for Listing, Appraising, and Assessing Discovered Property. - Subject
to the provisions of subsection (c), above, and the presumptions established by subsection
(f), below, discovered property shall be listed by the assessor in the name of the person
required by G.S. 105-302 or G.S. 105-306. The discovery shall be deemed to be made on the
date that the abstract is made or corrected pursuant to subsection (e) of this section. The
assessor shall also make a tentative appraisal of the discovered property in accordance with
the best information available to him.
When a discovery is made, the assessor shall mail a notice to the person in whose name
the discovered property has been listed. The notice shall contain the following information:
(1)
The name and address of the person in whose name the property is listed;
(2)
A brief description of the property;
(3)
A tentative appraisal of the property;
(4)
A statement to the effect that the listing and appraisal will become final
unless written exception thereto is filed with the assessor within 30 days
from date of the notice.
Upon receipt of a timely exception to the notice of discovery, the assessor shall arrange a
conference with the taxpayer to afford him the opportunity to present any evidence or
argument he may have regarding the discovery. Within 15 days after the conference, the
assessor shall give written notice to the taxpayer of his final decision. Written notice shall
not be required, however, if the taxpayer signs an agreement accepting the listing and
appraisal. In cases in which agreement is not reached, the taxpayer shall have 15 days from
the date of the notice to request review of the decision of the assessor by the board of
equalization and review or, if that board is not in session, by the board of commissioners.
Unless the request for review by the county board is given at the conference, it shall be made
in writing to the assessor. Upon receipt of a timely request for review, the provisions of G.S.
105-322 or G.S. 105-325, as appropriate, shall be followed.
(e)
Record of Discovered Property. - When property is discovered, the taxpayer's
original abstract (if one was submitted) may be corrected or a new abstract may be prepared
to reflect the discovery. If a new abstract is prepared, it may be filed with the abstracts that
were submitted during the regular listing period, or it may be filed separately with abstracts
designated "Late Listings." Regardless of how filed, the listing shall have the same force and
effect as if it had been submitted during the regular listing period.
(f)
Presumptions. - When property is discovered and listed to a taxpayer in any year,
it shall be presumed that it should have been listed by the same taxpayer for the preceding

five years unless the taxpayer shall produce satisfactory evidence that the property was not in
existence, that it was actually listed for taxation, or that it was not his duty to list the property
during those years or some of them under the provisions of G.S. 105-302 and G.S. 105-306.
If it is shown that the property should have been listed by some other taxpayer during some
or all of the preceding years, the property shall be listed in the name of the appropriate
taxpayer for the proper years, but the discovery shall still be deemed to have been made as of
the date that the assessor first listed it.
(g)
Taxation of Discovered Property. - When property is discovered, it shall be taxed
for the year in which discovered and for any of the preceding five years during which it
escaped taxation in accordance with the assessed value it should have been assigned in each
of the years for which it is to be taxed and the rate of tax imposed in each such year. The
penalties prescribed by subsection (h) of this section shall be computed and imposed
regardless of the name in which the discovered property is listed. If the discovery is based
upon an understatement of value, quantity, or other measurement rather than an omission
from the tax list, the tax shall be computed on the additional valuation fixed upon the
property, and the penalties prescribed by subsection (h) of this section shall be computed on
the basis of the additional tax.
(h)
Computation of Penalties. - Having computed each year's taxes separately as
provided in subsection (g), above, there shall be added a penalty of ten percent (10%) of the
amount of the tax for the earliest year in which the property was not listed, plus an additional
ten percent (10%) of the same amount for each subsequent listing period that elapsed before
the property was discovered. This penalty shall be computed separately for each year in
which a failure to list occurred; and the year, the amount of the tax for that year, and the total
of penalties for failure to list in that year shall be shown separately on the tax records; but the
taxes and penalties for all years in which there was a failure to list shall be then totalled on a
single tax receipt.
(h1)
Repealed by Session Laws 1991, c. 624, s. 8.
(i)
Collection. - For purposes of tax collection and foreclosure, the total figure
obtained and recorded as provided in subsection (h) of this section shall be deemed to be a
tax for the fiscal year beginning on July 1 of the calendar year in which the property was
discovered. The schedule of discounts for prepayment and interest for late payment
applicable to taxes for the fiscal year referred to in the preceding sentence shall apply when
the total figure on the single tax receipt is paid. Notwithstanding the time limitations
contained in G.S. 105-381, any property owner who is required to pay taxes on discovered
property as herein provided shall be entitled to a refund of any taxes erroneously paid on the
same property to other taxing jurisdictions in North Carolina. Claim for refund shall be filed
in the county where such tax was erroneously paid as provided by G.S. 105-381.
(j)
Tax Receipts Charged to Collector. - Tax receipts prepared as required by
subsections (h) and (i) of this section for the taxes and penalties imposed upon discovered
property shall be delivered to the tax collector, and he shall be charged with their collection.
Such receipts shall have the same force and effect as if they had been delivered to the
collector at the time of the delivery of the regular tax receipts for the current year, and the
taxes charged in the receipts shall be a lien upon the property in accordance with the
provisions of G.S. 105-355.
(k)
Power to Compromise. - After a tax receipt computed and prepared as required
by subsections (g) and (h) of this section has been delivered and charged to the tax collector
as prescribed in subsection (j), above, the board of county commissioners, upon the petition
of the taxpayer, may compromise, settle, or adjust the county's claim for taxes arising
therefrom. The board of commissioners may, by resolution, delegate the authority granted by
this subsection to the board of equalization and review, including any board created by
resolution pursuant to G.S. 105-322(a) and any special board established by local act.

(l)
Municipal Corporations. - The provisions of this section shall apply to all cities,
towns, and other municipal corporations having the power to tax property. Such
governmental units shall designate an appropriate municipal officer to exercise the powers
and duties assigned by this section to the assessor, and the powers and duties assigned to the
board of county commissioners shall be exercised by the governing body of the unit. When
the assessor discovers property having a taxable situs in a municipal corporation, he shall
send a copy of the notice of discovery required by subsection (d) to the governing body of
the municipality together with such other information as may be necessary to enable the
municipality to proceed. The governing board of a municipality may, by resolution, delegate
the power to compromise, settle, or adjust tax claims granted by this subsection and by
subsection (k) of this section to the county board of equalization and review, including any
board created by resolution pursuant to G.S. 105-322(a) and any special board established by
local act. (1939, c. 310, s. 1109; 1971, c. 806, s. 1; 1973, c. 476, s. 193; c. 787; 1977, c. 864;
1981, c. 623, ss. 1, 2; 1987, c. 45, s. 1; c. 743, ss. 1, 2; 1989, c. 522; 1991, c. 34, s. 4; c. 624,
s. 8; 1991 (Reg. Sess., 1992), c. 961, s. 12; 1999-297, s. 2.)

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
REQUEST FOR TOWN COUNCIL ACTION
TO:

The Honorable Mayor and Town Council

FROM:

Ryan Eggleston, City Manager

NEW BUSINESS:

DATE: February 9, 2021

CONSIDER ISSUANCE OF LETTER OF SUPPORT FOR GRANT
APPLICATION TO NCDOT FOR NEW CROSSWALKS AND
PEDESTRIAN
CROSSING
PROJECTS
AT
35TH
AND
ARENDELL/BRIDGES STREETS IN PARTNERSHIP
WITH
CARTERET COMMUNITY COLLEGE AND CARTERET HEALTH
CARE

Background Information Attached: Yes X
No
________________________________________________________________________

City Manager Ryan Eggleston shall present a letter in support of grant application to be
submitted to North Carolina Department of Transportation (NCDOT) for new crosswalks and
pedestrian crossing projects at 35th and Arendell/Bridges Streets in partnership with Carteret
Community College and Carteret Health Care. The hope is that the NCDOT grant will fund $90,000
of the $180,000 projects with Carteret Community College, Carteret Health Care and the Town of
Morehead City contributing $30,000 each.
These projects will not only provide safe travel for students between the college and the
hospital but will also provide a seamless and safe connection between the City’s MATS Trail or the
north side of town with the planned shoreline trail to be established on the college campus located on
the south side of town.

ACTION TO CONSIDER: Approve issuance of letter in support of grant application submitted to
North Carolina Department of Transportation (NCDOT) for new crosswalks and pedestrian
crossing projects as presented and committing the City to provide a portion of the local match not
to exceed $30,000..

North Carolina Department of Transportation
Preliminary Estimate

PEDESTRIAN CROSSING
Route : US 70 (ARENDELL STREET) AT 35TH STREET
Date:
Contract Number:
Priced By:
Prepared By:
Requested By:
Line Item
0000100000-N
0000400000-N
0043000000-N
2591000000-E
2600000000-N
2605000000-N
4413000000-E
4457000000-N
6000000000-E
6036000000-E
6084000000-E
6117000000-N
6117500000-N
8748000000-E

County:

TOTAL COST
$
180,000.00

*7/6/2020
N/A
Rich Godley
Rich Godley
Steve Hamliton
Sec No.
800
801
226
SP
848
848
848
SP
SP
1605
1205
1631
1660
1675
SP
SP
SP
SP

Description
Mobilization
Construction Surveying
Grading
8" Concrete Sidewalk
4" Concrete Sidewalk
Retrofit Existing Curb Ramps
Concrete Curb Ramps
Work Zone Adavanced/General Warning Signing
Temporary Traffic Control
Temporary Silt Fence
Thermo Pavement Markings/ Line Removal
Matting for Erosion Control
Seeding and Mulching
Response to Erosion Control
Concrete Washout Structure
Select Material, Class**
Traffic Signal Revision

CARTERET

Quantity
1.00
1.00
1.00
50.00
15.00
1.00
3.00
144.00
1.00
100.00
1.00
100.00
0.25
3.00
1.00
50.00
1.00

Unit
LS
LS
LS
SY
SY
Each
Each
SF
LS
LF
LS
SY
Acres
Each
Each
TON
LS

Price
7,500.00
3,000.00
10,000.00
100.00
65.00
750.00
1,200.00
10.00
10,000.00
2.00
2,750.00
1.50
7,500.00
250.00
3,000.00
75.00
30,000.00
ITEMS
40%
RR ITEMS
TOTAL ITEMS
E&C15%
CONST COST
IDCA 3.95%
TOTAL
SAY

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Amount
7,500.00
3,000.00
10,000.00
5,000.00
975.00
750.00
3,600.00
1,440.00
10,000.00
200.00
2,750.00
150.00
1,875.00
750.00
3,000.00
3,750.00
30,000.00
84,740.00
33,896.00
118,636.00
17,795.40
136,431.40
5,389.04
141,820.44
145,000.00

$

35,000.00

TOTAL COST $

180,000.00

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

PE

contingency

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
REQUEST FOR TOWN COUNCIL ACTION
TO:

The Honorable Mayor and Town Council

FROM:

Ryan Eggleston, City Manager

NEW BUSINESS:

DATE: February 9, 2021

CONSIDER ADOPTION OF RESOLUTION 2021-R-06 AUTHORIZING
RIVERFRONT SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT TO CONDUCT
TWO (2) FIREWORK DISPLAYS BETWEEN THE DATES OF MAY
27, 2021 AND AUGUST 1, 2021

Background Information Attached: Yes X
No
________________________________________________________________________

Parks and Recreation Director Jerry Riggs will present Resolution 2021-R-06 in support of
Vice President Richard E. “Buddy” Bengel’s request to conduct two (2) firework displays at Big
Rock Stadium/O’Neal Field between the dates of May 27, 2021 and August 1, 2021. Mr. Bengel
believes that firework displays provide an elite experience for fans and will promote greater
participation.
City Attorney Derek Taylor has perfected the wording of the resolution to best protect the city.
As requested, insurance sufficiency assurances are attached.

ACTION TO CONSIDER: Adopt Resolution 2021-O-06, endorsing two (2) firework displays to
be hosted by Riverfront Sports and Entertainment between the dates of May 27, 2021 and August 1,
2021.

COUNCIL
Keri V. McCann, Mayor Pro Tem
George W. Ballou
David Horton
William F. Taylor
Diane C. Warrender

Gerald A. Jones, Jr., Mayor

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
RESOLUTION 2021-R-06
AUTHORIZING RIVERFRONT SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT GROUP, INC
TO CONDUCT TWO (2) FIREWORK DISPLAYS BETWEEN THE
DATES OF MAY 27, 2021 AND AUGUST 1, 2021
AT BIG ROCK STADIUM/O’NEAL FIELD
WHEREAS, Riverfront Sports and Entertainment Group, Inc. (“Riverfront”) holds a license
for use of Big Rock Stadium/O’Neal Field for the purpose of conducting baseball games and related
business of Morehead City Marlins Baseball; and
WHEREAS, Riverfront wishes to include two (2) fireworks displays during the 2021 baseball
season to draw more spectators to their events and to heighten their enjoyment of the same; and
WHEREAS, Riverfront requests authorization for Hale Artificier, Inc. to conduct two (2)
fireworks displays between the dates of May 27, 2021 and August 1, 2021 lasting approximately 15
minutes each; and
WHEREAS, the dates and times must be approved by and in the sole discretion of the
Morehead City Fire Marshall prior to the advertisement and performance of the events.
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Town Council of the Town of Morehead City,
North Carolina, in a regular session properly called and noticed, authorizes and requires the following:
1. The usage of Big Rock Stadium/O’Neal Field and certain Town designated areas of Rotary
Park for fireworks displays conducted exclusively by Hale Artificier, Inc., subject to
preapproval by the Morehead City Fire Marshall and the provisions of this Resolution.
2. Riverfront may conduct no more than two (2) such fireworks displays in calendar year 2021
which must occur between the dates of May 27, 2021 and August 1, 2021 and end no later than
10:00 PM on the date of such an event.
3. The two (2) fireworks displays must be consistent with the City’s Fireworks Operations Guide
and Riverfront must obtain an “Outdoor Fireworks Display Permit” pursuant to the guidance of
the Morehead City Fire Marshall.
4. Before, during and after each fireworks display event, Riverfront, in coordination with Hale
Artificier, Inc., shall be responsible for providing personnel, barriers, and all necessary safety
devices to manage the traffic (vehicular and pedestrian) and safety of all those in and around
Big Rock Stadium/O’Neal Field during the display and shall remove, cleanup and dispose of al
trash, debris, spent fireworks, and other materials associated with the fireworks event.

5. Riverfront shall retain its status as an authorized and registered North Carolina corporation in
good standing with the Department of Treasury and Secretary of State, and remain an
independent entity that is neither a part of or affiliated in any way with the Town of Morehead
City, and thereby remain solely responsible and liable for the planning, organizing,
implementing, and monitoring of these events.
6. Riverfront, in coordination with Hale Artificier, Inc., shall be solely responsible and liable for
seeing that such fireworks display activities are carried out in compliance with all federal, state,
and local laws and regulations, and in a manner that protects the property rights of all Town
citizens and ensuring the safety and well-being of all persons and property in and around Big
Rock Stadium/O’Neal Field and Rotary Park during the displays.
7. Riverfront shall indemnify, reimburse, keep and hold harmless the Town from any and all
liability of any kind, including but not limited to, harm or injury [including death] and/or
damage to persons, firms, corporations, and property arising out of fireworks displays caused
by, associated with, or instigated for the benefit of Riverfront, and for Riverfront’s associated
use of Big Rock/O’Neal Field, Rotary Park, Town’s streets, sidewalks, parks, parking areas,
buildings, facilities, and any other property, buildings and facilities owned, licensed, leased or
under the control of the Town and also, for any harm, claim or damage which may result
directly or indirectly from the Riverfront’s failure to carry out any its responsibilities which are
a part of this Resolution, except the Town shall remain liable for any actions due to the direct
negligence of the Town or its employees or due to the intentional wrongdoing of the Town or
its employees. In the event any suit or proceeding is brought against the Town at law or in
equity, either independently or jointly with Riverfront, or either of them, on account of any use
or occupation of Big/Rock Stadium/O’Neal Field or the Town streets, sidewalks, parks,
parking areas, buildings, and any other property, buildings and facilities owned, leased, or
otherwise controlled by the Town, Riverfront will defend the Town with total cost accruing to
Riverfront including all of Town’s and Riverfront’s attorney fees. The Town may select
Counsel of its own choosing to consult with Riverfront’s attorney and/or participate in the
defense of such suit or proceeding and costs of such counsel shall be reimbursed by Riverfront.
In the event of final judgment or decree being obtained against the Town, either independently
or jointly with Riverfront, or either of them, Riverfront, to the extent provided herein, shall pay
such judgment and all costs or comply with such decree and pay all costs and expense of
whatsoever nature, including interest and fines, and hold the Town completely harmless
therefrom. The indemnification and hold harmless obligations of Riverfront will not be limited
in any way by limits of insurance coverage.
8. Riverfront shall, either independently or in conjunction with Hale Artificier, Inc., secure
and keep in effect liability insurance effective for coverage of all liabilities related in any
way to fireworks displays caused by, associated with, or instigated for the benefit of
Riverfront, with limits of coverage no less than $5,000,000 per occurrence. The City shall
be named as an additional insured on all such policies.
9. Riverfront shall be liable and otherwise responsible for any harm or injury [including death]
and/or damage to Town employees, officers, agents and property arising out of any fireworks
displays caused by, associated with, or instigated for the benefit of Riverfront.

10. At least thirty days prior to any Riverfront associated fireworks display, Riverfront will
provide written notification of the date and approximate time of such an event to all
property owners living within 500 feet of Big Rock/O’Neal Field.
ADOPTED this the 9th day of February 2021.

Town of Morehead City
Attest:

__________________________
Cathy Campbell, City Clerk

__________________________
Gerald A. Jones, Jr., Mayor

Morehead City Marlins Baseball
Fireworks Site Map
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January 5, 2021
Town of Morehead City
Mayor Jerry Jones C/O Town Manager Ryan Eggelston
706 Arendell Street
Morehead City, NC 28557
Dear Ryan,
Happy New Year to you and everyone at the Town!
In preparation for the return of baseball to Big Rock Stadium in 2021, the Marlins are working hard to provide fans with
an elite experience. Part of that experience is the entertainment that our organization provides each night the Marlins
take the field. In 2018, when we were working with the former interim Town manager the new lease agreement
removed the clause that prohibited us from hosting fireworks displays.
On behalf of the Marlins organization, I would like to request a resolution from the Town of Morehead City to approve
(2) two fireworks shows in 2021 between May 27th and August 1st. By doing this larger of a time frame, it would enable
us to have dates available for a potential rescheduled show in case of inclement weather. The Marlins have started the
process by speaking with the Town’s Fire Marshall Dykeman Bailey as well as Jeff Hale of Hale Pyrotechnics. To my
knowledge, Mr. Hale is who the Town uses for their fireworks displays.
It is my firm belief that working with the Fire Marshall and Mr. Hale we can look at all options to ensure a fun and safe
show. I look forward to having further discussions with you and the Counsel about this resolution.

We look forward to continuing our partnership with the Town.
Sincerely,

Buddy Bengel
President, Riverfront Sports and Entertainment
Morehead City Marlins

MOREHEAD CITY MARLINS
1205 PUCK O’NEAL LANE MOREHEAD CITY, NC 28557
WWW.MHCMARLINS.COM (252) 269.9767
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TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
REQUEST FOR TOWN COUNCIL ACTION
TO:

The Honorable Mayor and Town Council

FROM:

Ryan Eggleston, City Manager

NEW BUSINESS:

DATE: February 9, 2021

CONSIDER ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE 2021-O-07 AMENDING
SECTION 4 ANIMALS OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES TO
PROVIDE FOR THE IMPLEMENTATION OF TNR PROGRAMS

Background Information Attached: Yes X
No
________________________________________________________________________

Council is asked to consider adoption of Ordinance 2021-O-07, amending Section 4 Animal of
the Code of Ordinances to provide for the implementation of Trap, Spay/Neuter, Return Programs
(TNR). These provisions are necessary to formalize existing procedures and support local
organizations such as the “City Kitty’s” and other similar volunteers that are assisting the City in
managing the feral cat population.

ACTION TO CONSIDER: Adopt Ordinance 2021-O-07, amending Section 4 Animal of the Code
of Ordinances to provide support of Trap, Spay/Neuter, Return Programs (TNR).

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY
ORDINANCE NO. 2021-O-07
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY,
NC, AMENDING SECTION 4 ANIMALS OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES TO
PROVIDE FOR THE IMPLEMENTATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF TRAP,
SPAY/NEUTER, RETURN PROGRAMS (TNR).
WHEREAS, the City recognizes that there is a growing feral cat population within the city
limits and that the growing population is creating a problem for the residents of Morehead City;
and
WHEREAS, the Carteret County Human Society does not have sufficient staff or facilities
to address the problem; and
WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Morehead City has approved the
development and partnership with local volunteer groups to implement Trap, Spay/Neuter, Return
Programs to manage the growing feral cat population within the city.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Town Council of the Town of
Morehead City that Chapter 4 Animals of the Code of Ordinances be amended as follows:
1. AMEND Section 4-5(c) Duties (1) Seeing that all dogs and cats in the city are duly
licensed; Feral cats maintained by a caretaker as part of a TNR Program are exempt
from licensing;
2. ADD to Section 4-31 Definitions a definition for:
Caretaker means any individuals, groups or organizations that operate or volunteer
for TNR Programs; and
TNR Programs are programs that Trap, Spay/Neuter, and Return feral cats back into
the population they were taken from to control growth; and
AMEND the definition of Owner as:
Owner means any person who shall harbor any dog or cat or permit any dog or cat to remain
on any premises within the city under his charge or control. “Owner” does not include a
feral cat caretaker participating in a TNR Program.
3. AMEND Section 4-35 Running At Large as:

It shall be unlawful to permit any dog or cat to be at large in the city. All dogs or cats
found at large contrary to the provisions of this section shall be impounded as provided in
this article. All persons who, owning, keeping, or having charge, possession or control of
any dog or cat suffers, permits, or allows any such dog or cat to be at large contrary to the
provisions of this section shall be deemed guilty of a violation of this Code. Feral cats
that are part of a TNR Program are not considered at large. A dog or cat shall be at
large if:
4. ADD Section 4-41. – Trap, Spay/Neuter, Return (TNR) Programs.
TNR Programs are implemented to help manage feral cat populations. Individuals,
groups, or organizations, known as caretakers, that operate or volunteer for TNR
Programs must be registered with the Chief of Police or Animal Control Officer.
Paperwork on cats returned from TNR programs must be maintained by the
registered caretakers. All TNR cats must be inoculated for rabies as required by state
law.
5. That this ordinance shall become effective immediately upon its adoption.
DULY ADOPTED on this the 9th day of February 2021,

TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY

___________________________
Gerald A. Jones, Jr., Mayor
ATTEST:

______________________
Cathy Campbell, City Clerk

February 8, 2021
Ryan Eggleston, City Manager
Town of Morehead City, NC
706 Arendell Dr.
Morehead City, NC 28557

RE: AGREEMENT FOR THE PURCHASE AND SALE OF IMPROVED REAL PROPERTY
(the “AGREEMENT”) BETWEEN AJK ACQUISITIONS, LLC (“BUYER”) AND TOWN OF
MOREHEAD CITY (“SELLER”) FOR THE SALE OF 706 ARENDELL STREET MOREHEAD
CITY, NC (the “PROPERTY”) EFFECTIVE OCTOBER 5, 2020, AS AMENDED

Dear Ryan,
Pursuant to the agreement the Examination Period expired on December 4, 2020 and by an amendment
was extended until January 15,2021 and further extended by a second amendment until February 15,
2021. Buyer has been diligently conducting its examination of the due diligence materials provided by
seller, third party reports of work conducted on Buyer’s behalf and the title policy. Unfortunately, there
remains a number of open questions that Buyer is seeking clarity that will not be answered by February
15, 2021 due to continued travel related restrictions as a result of COVID-19.
Buyer request that the expiration date for the Examination Period be extended to March 19, 2021 to allow
for the completion of Buyer’s Examination. We selected this date based on a number of factors including
(1) increased restrictions due to COVID-19 preventing travel of buyers representatives from Michigan;
and (2) our continued desire to conduct follow-up examinations to better quantify the costs associated
with our remodel of the Property, after Seller’s tenancy.
If this date is acceptable, please execute the attached amendment to the Agreement prior to February 15,
2021. We are hopeful that this additional extension will be sufficient to allow us to finalize our review.
If you have any questions please feel free to contact me at 248-330-9070 or
pmgerhardt@hwkaufman.com
Appreciate your consideration.

P. Michael Gerhardt
Director of Real Estate Assets

THIRD AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR PURCHASE AND SALE OF
IMPROVED REAL PROPERTY
THIS THIRD AMENDMENT TO THE AGREEMENT FOR PURCHASE AND SALE
OF IMPROVED REAL PROPERTY (the "Amendment") is made effective as of February 15, 2021,
by and between AJK ACQUISITIONS, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company ("Buyer"), and
TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY, a North Carolina Municipal Corporation ("Seller").
A.
Buyer and Seller are parties to that certain Agreement for Purchase and Sale of
Improved Property dated effective as of October 5, 2020, as amended by that certain First
Amendment to Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Improved Property dated effective as of
December 8, 2020 and by that certain Second Amendment to Agreement for Purchase and Sale of
Improved Property dated effective as of January 15, 2021 (combined, the "Purchase
Agreement"), pursuant to which Buyer has agreed to purchase certain property from Seller on the
terms and conditions more particularly described in the Purchase Agreement. Capitalized terms
used but not defined in this Amendment shall have the meanings giving them in the Purchase
Agreement.
B.
Buyer and Seller now desire to amend the Purchase Agreement as set forth in this
Amendment.
Amendment
In consideration of the mutual promises and agreements set forth below, and for other good
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the
parties hereby agree as follows:
1.
Examination Period. As previously agreed upon by the Buyer and Seller, the
expiration date of the Examination Period is extended from February 15, 2021 to March 19, 2021.
2.
Counterparts; Signatures. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts. All
executed counterparts shall constitute one agreement, and each counterpart shall be deemed an
original. The parties hereby acknowledge and agree that facsimile signatures or signatures
transmitted by electronic mail in so- called "pdf'' format shall be legal and binding and shall have
the same full force and effect as if an original of this Amendment had been delivered. Seller and
Buyer (a) intend to be bound by the signatures on any document sent by facsimile or electronic
mail, (b) are aware that the other party will rely on such signatures, and (c) hereby waive any
defenses to the enforcement of the terms of this Assignment based on the foregoing forms of
signature.
[remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Buyer and Seller have duly executed this Amendment as of the
Amendment Date.
BUYER:
AJK ACQUISITIONS, LLC,
a Michigan limited liability company
By:
Alan J. Kaufman, Manager

SELLER:
TOWN OF MOREHEAD CITY,
a North Carolina Municipal Corporation
By:

Gerald A. Jones, Jr., Mayor
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